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Directors’ Statement
EEETYFH

Dear Shareholders,

| hereby present you with the 2023 Annual Report of Allegro Culture
Limited (formerly known as Kingkey Intelligence Culture Holdings
Limited (the “Company”)) and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (“FY2023").

REVIEW

In 2023, the Group’s overall revenue declined by approximately
32.9% to HK$36.3 million, primarily due to significant reductions
in sales of medical and health products and e-commerce segment.
Revenue from the core advertising services, delivered mainly through
Recruit Magazine, experienced a slight decrease of about 2.0%.

During the year, the Group faced internal challenges related to the
transition between the former and current management, which
affected certain business segments. Despite these internal issues,
the Group maintained focus on stabilizing operations and restoring
normal business functions.

The Group recorded a loss before income tax of approximately
HK$36.2 million for 2023, representing a significant increase of over
300% compared to the loss before income tax of approximately
HK$8.7 million in 2022.

On the macroeconomic front, Hong Kong lifted counter-epidemic
measures and resumed normal travel arrangements with Mainland
China in 2023, marking a positive phase of post-pandemic recovery.
Hong Kong’s GDP grew by 3.2% for the year, reflecting renewed
momentum across key sectors. However, global economic volatility
persisted due to inflationary pressures, geopolitical tensions in regions
such as Gaza and Israel, and the ongoing conflict in Ukraine, which
continued to weigh on the broader economic outlook.

In summary, the Group encountered a difficult year, impacted by
both external economic factors and internal transitional challenges.
Nevertheless, the Group remains committed to its corporate mission
of focusing on its core advertising business and has taken significant
steps to strengthen internal controls and governance to support
sustainable growth going forward.
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PROSPECT

Looking ahead, the Group remains committed to strengthening its
core advertising business while selectively pursuing strategic growth
opportunities in Hong Kong and Mainland China. The post-pandemic
economic recovery in Hong Kong, coupled with improving labor
market conditions, is expected to boost the demand for recruitment
advertising services. Building on its strong track record of organizing
job fairs and promotional events in Hong Kong, the Group plans
to expand its business in provision of promotional services into
Mainland China. The establishment of an in-house production team
in Mainland China is aimed at enhancing cost efficiency and quality
through vertical integration of event-related production. Additionally,
the newly recruited project management personnel with extensive
experience is expected to reinforces the Group’s capability to execute
large-scale projects and events in the region.

The Group has further broadened its presence in Mainland China by
leveraging popular digital platforms like Douyin via partnerships with
authorized agents, complemented by its design expertise to deliver
comprehensive advertising solutions. The Group’s flagship publication,
Recruit Magazine, being a prominent physical publication focused
on the employment sector, alongside Like Magazine, a lifestyle and
leisure-focused online platform, provide a diversified multi-channel
presence across print, web, app, and social media — including
Facebook, Instagram, and Rednote. These platforms serve as effective
complementary channels for advertisers targeting digitally savvy
audiences. Continued investment in content creation and platform
optimization will be essential to driving traffic growth and enhancing
profitability of the Group.

While acknowledging past disruptions in non-core segments, the
Group is now entering into a promising phase of transformation and
growth centred on its core advertising business. Under the dedicated
leadership of current management of the Group, significant progress
has been made toward restoring normal operations and resuming
trading on the Stock Exchange. Supported by a solid financial
foundation, experienced team, and diversified business model, the
Group is confident in delivering sustainable value and enhanced
returns to its shareholders.
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Directors’ Statement
EESYEH

Finally, the Board is sincerely thankful to all stakeholders, our diligent
employees for their efforts, supportive shareholders for their trust,
and loyal readers and users for their affirmation and backing. While
we constantly strive for a better future, we also wish you all the best
of luck.

Yiu Sze Wai
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 6 August 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

Looking back at 2023, Hong Kong began the year by lifting its
counter-epidemic measures and resuming normal travel arrangements
with Mainland China. This marked a turning point in the city’s post-
pandemic recovery, contributing to a notable economic revitalization.
Hong Kong's GDP recorded a 3.2% growth for the year, reflecting
renewed momentum across key sectors. However, global economic
conditions remained volatile due to persistent core inflation, spikes in
commodity prices stemming from geopolitical tensions in Gaza and
Israel, and the ongoing war in Ukraine. These uncertainties continued
to weigh on the economic outlook for both Mainland China and
Hong Kong.

Advertising business

In 2023, the employment market was positively influenced by the
broader economic recovery. The relaxation of COVID-19 related
restrictions stimulated business sentiment, leading to increased
employment activity. According to the data from the Hong Kong
Census and Statistics Department, the unemployment rate improved
from 3.1% in Q1 to 2.9% in Q4, while the underemployment rate
declined from 1.2% to 1.0% over the same period.

In response to these trends, the Group intensified its efforts to
promote recruitment advertising and organized various job fairs,
which received encouraging market responses. Physical copies of
Recruit Magazine that operated by the Company were strategically
distributed at high-traffic locations including MTR stations and
commercial zones, NGOs, Labor Department employment centers,
universities, and colleges. Simultaneously, the electronic version
remained accessible online, ensuring broad reach and convenience for
job seekers.

Medical and Health Products

The Group commenced the medical and health products segment
in 2020, initially focusing on the distribution of COVID-19 testing
kits. However, following the WHO's announcement in May 2023
that COVID-19 was no longer considered a global public health
emergency, demand for testing kits declined significantly.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWmED N

Moreover, as disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 21
February 2024 and 23 February 2024, the former executive director
of the Company failed or refused to cooperate in handing over full
documentation regarding KK Wecheck Medical Technology Limited
("KK Wecheck”), being the key operating subsidiary in this segment,
after his departure in September 2023. The Company believes that
effective control over this key subsidiary was lost and therefore the
financial results of KK Wecheck had been deconsolidated from the
financial results of the Group since July 2023. Since then, the Group
has ceased further development in this business segment.

E-commerce

The Group also engaged in the e-commerce business, mainly import
and resale of household and personal care products, primarily
sourced from Japan and sold in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
However, the development of this segment was hindered by the
former director’s failure to properly hand over operational documents.
Although the Company has since recovered some accounting and
operational records dated prior to September 2023, substantial
management effort was required to review historical operations and
recover outstanding investments. As a result, the Group slowed the
expansion of the e-commerce business and has focused on recovering
proceeds from existing assets, including inventory and investments in
projects related to concerts.

Intellectual Property (“IP”) Development and Design
Services

The Group has been exploring opportunities in the IP development
and design services industry since December 2022. However, this
segment generated only minimal revenue for the Group during 2023,
and remained in an early-stage development phase. Similar to the
medical and health products segment and the e-commerce segment,
the development of this segment was also hindered by the former
director’s failure to properly hand over operational documents. Since
then, the Group has also ceased further development in this business
segment.

Despite the challenges encountered in 2023, particularly the business
disruptions in connection with the delivery of documents involving a
former executive director, the Group remains determined to restoring,
and has restored, the normal operations. Our core advertising
business has remained largely unaffected by these disruptions and
continues to serve as the cornerstone of the Group’s operations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group will continue to strengthen its core advertising business
while actively exploring new business opportunities that align with our
strategic vision. We remain dedicated to creating long-term value for
our shareholders and ensuring the sustainable growth of the Group.

PROSPECT

Looking ahead, the Group remains committed to strengthening its
core competencies while actively pursuing opportunities for strategic
expansion across Hong Kong and Mainland China. The business
environment in Hong Kong has shown signs of gradual recovery post-
pandemic, yet remains susceptible to global economic uncertainties.
Nonetheless, the Group is well-positioned to capture growth in
both recruitment advertising and promotional services, supported
by its well-established brand, diversified platforms, and consistent
operational execution.

The Group's flagship publication, Recruit Magazine, continues
to serve as a trusted and effective platform for recruitment and
commercial advertising in Hong Kong. With the ease of pandemic-
related disruptions and positive labor market indicators, the demand
for recruitment services is expected to improve alongside economic
recovery. The Group’s multi-platform approach — spanning print, web,
app, and social media channels such as Facebook, Instagram, and
Rednote (/NI Z) — enables it to reach a broad and diverse audience,
thus maintaining relevance in a fast-evolving media landscape.

To further expand its market reach, the Group is actively exploring
advertising opportunities in Mainland China, where digital platforms
such as Douyin offer significant potential. By partnering with
authorized agents and leveraging its in-house design expertise, the
Group aims to provide end-to-end advertising solutions to clients

interested in penetrating the PRC market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWmED N

In the first quarter of 2024, our wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen
Allegro Culture Limited (“SZ Allegro”) entered into a business
promotion cooperation agreement with Shenzhen Kingkey Real
Estate Holdings Limited (“SZ Kingkey”) to provide advertising and
promotional services for real estate projects until the end of year. This
move marks the first step to expand our advertising business beyond
Hong Kong. Leveraging our expertise, experience and network in
the advertising business, we have experimented the extension of our
services in the PRC with positive results. We are considering to further
develop such business in the PRC to broaden our income sources.
SZ Kingkey is considered as a connected person under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules, and the transactions contemplated under the
Framework Agreement are considered as continuing connected
transactions of the Company. As all the applicable percentage ratios
of the annual cap of the Framework Agreement are less than HK$3
million and less than 5%, the transactions contemplated under the
Framework Agreement are considered to be a de minimis transactions
pursuant to Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules and is exempted from
annual review, all disclosure and shareholders’ requirements.

In late 2024, we have further expanded advertising services in the PRC
through SZ Allegro to our customers via social media platforms in the
PRC, such as Douyin. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, all the
counter parties are third parties independent of us and our connected
person. We will continue to explore business opportunities in the
advertising and promotional markets in the PRC.

In April 2025, we have entered into a promotion cooperation
framework agreement with Kingkey Group, pursuant to which we
shall provide a wide range of advertising and promotional services
to Kingkey Group for a period of three years. Since Kingkey Group
is a connected person of the Company, the transactions constitute
continuing connected transaction and subject to reporting,
announcement, circular, annual review and the independent
shareholders’ approval under the Listing Rules. The annual caps
ranged from RMB10.5 million to RMB16.0 million. For further details
of the transaction, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 15 April 2025 and the circular of the Company dated 11 July
2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

On the other hand, Like Magazine, the Group's lifestyle and leisure-
focused online publication, has steadily built a loyal audience base
since its full digitalization in 2020. With approximately 160,000
Facebook followers and a growing presence on Instagram and
Rednote, the platform has demonstrated strong potential as a
horizontal expansion of the Group’s advertising business. Positioned as
a one-stop portal for food, travel, health, beauty, and lifestyle deals,
Like Magazine plays a key role in attracting advertising clients seeking
to engage with a digitally savvy audience. The Group will continue to
invest in content creation and platform optimization to drive traffic
and enhance profitability.

Building on its successful track record in organizing job fairs and
exhibitions in Hong Kong, the Group is actively expanding its
promotional services and event management operations into
Mainland China. As cross-border consumer behavior continues to
evolve with the development of the Greater Bay Area, demand for
high-quality promotional campaigns in PRC shopping malls is on the
rise.

To support this expansion, the Group has established its own
workshop in the PRC, which will handle the production of event-
related props and decorations. This vertical integration will
significantly reduce reliance on third-party suppliers, enhance cost
efficiency, and improve quality control. Additionally, the Group has
onboarded experienced project management personnel with deep
expertise in large-scale event execution in Mainland China, further
strengthening its operational capabilities.

Despite certain disruptions on business segments other than the
core advertising business of the Group that were mainly caused by
the failure to deliver document records involving a former executive
director, the Group is entering a promising period of transformation
and growth in its core advertising segment. By reinforcing its core
advertising business, leveraging digital and social media platforms,
and expanding its footprint in the PRC through promotional
campaigns and event services, the Group is laying the foundation for
sustainable value creation. Supported by a solid financial position,
experienced team, and diversified business model, the Group is
confident in achieving long-term success and delivering enhanced
returns to its shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWmED N

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in (i) provision of advertising
services, (i) sales of medical and health products, (iii) e-commerce
(mainly in sales of household and personal care products), and (iv) IP
development design service income.

The revenue of the Group decreased by approximately 32.9% from
approximately HK$54.2 million in 2022 to approximately HK$36.3
million in 2023. The decrease in revenue was mainly attributable to
the decrease in sales of medical and health products and the decrease
in revenue from e-commerce, mainly from the sales of household and
personal care products.

Provision of advertising services

The Group engaged in provision of advertising services, mainly
through operating the Recruit Magazine. The revenue of provision
of advertising services was approximately HK$32.5 million for 2023,
representing a slightly decrease of approximately 2.0% compared to
that of 2022.

Sales of medical and health products

The Group engaged in sales of medical and health products, mainly
through operating its 51% owned subsidiary, namely KK Wecheck.
However, as announced by the Company on 21 February 2024 and
23 February 2024, the former executive director failed and/or refused
to provide assistance to deliver full document records regarding KK
Wecheck after his departure since September 2023. The Company
believes it has lost its control on such subsidiary and therefore
its financial results have been de-consolidated since July 2023.
Further, the World Health Organization declared in May 2023 that
the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) epidemic would no longer
be listed as a public health emergency has led to a significant drop
of the overall demand on our medical and health products, mainly
the testing kits. In light of the above, the revenue from this segment
decreased by 97.2% from approximately HK$13.5 million in year
2022 to approximately HK$373,000 in year 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

E-commerce

The Group engaged in e-commerce, mainly in sales of household
and personal care products, mainly through operating one of
its subsidiaries, namely Kingkey E-Commerce Limited (“KKEC").
However, as announced by the Company on 21 February 2024 and
23 February 2024, the former executive director failed and/or refused
to provide assistance to deliver full document records, having said
that the Company managed to retrieve document records (including
accounting records) of KKEC prior to September 2023. However,
extensive management efforts were spent by the Company to
review the pre-existing operation and recover certain investments
in this segment, such that the Company slowed down its pace on
the development of new business in this segment and focused in
recovering proceeds from various items of this segment, such as
stock inventory and investments in concerts. In light of the above,
the revenue from this segment decreased by approximately 61.5%
from approximately HK$7.5 million in 2022 to approximately HK$2.9
million in 2023.

IP development design service income

The Group engaged in IP development design business mainly
through Hopeful Top Limited (“Hopeful Top”) since December 2022.
The Group recorded revenue form this segment of approximately
HK$576,000, compared to nil in 2022.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit of the Group decreased by approximately 34.5%
from approximately HK$31.1 million in 2022 to approximately
HK$20.3 million in 2023. The decrease in gross profit is mainly
attributable to the decrease in revenue, mainly from the segments of
sale of medical and health products and the e-commerce in sales of
household and personal care products.

The gross profit margin of the Group remained at similar level of
approximately 56.0% in 2023 compared to that of approximately
57.4% in 2022.

Other income

The other income of the Group decreased by approximately 11.9%
from approximately HK$2.2 million in 2022 to approximately HK$1.9
million in 2023. The decrease in other income is mainly attributable to
the decrease in interest income, mainly driven by the decrease in cash
and bank balances.
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Selling and distribution costs

The selling and distribution costs of the Group increased by
approximately 2.5% from approximately HK$10.3 million in 2022 to
approximately HK$10.6 million in 2023, mainly reflecting the inflated
cost on selling and distribution activities related to the Group’s
advertising business.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group increased by approximately
15.4% from approximately HK$30.2 million in 2022 to approximately
HK$34.8 million in 2023. The increase in administrative expenses
is mainly attributable to the increase in legal and professional fees,
along with the increase in staff cost.

Impairment on trade and other receivables and loan
receivables, net of reversal

The impairment on trade and other receivable and loan receivables,
net of reversal of the Group increased from approximately HK$30,000
in 2022 to approximately HK$6.2 million in 2023. The impairment in
2023 mainly represent the impairment on loan receivable made by
the Company to another listed company in Hong Kong, and the trade
receivable recorded from the e-commerce in sales of household and
personal care products made in 2023.

Loss on deconsolidation of a subsidiary

The Group recorded a loss on deconsolidation of a subsidiary of
approximately HK$3.8 million, mainly represent the loss from
de-consolidating a 51% owned subsidiary, KK Wecheck, since July
2023 due to the loss of control of this subsidiary by the Company.

Unrealised loss on revaluation of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss

The Group recorded an unrealised loss on revaluation of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
HK$527,000 in 2023, mainly represented by the fair value change in
the investment in funds and club membership with debenture.
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Finance cost

The finance cost of the Group decreased by approximately 87.6%
from approximately HK$540,000 in 2022 to approximately
HK$67,000 in 2023. The decrease is mainly due to the fully repayment
of other borrowing made in 2022.

Share result of an associate

The Group recorded a share result of an associate of approximately
HK$2.1 million loss in 2023, mainly representing the loss in relation to
the investment in an associate made in 2023, namely, Aurora Medical
Technology (HK) Corp. Limited (“Aurora”).

Loss before income tax

In light of the above, the Group recorded a loss before income tax of
approximately HK$36.2 million in 2023, representing an increase of
approximately 317.9%, compared to the loss before income tax of
approximately HK$8.7 million in 2022.

FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE

The above financial data were chosen to present in this annual
report as they represent a material financial impact on the financial
statements of the Group for the current and/or the previous financial
year, that a change of which could affect the revenue and profit
conspicuously. It is believed that by presenting the changes of these
financial data can effectively explain the financial performance of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net current assets of
approximately HK$30.7 million (2022: HK$72.1 million). The Group's
current ratio as at 31 December 2023, which is defined as current
assets over current liabilities, was 4.5 (2022: 6.6). As at 31 December
2023, the Group had a total cash and bank balance of approximately
HK$30.0 million (2022: HK$69.9 million).

The Group has no bank loan nor other borrowing as at 31 December
2023 (2022: nil). The gearing ratio of the Group was 0% (2022: 0%).
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The Group adopts centralised financing and treasury policies in order
to ensure the Group’s funding is utilised efficiently. Conservative
approach is adopted on monitoring foreign exchange exposure and
interest rate risk. Forward contracts were used to hedge the foreign
currency exposure in trading and capital expenditure when it was
considered appropriate.

The Group does not have material exposure to currency risk as most
of the Group’s transactions are carried out in HK$, which is the
functional currency of the Company. The Group reviews its foreign
currency exposures on a regular basis and does not consider its
foreign currency risk to be significant.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2023, the total issued shares of the Company
(“Shares"”) was 455,534,000 (2022: 446,614,000 Shares) at HK$0.2
each.

Share Options

On 22 January 2021, a total of 22,300,000 share options of the
Company were granted to certain of eligible persons (as defined
in the rules of the share option scheme approved and adopted by
the Company pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company on 29 December 2015) at an exercise
price of HK$0.38 per share. During the year, 8,920,000 share options
were exercised, 13,380,000 share options were lapsed and no share
options were granted or cancelled. As at 31 December 2023, no
share options were outstanding. For details, please refer to the section
headed “Share Options” in “Directors’ Report”.

Fund Raising Activity

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 28
August 2018, a placing of new shares under general mandate was
completed. The gross and net proceeds raised from the placing of
a total of 74,000,000 Shares were approximately HK$103.6 million
and HK$103.0 million (the “Net Proceeds”) respectively where the
intended use of proceeds was for general working capital and future
business and investment opportunities.

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 7 January 2022,
the unutilised Net Proceeds amounted to approximately HK$82 million
(the “Unutilised Net Proceeds”). The Board, having considered the
then business environment and development of the Group, resolved
to change the use of the Unutilised Net Proceeds.
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Set out below is the table summarising (i) the allocation of net
proceeds, (i) the net proceeds utilised, and (iii) the net proceeds
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unutilised, before and since 7 January 2022 and up to 31 December REZ-ZF-_=F+-A=+—HIKKRBEBHME
2023: TRIRFEE
Before 7 January 2022 Since 7 January 2022 and up to
(in HKS million) 31 December 2023 (in HK$ miIIion)
RZZB-—f-B+tAA B-E--F-BtARREZ-ZE-=F
(REE#R:t) TZA=t- E(Mﬁﬁr’éfni‘f)
Revised
Net Net allocation of Net Net
Original proceeds proceeds unutilised net proceeds proceeds
Intended use of proceeds FEFERTRAE allocation utilised unutilised proceeds utilised unutilised
KBRS
BBAMSE ABAKE JETEN  BBRARE  RBAKS
NaAE REEE REEE BB HERE RERE
i. For general working capital inthe 1. BEASEAREEN—K 10 10 Fully utilised 3 33 Fully utiised
daily operation of the Group LEES gor- e THER
ii. For any potential investment ii. AR A SRR EE 93 11 82 49 49 Fully utiised
opportunities as identified by the TRERE o el
Group
Total Bt 103 21 82 82 82 Fully utilsed
Fot CfE

As at 31 December 2023, the net proceeds had been fully utilised by
the Group according to its intended use.

Save as disclosed above, there was no fund raising activity taken place
during FY2023.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitments (2022: nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no contingent liabilities
(2022: nil).

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend any payment of final dividend in
respect of the reporting period (2022: nil).

B AEECEZEER

B EXPREEN  — T
ESCIESCVEEI

—FHREELEET

RIS
R-ZF-=4+-A=+—8  FEEYEEFTE

REARFSE(ZT-—F : ) -
HREE
R-ZF-=4+-A=+—8  FEEWHEEFR

REBE(ZZE_—F &) -

RE
EFg W iER
To—F )

= __

M ERERMEARBARE(Z



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWmED N

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

1.

Disposal of subsidiaries

Subsequent to the reporting period but before the issue of
this report, the Company entered into the sale and purchase
agreements with an independent third party to dispose (i) all
the issued shares of Beyond Noble Holdings Limited (“Beyond
Noble”), which is the legal and beneficial owner of 51%
of the issued shares of KK Wecheck, for the consideration
of HK$19,000; and (ii) all the issued shares of Smart Path
Enterprises Limited (“Smart Path”), which is the legal and
beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital of Hopeful
Top, for the consideration of HK$1. The transaction was
completed by December 2024. Upon completion, the Group
ceased to hold any interest in Beyond Noble, KK Wecheck,
Smart Path, and Hopeful Top.

For further detail of the transaction, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 14 March 2025.

Disposal of associate company

The Company disposed its entire interests in an investment of
an associate company, namely Aurora, for the consideration of
HK$9,950,000. The transaction was completed in May 2025.
Upon completion, the Company ceased to hold any interest in
Aurora.

For further details of the transaction, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 7 May 2025.

Litigation
HCA 281/2024

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries commenced an
action against a former Director and his controlled company
for damages and equitable compensation arising out of,
among others, the said Director’s breach of fiduciary duties
and/or knowing receipt of benefits from such breaches.
The former Director and his controlled company had filed a
defence and counterclaim. The Company had subsequently
filed a reply and defence to counterclaim. As pleadings have
now closed, the case shall proceed to the case management
stage for further directions. No hearing date has been fixed for
the proceedings as at the date of this report.
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HCA 241/2024

The Company commenced an action against another company
concerning a dispute arising out of a subscription agreement.
In the amended statement of claim, the Company sought (i) a
declaration that the said subscription agreement was null and
void and of no legal effect, (i) rescission of the subscription
agreement, and (iii) return of the consideration paid for the
subscription of shares in the defendant. The defendant had
filed a defence.

Upon the completion of the agreement of sales and purchase
for the shares in dispute, the Company has disposed of the
shares in dispute. Consequently, parties signed a consent
summons to discontinue the action which the court had
approved.

DCCJ 1940/2024

A former Director commenced an action against the Company
for alleged defamatory statements contained in the Company’s
announcements published in compliance of the Listing Rules
of Hong Kong. The Company had filed a defence in response
to contest the former Director’s alleged defamatory claim. No
hearing date has been fixed for the proceedings as at the date
of this report.

HCMP 1474/2024

The Company commenced taxation proceedings against
its former solicitors in relation to the invoices for service
rendered. The former solicitors have provided further itemized
breakdown regarding the invoices and the Company is
reviewing the same.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
21 February 2024, 23 February 2024, 18 March 2024 and 18
April 2024 respectively for further details.

The Company will make further disclosure and update
wherever appropriate or necessary.
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4, Disposal of listed securities

On 30 September 2024, the Company disposed on open
market a total of 11,574,000 shares of Kingkey Financial
International (Holdings) Limited (the “Kingkey Financial
Share(s)”) at an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$9.5 million (exclusive of transaction costs). The average
selling price (exclusive of transaction costs) for the Disposal
of each Kingkey Financial Share is approximately HK$0.82.
Immediately after the disposal, the Company ceased to hold
any Kingkey Financial Share.

For further detail of the transaction, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 30 September 2024.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND/OR ASSOCIATES

In April 2023, the Company has paid the consideration of
HK$16,044,444 and subscribed 2,637,115 new shares (representing
approximately 45% of total issued shares immediately after the
completion of subscription) of Aurora. Aurora and its subsidiaries
were principally engaged in provision of breast health diagnosis and
breast cancer treatment in the PRC. Upon completion, Aurora was
accounted as an investment in associate company. Please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 3 April 2023 and 17 April
2023 for further details of the acquisition.

Subsequently on 7 May 2025, the Company disposed its entire
shareholding of Aurora in the consideration of HK$9,950,000. Please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 7 May 2025 for
further details of the disposal.

Further, the financial results of one subsidiary of the Group, namely
KK Wecheck, was deconsolidated from the Group with effect
from 1 July 2023, primarily due to the loss of control over such
subsidiary. Please refer to the “Independent Auditor’s Report — Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion — Financial results of a deconsolidated
subsidiary” for further details.
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Subsequently on 23 December 2024, the Company disposed (i) its
entire shareholding of Beyond Noble, being the holding company of
KK Wecheck, for the consideration of HK$19,000, and (ii) its entire
shareholding of Smart Path, being the holding company of Hopeful
Top, for the consideration of HK$1. For the details of the disposal,
please refer to Company’ s announcement dated 14 March 2025.

Save as disclosed, the Group did not have any other material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and/or associates during the
year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND COMPLIANCE
WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the
year ended 31 December 2023 will be published on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company on 25 August
2025. No material impact of the relevant laws and regulations in
relation to environment is identified on business operations.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Please refer to sections headed “Major Suppliers and Customers” and
“Employees and Emolument Policy” in “Directors’ Report”.
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INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES wHRE
As at 31 December 2023, the Group has invested in three securites. RZZE_=F+_A=+—H AEBECKE=E
The details of, the breakdown and the movement of which during the &% - HFI5 ~ BAANRFRNES)aimT
year is summarised below:
%to % to
the Group's  the Group's
Fair value total assets et assets
At changed At asat asat
%of  1January during 31 December 31 December 31 December
Principal business No. of share  shareholding 2003 Addition Disposal  the year 203 073 03
W-B-ZF WoBoZF
i 28 t28
i §hy ZB-=f ZT-B Z1-A
CEBCZE AYEE TR KRR G45E
TR k@R kE%  -A-A 5 prd g8 =t-B  BEBE  EERM
HKS HKS HK$ HKS HK§ % %
AT BT BT BT B
Listed equity securities - Hong Kong
LTRAER-B#
Kingkey Financial International () securities brokerage; 115,740,000 172% 106,480,800 - - (486108000 57,870,000 46.6% 50.6%
(Holdings) Limited (i) wealth management;
(HK: 1468)" Mo and (if) other financial services,
mink farming and trading of
mink's fur skin.
RECRER(AR)RRAA  (B5EL: (FEER: R
(HK: 14687 (iR - KAEER
ERIRAZR
China Baol Technologies Holdings (i) mabile and multi-media 1158333 160% 1,135,167 - - (3166]) 903,500 0.7% 08%
Limited (HK: 0164)* technologies; (i) gamma ray
radiation services; (i) tourism
and hospitality business; and
(1) rain medla.
HEENHRERARAT (FBRSRERI : ()0EST
(HK: 0164F BRARE  ()mELEEE
#: RiEmER -
Listed equity securities - Australia
LTRAEE-EATE
Fruge Group Limited (FGLA) Development, marketing and 20,000,000 2.09% - 839,680 - 11520 851,200 0.7% 0.7%
customer support of its grocery
comparison
Fruge Group Liited (FGLA) E‘bttﬂ*} i 2HR
ERRE
Total B 107,615,962 839,680 - 1BBAT6T 59,624,700 48.0% 5.2%
# Included in equity instruments at fair value through other ! REARATFEE AR 2R 2 RATA

comprehensive income

Note 1: The above listed securities was a significant investment held by the
Group as at 31 December 2023. No dividend was received from the
investment during the year.

These securities investments are categorised as equity instrument at
fair value through other comprehensive income accordingly to HKFRS
Accounting Standards and the Group considers to sell some or all of
these investments when (i) there is a working capital need; (ii) shortfall
of fund to repay the due debts; or (jii) a profitable return is achieved.

M L ETESRAEER —Z-=F+_A
=+ —BERFANERKRE - RERLENLRRR
BUEIE -

REBVBRESTER  ZEEHFREDIER
BRAFEEFARMEEAREZRATA - A&H
EENONEEESHR  (NVESTRAEERE
0 R(iED BN EHRE HERDAEHEZFR



Management Discussion and Analysis

Save as disclosed above, no significant securities investments were
made and no dividend was received from the above securities during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

On 30 September 2024, the Group disposed in open market a total
of 11,574,000 Kingkey Financial Shares at an aggregate consideration
of approximately HK$9.5 million (exclusive of transaction costs). The
average selling price (exclusive of transaction costs) for the Disposal of
each Kingkey Financial Share is approximately HK$0.82.

Immediately after the Disposal, the Group ceased to hold any Kingkey
Financial Shares.

For details of the disposal, please refer to the Group’s announcement
dated 30 September 2024.

In September 2024, the Group disposed in open market a total of
1,158,333 China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited at an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$470,000 (exclusive of transaction
costs).

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

The Group has no charges on group assets at the end of the reporting
period (2022: nil).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have other plans
for material investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2023.

OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS
(1)  Suspension of Trading on the Stock Exchange

Trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited has been suspended with effect from
9:00 a.m. on Tuesday, 2 April 2024 and will remain suspended
pending the fulfillment of the Resumption Guidance as
specified by the Stock Exchange.

(2) Resignation of Auditor

The Company’s former auditor, BDO Limited, has tendered its
resignation as the auditor of the Company with effect from
6 May 2024. For details of the resignation of BDO Limited,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 6
May 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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(3

Resumption Guidance

On 20 June 2024, the Company received a letter from the
Stock Exchange setting out the guidance for the resumption of
trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange.
On 30 October 2024, the Company received a letter from
the Stock Exchange, in which the Stock Exchange notifies the
Company to modify one of the guidance for the resumption of
trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange.
As a result, the latest resumption guidance (the “Resumption
Guidance”) as at the date of this report is as follows:

(i) Conduct an appropriate independent forensic
investigation into each of the Audit Issues, assess the
impact on the Company’s business operation and
financial position, announce the findings and take
appropriate remedial actions;

(ii) Demonstrating that there is no reasonable regulatory
concern about the integrity, competence and/or
character of the Group’s management and/or any
persons with substantial influence over the Company’s
management and operations, which may pose a risk to
investors and damage market confidence;

(iii) Conducting an independent internal control review
and demonstrating that the Company has in place
adequate internal controls and procedures to comply
with the Listing Rules;

(iv) Publishing all outstanding financial results required
under the Listing Rules and addressing any audit
modifications;

(v) Demonstrating the Company’s compliance with
Rule 13.24 of the Listing Rules; and

(vi) Informing the market of all material information for
Shareholders and investors to appraise the Company’s
position.

For details of the Resumption Guidance, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 24 June 2024 and 4
November 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

(4) Progress of Fulfillment of the Resumption Guidance

For quarterly update on status of resumption and the
Company’s resumption plan in fulfilling the Resumption
Guidance, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 24 June 2024, 25 September 2024, 6 January 2025, 26
March 2025 and 27 June 2025.

(5) Appointment of New Auditor

The Company appointed Confucius International CPA Limited
("Confucius”) as the new auditor of the Company with effect
from 6 June 2024 and to hold office until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting of the Company. For
details of the appointment of Confucius, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 6 June 2024.

(6) Investigation and Independent Control Review

In line with the requirements set out in the Resumption
Guidance, the Independent Investigation Committee has
engaged Frank Forensic and Corporate Recovery Limited to
conduct an independent investigation into the Allegations
as well as other issues that relates to certain Audit Issues.
For key findings of the Investigation, the opinions of
Independent Investigation Committee and the Board, and the
recommendations and their completion status, please refer to
the announcement dated 5 August 2025.

Further, as previously announced by the Company, it has engaged
Zhonghui Anda Risk Services Limited (the “Internal Control
Consultant”) to conduct an independent review of the internal control
procedures of the Company and all the subsidiaries identified in the
Investigation (the “Internal Control Review"”). Considerable progress
has been made. The Company will publish an announcement in
relation to the key findings of the Internal Control Review, rectification
recommendations and the implementation of remedial actions in due
course.

Save for the matters disclosed above, there were no other important
events affecting the Company nor any of its subsidiaries since the end
of the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

MISCELLANEOUS

Save as disclosed, during the financial year ended 31 December 2023,
there were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
entered into by the Group in which any Director or an entity
connected with any Director are or were materially interested, either
directly or indirectly.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Yiu Sze Wai (“Ms. Yiu"), aged 45, was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company on 4 October 2023. She obtained a bachelor
of business administration degree from Lingnan University, Hong
Kong and is a full member of CPA Australia. Ms. Yiu has experience
working in a big-four audit firm and public listed companies and has
many years of experience in financial reporting, accounting, finance
and treasury management. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Yiu has
been a regional treasury manager of an international financial services
company, responsible for financial and treasury management.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Chung Anita Mei Yiu (“Ms. Chung”), aged 45, was appointed
as Non-executive Director on 8 August 2024. She obtained a
postgraduate certificate in laws from The University of Hong Kong
in August 2013, a bachelor of laws degree and a graduate diploma
in English and Hong Kong law (common professional examination)
from The Manchester Metropolitan University in July 2011 and
July 2010, and a bachelor of science in computer science degree
from The University of British Columbia in May 2001. Ms. Chung
was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 2016 and is currently
the sole practitioner of CMY Lawyers. Ms. Chung was formerly an
independent non-executive director of MTT Group Holdings Limited
(BRIEEERABR2AR]), a company listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with
stock code 2350.

Ms. Sun Jing ("Ms. Sun”), aged 40, was appointed as Non- executive
Director on 8 August 2024. She obtained a bachelor’s degree in
literature and a bachelor’s degree in economics from Shanghai
University of International Business and Economics (/& ¥ 9ME & A E2)
(formerly known as Shanghai Foreign Trade College (_H/8¥9MNE HE2
Bt)) in July 2008 and July 2009 respectively, and a master degree in
Commerce (Finance) and a master degree in Professional Accounting
from The University of Sydney in April 2011. Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. Sun occupied managerial position in a cultural and media
company headquartered in Beijing, the PRC, having experience in
corporate investment, financing and management.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Tang Po Lam Paulia (“Ms. Tang”), aged 46, was appointed
as Independent Non-executive Director on 1 February 2022. She
graduated from Queen’s University in Canada with a bachelor degree
of Science in Electrical Engineering and Imperial College London
with a master degree of Science in Finance. She has more than 10
years of experiences in audit, finance and banking industries and
was a founder and editor-in chief of a digital media company which
its clientele included some international luxury brands. Ms. Tang is a
fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a member of Treasure Markets Association.

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (“Mr. Chan"), aged 59, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director on 31 March 2016. He graduated
from the Hong Kong Baptist University with a bachelor of business
administration (honours) degree in finance in 1990. He completed an
advanced diploma in specialist taxation with the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants in December 2012. Mr. Chan is
currently a fellow member of The Chartered Governance Institute, a
fellow member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute, a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Chan has over 18 years of experience in
accounting, financial management and regulatory compliance of
various industries listed in Hong Kong and Singapore. He was an
independent non-executive director of Royal Century Resources
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8125) from September 2015 to October
2023 and a company secretary of CBK Holding Limited (stock code:
8428) from April 2021 to September 2024. Currently, he is a joint
company secretary of KNT Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1025) and a
joint company secretary of Stream Ideas Group Limited (Stock Code:
8401).
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EEkEREEREER

Mr. Li Chaobo (“Mr. Li”), aged 51, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director on 8 April 2023. He obtained a doctoral
degree of business administration from the Business Institute of
Pennsylvania, a master degree of business administration from Hong
Kong Baptist University and a bachelor’s degree from the Central
South University (7 & T % K £) in the Department of Automation
and Instrumentation. Mr. Li has experience in management of Hong
Kong listed company. He is presently the chairman, the chief executive
officer and an executive director of China City Infrastructure Group
Limited (R B E MRS E AR A F]), a company whose shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code: 2349.

Ms. Yang Wanning (“Ms. Yang”), aged 41, was appointed
as Independent Non-executive Director on 30 August 2024. She
obtained a Master of Business Administration from the Sun Yat-Sen
University, PRC in 2015. She is a member of Chartered Accountants
Australia and New Zealand and a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. She has 15 years of experience
in auditing, accounting, and financial management. Ms. Yang
currently works as the Partner of Beijing Zhongmin Guocheng Public
Accountants LLP (Shenzhen branch). Ms. Yang was formerly an
independent non-executive director of Goldlok Holdings (Guangdong)
Company Limited (stock code: 002348, the shares of which is listed
on the main board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Chan Sin Mei, Garfield ("Ms. Chan"), aged 55, is VP of Recruit.
She rejoined the Group in October 2014. Ms. Chan is responsible
for the recruitment and display advertising business as well as all
operation of the Group. Ms. Chan has over 25 years of experience
in the advertising industry. Ms. Chan was the Account Director of
the Group's recruitment advertising division during the period from
9 April 1992 to July 2002. She was the Associate Sales Director of
Careertimes Online Limited before joining the Group.

SERAEE(ZTRE]D 515 RZE-ZF
ANBEBZERBYIERITES - BRNEL AR
FIE2BT (Business Institute of Pennsylvania)BR/§ T &
ERETBM - RESREASBISIEERET
BURRPREIEAZREIXGERERS S
By« FHEEEBESLTARINERER - 17
RATERMERSHEEEERARNER  TK
BERPITES - ZARRONE AT Em(BRHD
R85 - 2349) -

BREzT((HLt]) 415 R-ZE-_OFEN
A=+ REZARB L IFNTES - FR =T —H
FEFHPIUABREIEERELS - HARMNK
MBI ErMAeeEREEgTMAgesg
B o ERER - 2 kM BEE T EESR 15FK
5 o BR T BRI R RPRBEK TR EB (K
HREBER)RNDFOERA - B LTEEER
SRROHBRAT (ORISR - 002348 HRMHR
FYBHLZSER LB IERITES -

SREEE

BREXLE([BLL]) ' 555 ° ARecruitZ §l42
H-FER-ZZE—NOFTABEMALER - KK
TEEARKECRERBTESEBARMAEE
B o REZTHMBBBFIEEXLER - RELTR
—AAZFWANRE -TT —F+ AHBEIA
SEREESEFM 2 BPLE - BRIMAKRSER
(T Careertimes Online Limited 2 B IR S F5AE &L o



The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company and provides
corporate management services. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the Group’s businesses comprising analysis of the
Group performance during the year under review using financial
key performance indicators, description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report. The
Group is looking for quality investment opportunities on an on-going

basis and will make announcements where appropriate.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 83 to 84.

DIVIDEND

The Directors did not recommend any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on pages 87 to 88 and note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on pages 208 to 209 of the
annual report.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

Please refer to “Fund Raising Activity” under section headed “Capital
Structure”.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-
laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company did not
purchase, redeem or sell any of the Company’s listed securities.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of

this report were:

Executive Director

Ms. Yiu Sze Wai (appointed on 4 October 2023)

Mr. Chen Jiajun
(chairman, appointed on 1 September 2023 and
resigned on 20 May 2024)

Mr. Tsang Hing Bun (resigned on 25 September 2023)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Chung Anita Mei Yiu (appointed on 8 July 2024)

Ms. Sun Jing (appointed on 8 July 2024)

Mr. Ma Fei (appointed on 24 September 2023 and
resigned on 8 July 2024)

Mr. Ng Wai Hung (appointed on 24 September 2023 and
resigned on 8 July 2024)

Mr. Yiu Yu Cheung (resigned on 22 September 2023)

Mr. Shiu Shu Ming (appointed on 6 January 2023 and
resigned on 24 September 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Tang Po Lam Paulia

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung, Alex

Mr. Li Chaobo (appointed on 8 April 2024)

Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen (appointed on 8 April 2024 and
resigned on 25 October 2024)

Ms. Yang Wanning (appointed on 30 August 2024)

Mr. William Keith Jacobsen (resigned on 1 September 2023)
Mr. Chai Chung Wai (appointed on 24 September 2023 and

resigned on 30 August 2024)

In accordance with No. 84 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Ms. Tang Po
Lam Paulia will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,

being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with No. 83(2) of the Bye-laws, Ms. Chung Anita Mei
Yiu, Ms. Sun Jing, Mr. Li Chaobo, Ms. Yiu Sze Wai and Ms. Yang
Wanning shall hold the office until the next annual general meeting

and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the non-executive director has entered into a service
agreement and each of independent non-executive directors has
entered into an appointment letter with the Company for a specific
term and is subject to termination by either party giving not less than
one to three month(s)’ prior written notice to another.

None of the directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has any service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ"), as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
Model Code") were as follows:

(A) Interests in the Company - Long position in shares
of the Company
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(B) Interests in an associate corporation (B) MBS ZEzREZR
Percentage of
Number of shareholding
Name of associate shares held in the associated
Name of Director corporation Nature of interest (Note 1) corporation
BENRGER AEESEE W

EENS B EEER EmHE (BF&ET) BERBESH

Mr. CHEN lJiajun Upsky Global Limited ~ Beneficial owner 1L 100%

PRERE L HE SRIRIKBR AT EnlEEA

Notes: Pi3E

1. The letter “L” denotes long position of the shares. 1. FRLIERHELTE -

2. Mr. Chen Jiajun beneficially owns 100% of the issued shares 2. BRRESCEE BB LRRIKAER AR
of Upsky Global Limited, which in turn holds 27.55% of the #)1100% 2T - M KIRIKBRA
shares of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Chen Jiajun is deemed, BIRIFE AR NQEIM27.55% M5  EIL
or taken to be interested in the shares of the Company held MBHELEGOIME  BRRELER
by Upsky Global Limited for the purpose of the SFO and in BB EER L RIRKER A R AT
aggregate holds 27.55% of the shares of the Company. BHRARBROFHEEER - WEHE

BARNEIRI27.55%0%() o

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, neither of the %Lﬁﬁﬂﬁéﬁé%ﬁﬂ\ TRIEZ=F+A=+—
Directors nor the chief executives of the Company had interests or CBEEFLARARRITHRABRARF R
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of E*Eﬂwiil(m%ﬁ 35 M ERE R BIEXVED) A%
the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning 17 * #8BEI% {5 K (EHEEF - Tﬁﬁﬁ()*ﬂﬁ%’”%&ﬁﬂ
of Part XV of the SFO) which (i) were required to be notified to the  EHIEXVELET7 M8 HAE A LD BT
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of  #Ez580% A (B IR E B %&Hﬂf‘fﬂﬂﬂZ*ﬁrﬂmK
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they ¥R &N & EfEA 2 S KA R) + sk(i)E R AR
are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (i) 15 %“&Hﬁfﬂﬂﬁﬂ%352{\5(2,\%7(_§Z§u5ﬁﬂWZ
were recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 @A R ¢ SK(NRBERETRAMEAD

of the SFO; or (iii) had to be notified to the Company and the Stock B¢ AT 2 #EzSslAR °

Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SHARE OPTIONS

The Company maintained a share option scheme during the year. The
share option scheme adopted by the Company on 13 July 2007 (“Old
Scheme”) was terminated on 29 December 2015 and replaced by a
new share option scheme (the “Scheme"”) adopted on the same date.

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options
to eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution
to the Group. Eligible participants of the Scheme include, without
limitation, any persons who are employees, officers, agents,
consultants or representatives of the Group. The Scheme became
unconditional upon the Stock Exchange granting on 5 January
2016 the approval of the listing of and the permission to deal in the
shares falling to be issued pursuant to the exercise of any options
to be granted under the Scheme and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, shall remain in for 10 years from the adoption date.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each
eligible participant in the Scheme and the other scheme (if any) in any
12-month’s period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company for the time being. Any further grant of share options to
any eligible participant in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting. The total number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under the
Scheme and the other schemes (if any) must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue (the “10% Limit”) as at
29 December 2015, being the date of passing the resolution by the
shareholders at the special general meeting approving and adopting
the Scheme. The Company may seek approval of its shareholders in a
general meeting to refresh the 10% Limit at any time in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

The maximum number of shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and other schemes (if any) shall not
exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company in issue from time
to time. The making of an offer to any Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective
associates must be approved by the independent non-executive
Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director who or
whose associate is a proposed grantee of the share options).

e
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In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director of the Company or any
of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on
the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of the offer) in
excess of HK$5,000,000, within any 12-month’s period, are subject
to the shareholders’ approval in a general meeting in accordance with
the Listing Rules.

Any offer may be accepted by an eligible participant in respect of
less than the number of shares which are offered provided that such
number is clearly stated in the duplicate letter comprising acceptance
of the offer duly signed by such eligible participants and received by
the Company together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1.00 (which shall not be later than 21 days from the offer
date). The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations on the offer date; (i) the average closing price of
Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the offer date;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

Further detail of the Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 31 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SHARE AWARD

On 28 December 2022 (the “Adoption Date"”), the Company has
entered into a trust deed (the “Trust Deed”) with Core Pacific-
Yamaichi International (H.K.) Nominees Limited (the “Trustee”) to
set up a trust for the share award scheme (the “Scheme”) and the
Trustee will exercise its powers to purchase Shares to be held upon
the trust constituted by the Trust Deed (the “Trust”) pursuant to the
rules relating to the Scheme Rules and the Trust Deed. To the best of
knowledge of the Directors, information and belief, after having made
all reasonable enquiries, the Trustee and its ultimate beneficial owners
are independent third parties of the Company and its connected
persons under the definitions of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Pursuant to the terms of the Scheme, the remuneration committee
of the Company (“Remuneration Committee”) and the Board shall
determine the number of Shares to be purchased by the Trustee out
of cash paid by the Company by way of settlement to the Trustee
(the “Awarded Shares”) awarded by the Board to be awarded to the
employees selected by the Remuneration Committee and the Board
(the “Selected Employees”). Subject to the absolute discretion of the
Board, the Awarded Shares (where the Board has determined such
number pursuant to the terms of the Scheme) shall be acquired by
the Trustee from open market by utilizing the Company’s resources
provided to the Trustee.

The Scheme does not constitute a share option scheme or an
arrangement analogous to a share option scheme for the purpose of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. No Shareholders’ approval is required
to adopt the Scheme.

The purposes of the Scheme are to recognise the contributions by
the Selected Employees and give incentives to them in order to retain
them for the continual operation and development of the Group and
to attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board
pursuant to the terms of the Scheme, the Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a term of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date.

The Remuneration Committee and the Board shall not make any
further award of Shares which will result in the aggregate number of
Shares awarded by the Board throughout the duration of the Scheme
to be in excess of 5% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the Adoption Date. The maximum aggregate number of the
Awarded Shares which may be awarded to a Selected Employee
under the Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the Adoption Date. As at the date of the Adoption
Date, the number of issued Shares of the Company is 455,534,000
Shares.
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Operation of the Scheme

The Remuneration Committee and the Board may, from time to
time, at their absolute discretion select any Employees (excluding
any Excluded Employee) to participate in the Scheme as a Selected
Employee. Subject to the terms of the Scheme, the Remuneration
Committee and the Board shall determine the number of Awarded
Shares to be awarded to the Selected Employees. The Board is entitled
to impose any conditions as they deem appropriate in their absolute
discretion with respect to the vesting of the Awarded Shares on the
Selected Employees. Where any grant of Awarded Shares is proposed
to be made to Connected Persons of the Company, such grant of
Awarded Shares has to be approved in advance by the Independent
Non-executive Directors of the Company. The Company shall comply
with the applicable provisions of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
and such Connected Persons and their associates shall abstain from
voting on the relevant general meeting in approving such grant of
Awarded Shares. After the Board has approved any grant of Awarded
Shares, the Board shall as soon as practicable inform the Trustee of,
among others, (a) the identity of the relevant Selected Employee,
and whether the Selected Employee is a Connected Person; (b)
the number of Awarded Shares awarded to the relevant Selected
Employee; (c) the date as determined from time to time by the
Board, on which an Award (or part thereof) is to vest in the relevant
Selected Employee pursuant to the terms of the Scheme (the “Vesting
Date”); (d) conditions, restrictions or limitations (if any) accordingly;
and (e) whether the Awarded Shares or any part thereof should be
purchased.

Termination

The Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of: (a) the 10th anniversary
date of the Adoption Date; and (b) such date of early termination
of the Scheme as determined by the Board provided that such
termination shall not affect any subsisting rights of any Selected
Employee.

As at the date of this report, the Board neither granted any awards
nor caused to pay the trustee the trust fund for purchase nor
subscription of Shares.
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Referring the announcement dated 9 August 2024, the Company
does not expect to grant any awards under the Scheme prior to its
expiry on 27 December 2032 and in order to reduce administrative
cost and improve the cashflow position of the Company, the Board
has resolved to terminate the Scheme with effect from 9 August
2024. The Company does not expect the Termination will have any
negative impact to the business and operation of the Company.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the following parties (in addition to the
Directors and chief executive of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Long position in shares of the Company
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Approximate

percentage

in the issued

Number Share Capital

Name Nature of interest of Shares  of the Company
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ERITREZ

=% fEEME BREEAR BB

Upsky Global Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 123,037,657 27.55%
SRIRIRBR AR () BE=EAA

Champion Ease Group Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 74,000,000 16.57%
ik BARA T (MEE2) EREAA

Polaris Investment Management Limited Beneficial owner 30,248,828 6.77%

(Note 3)
Polaris Investment Management Limited

(PfaE3)

EDHAA



Notes:

1. Upsky Global Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Chen
Jiajun.

2. Champion Ease Group Limited is interested as to 50% by each of Ms.

Zhan Meiging and Mr. Liu Guoliang.

3. Polaris Investment Management Limited is wholly and beneficially
owned by Mr. Liu Gary Wei.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors are
not aware of any persons (other than the Directors or chief executive
of the Company) have interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in the register
of interests required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group entered into
certain related party transactions. Details of which were disclosed in
Note 36 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group. Each
of these transactions constitutes connected transaction under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules, was less than HK$3,000,000 and all the
applicable percentage ratios calculated in accordance with Rule 14.07
of the Listing Rules were less than 5%. Thus, these transactions
constitute deminimis transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules and is fully exempt from the requirement of reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval.

Saved as the above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Group has not entered into any connected transactions or continuing
connected transaction for the year which are required to disclose
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has the
internal controls in place to ensure that the terms of all connected or
continuing connected transactions, if any, are fair and reasonable and
in the interest of the Company and Shareholders as a whole.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The top five suppliers in aggregate and the single largest supplier of
the Group accounted for approximately 45% and 16% of the Group’s
total purchases for the year ended 31 December 2023 respectively.

The top five customers in aggregate and the single largest customer
of the Group accounted for approximately 20% and 7% of the
Group's total sales for the year ended 31 December 2023 respectively.

At no time during the year did a Director, an associate of a Director,
within the meaning of the Listing Rules, or a shareholder of the
Company which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the Company’s share capital have any interest in the Group’s
five largest suppliers and five largest customers.

Key Relationships with Customers and Suppliers

The Group highly values the relationships with employees, customers
and suppliers as they are the foundation of the Group's success.

Customers

The Group provides direct services/goods to customers and conduct
surveys to interact with them to gain market insights and feedback.
The Group allows a credit period from 3 to 120 days (2022: 3 to 120
days) to its customers. The Group also continuously evaluates the
credit risk of its customers to ensure appropriateness of the amount
of credit granted. Credit terms are extended to customers based
on the evaluation of individual customer’s financial conditions. No
significant recoverability problem is identified subsequent to the
reporting period.

Suppliers

The Group has either long established suppliers or suppliers from well-
known enterprises to ensure that they are able to deliver the goods/
services as requested. Furthermore, the Company has formulated anti-
bribery policies for all staff to comply.
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FUTURE PROSPECTS AND DEVELOPMENT

A review of the Group's future prospect and development are set out
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
annual report. In the meantime, we will still grab every opportunity
to develop the business. Furthermore, we will also keep sourcing any
business opportunities suitable to us.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2023, no Directors have involved in competing
business or have interests in companies engaging in competing
business with the Group.

INTERESTS IN SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

As far as the Directors are aware, at no time during the year had the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, and the controlling shareholders
or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contracts of significance
or any contracts of significance for the provision of services by the
Directors or controlling shareholders or any of their subsidiaries to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company and any of its
subsidiaries of the Company and its associated corporations a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executive or any
of their spouse or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2023 and as at the date
of this annual report, based on information that is publicly available
to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Directors confirm that the Company maintained a sufficient prescribed
public float of more than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as
required under the Listing Rules.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-
Executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
of the Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares. If the
Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing,
holding, disposing of, dealing in, or exercising of any rights in relation
to the Shares, they are advised to consult their professional advisers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out on pages 42 to 69 of the annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND COMPLIANCE
WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's Environmental, Social and Governance Report will be
published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company on 25 August 2025. No material impact of the relevant laws
and regulations in relation to environment is identified on business
operations.
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EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 39 employees (2022: 32).
The pay scale of the Group’s employees is maintained at a competitive
level and employees are rewarded on a performance-related basis
within the general framework of the Group’s salary and bonus
system. Other employees’ benefits include provident fund, insurance
and medical cover. The emoluments of the Directors are monitored
by the Board and the Remuneration Committee having regard to the
Company'’s operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics.

Key relationship with employees

The Company strictly complies with all the applicable rules
and regulations in relation to employment, to name a few, the
Employment Ordinance, Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance and
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, etc. The Group has purchased
all necessary insurance and made monthly contributions for its staff
and has measures in place endeavored to protect all staff’s personal
information. There are channels for staff to express their opinions
with regard to their work. Moreover, the Group also strives to provide
a safe, healthy and harmonious workplace with fair and equal
opportunities for staff of both genders.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2022 were audited by BDO Limited. The
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 were audited by Confucius International CPA Limited, which
was appointed on 6 June 2024 following BDO's resignation on 7 May
2024. A resolution for the reappointment of Confucius International
CPA Limited as the Company’s independent auditor and authorising
the Board to fix its remuneration will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Yiu Sze Wai
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 6 August 2025
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TRERKE

The Group has adopted practices which meet the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report for the year
(the "Code") as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The report describes
its corporate governance practices, explains the applications of
the principles of the Code and deviations, if any. In the opinion of
the Directors, the Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions as set out in the Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of
all Directors, the Company was not aware of any non-compliance
with the required standard as set out in the Model Code regarding
securities transactions by the Directors throughout the year ended 31
December 2023.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company acts as an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its major subsidiaries include provision of
advertising services, sales of medical and health products, provision
of E-commerce services and investment holding. With diversified
businesses, by recognizing the importance of stakeholders at the
Board level and throughout the Group, we strive to provide high
quality and reliable products and services, and to create values
to the stakeholders through sustainable growth and continuous
development.

The Board has set the following values to provide guidance on
employees’ conduct and behaviors as well as the business activities,
and to ensure they are embedded throughout the Company’s vision,
mission, policies and business strategies:

° Integrity: do the right things;

o Excellence: deliver our products and services excellence;
o Collaboration: work better together;

o Accountability: accountable for our commitments;

o Empathy: care about our stakeholders; and

o Sustainability: commit to a sustainable future.
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The Group will continuously review and adjust, if necessary, its
business strategies and keep track of the changing market conditions
to ensure prompt and proactive measures will be taken to respond to
the changes and meet the market needs to foster the sustainability of
the Group.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, of whom one is
an Executive Director, two are Non-executive Directors and four
are Independent Non-executive Directors. The Board has in its
composition a balance of skills and experience necessary for decision
making and fulfilling its business needs. The participation of non-
executive Directors in the Board brings independent judgement
on issues relating to the Group’ strategy, performance, conflicts of
interest and management process to ensure that the interests of all
shareholders of the Company have been duly considered.

The Board considers that all of the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent and has received from each of them the
annual confirmation of independence by the Listing Rules.

The Board members during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Director

Ms. Yiu Sze Wai (appointed on 4 October 2023)

Mr. Chen Jiajun
(chairman, appointed on 1 September 2023 and
resigned on 20 May 2024)

Mr. Tsang Hing Bun (resigned on 25 September 2023)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Chung Anita Mei Yiu (appointed on 8 July 2024)

Ms. Sun Jing (appointed on 8 July 2024)

Mr. Ma Fei (appointed on 24 September 2023 and
resigned on 8 July 2024)

Mr. Ng Wai Hung (appointed on 24 September 2023 and
resigned on 8 July 2024)

Mr. Yiu Yu Cheung (resigned on 22 September 2023)

Mr. Shiu Shu Ming (appointed on 6 January 2023 and
resigned on 24 September 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Tang Po Lam Paulia

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung, Alex

Mr. Li Chaobo (appointed on 8 April 2024)

Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen (appointed on 8 April 2024 and
resigned on 25 October 2024)

Ms. Yang Wanning (appointed on 30 August 2024)

Mr. William Keith Jacobsen (resigned on 1 September 2023)

Mr. Chai Chung Wai (appointed on 24 September 2023 and

resigned on 30 August 2024)
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Pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, Mr. Li Chaobo and
Wong Kwok Kuen have obtained the legal advice on 8 April 2024. Ms.
Chung Anita Mei Yiu and Ms. Sun Jing have obtained the legal advice
on 8 July 2024. Ms. Yang Wanning has obtained the legal advice on
21 August 2024.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, all Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
and new Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
shall submit himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at the next
following general meeting after appointment.

Independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of three
years. For a Director to be considered independent, the Board must
determine the Director does not have any direct or indirect material
relationship with the Group. In determining the independence of the
Directors, the Board follows the requirements set out in the Listing
Rules.

The Board is responsible for the approval and monitoring of
the Group’s overall strategies and policies; approval of business
plans; evaluating the performance of the Group and oversight of
management. It is also responsible for promoting the success of
the Company and its businesses by directing and supervising the
Company's affairs.

The Board focuses on overall strategies and policies with particular
attention paid to the growth and financial performance of the Group.
The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to Executive
Directors and senior management of every business segment, while
reserving certain key matters for its approval.

Decisions of the Board are communicated to the management
through Executive Directors who have attended Board meetings.

The Company had arranged for appropriate liability insurance for the
Directors and officers of the Group for indemnifying their liabilities
arising from corporate activities.

During the year, all Directors have been provided, on a monthly basis,
with the Group’s management information updates to give them
aware of the Group's affairs and facilitates them to discharge their
duties under the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules.
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The Group has established following mechanisms to ensure

independent views and input are available to the Board and these

mechanisms will be reviewed annually.

Number of Independent Non-executive Directors and
their contribution

Up to the date of this report:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Four out of seven Directors are Independent Non-executive
Directors, which exceeds the requirement of the Listing Rules
that at least one-third of the Board are independent non-
executive directors.

The composition of the Board should provide a sufficient
balance of skill, experience and diversity of perspectives in
leading the Company to achieve its goal.

Executive Director will meet with the Independent Non-
executive Directors at least annually.

Executive Director should at least annually hold meetings with
the Independent Non-executive Directors without the presence
of other Directors.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which the
Board has determined to be material, the matter should be
dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather than a written
resolution. Independent Non-executive Directors who, and
whose close associates, have no material interest in the
transaction should be present at that Board meeting.

Appointment and Independence of Non-executive
Directors

(i)

Nomination Committee will assess the independence of a
candidate who is nominated to be a new Independent Non-
executive Director before appointment and the continued
independence of the current long-serving Independent Non-
executive Director, if any, on an annual basis. All Independent
Non-executive Directors are required to submit a written
confirmation to the Company annually to confirm the
independence of each of them and their immediate family
members, and their compliance with the requirements as set
out in the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

AN g
EREBRE

AEBETETIATHE - MEREFSHLIESE
THEBRMER YRS FREZEHG

BYFHTESHHE RIKEAEER

BEEAREEH

—~
=

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

TtREZTPENRSBIUIFNTES B
BETRANBEREFETEL =02 R
BIFRITEFNER -

ExemERERD FaREE  KRNZ

TR A - REARRERERRE -
HWTESHEIBFEBIUIIFNTESS
i1

HTESREIBFREMEFTRENR
MTNEBYFRTEFRITEE

FREIZBRRIEFEEFEHTERN
EETRAEEERR/EANNEFTR
EreRpnERETEEeeR(MIES
HARZ) T RRE - EXHP ARG REREE
REANDEAEEAMNGHNBIIFATES
EZLRAERNESTS S

FETESNERNB L

(i)

RAZBEERNEFHAERE /I EL
FRTEFZREARBRER 2B
ANBERPRSE 2 BILIFRTES (W0
BZHBEBAUN - 2RBUIFNITERY
ABFAARARBRREEER - AERZ
BEREERRBARE 2B UREE
BRFE ETRAIEINMGHAEZFRE -



Corporate Governance Report
TEERRSE

(ii) When all of the Independent Non-executive Director have
served more than nine years on the Board,

a. the Nomination Committee will nominate, and the
Company will appoint, a new Independent Non-
Executive Director on the Board at the forthcoming
annual general meeting; or

b. such Independent Non-executive Directors’ further
appointments should be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by shareholders, with
papers accompanying to that resolution including the
factors considered, the process and discussion of the
Nomination Committee in arriving at the determination
that such Independent Non-executive Directors are still
independent and should be re-elected.

(iii) A Director (including Independent Non-executive Director)
who has material interest in any contract, transaction or
arrangement shall abstain from voting and not be counted in
the quorum on any Board resolution approving the same.

(iv) No equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements will be granted to Independent Non-executive
Directors.

Term of Appointment of Non-executive Directors

Each of the non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) of the Company has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a specific term of three years,
automatically renewable upon expiration, and is subject to retirement
by rotation at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years and being eligible, offer himself/herself for re-election pursuant
to the Company'’s Bye-laws.

Channels where independent views are available

All Directors are entitled to retain independent professional advisors as
and when it is required and at the Company’s expense in appropriate
circumstances.
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Board meetings where independent views are expressed

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The Board should meet regularly and Board meetings should
be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals. At least 14 days’ notice of a regular Board meeting
is given to all Directors to provide them with an opportunity
to attend and all Directors are given an opportunity to include
matters in the agenda for a regular meeting. For all other
Board meetings, reasonable notice should be given.

Board papers are usually dispatched to the directors at least
three days before the meeting to ensure that Directors have
sufficient time to review the papers and be adequately
prepared for the meeting.

Directors unable to attend a meeting are advised of the
matters to be discussed and are given an opportunity to
make their views known to the Executive Director prior to the
meeting.

All Directors are encouraged to express their views in an open
and candid manner during the Board/Board Committees
meetings.

Independent Non-executive Directors and other Non-
executive Directors should make a positive contribution to the
development of the Company’s strategy and policies through
independent, constructive and informed comments.
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There were 12 Board meetings and one annual general meeting
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("AGM") but nil special general meetings held in 2023. Details of the BEEAS([RRAFERE])  ERLH ﬁ'ﬁﬂxﬁ%ﬁ‘l
attendance of each director are as follows: RE - SEFZHEERFBET -
Attended/Held
HERY, ERRH
Audit Nomination ~ Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee
Board meetings meetings meetings meetings AGM
Directors Bz ES28E ENZESSE REZESS8E FMZESEE REEEAE
Tsang Hing Bun (resigned on BEE(W-Z-=F 6/7 N/A N/A N/A 171
25 September 2023) NAZ +ﬁ B ﬁﬂ ) il TEA TEA
Chen Jiajun (appointed on BREMR-Z==FNLA—H 6/6 N/A 0/0 N/A 0/0
1 September 2023, BZE RZZTmE ~Em TER
resigned on 20 May 2024) AAZTHET)
Yiu Sze Wai (appointed on HhBE(R=T=_=FF+AEA 33 N/A N/A N/A 0/0
4 October 2023) EZ() TER TEm TEm
Yiu Yu Cheung (resigned on hFEAR_Z_=%F 6/6 22 7 17 /1
22 September 2023) NAZ+ZBEHE)
Shiu Shu Ming (resigned on FRR(R-Z_=% 5/6 0/0 0/0 0/0 171
24 September 2023) NAZTHART)
Ma Fei (appointed on ERN-ZE-=®FnA-+WA 5/5 0/0 N/A N/A 0/0
24 September 2023, BZE RZZT-mE NEf TER
resigned on 8 July 2024) +ANBEHT)
Ng Wai Hung (appointed on REHN-E==F 5/5 N/A N/A 0/0 0/0
24 September 2023, NAZtHmAEZE: TER TEm
resigned on 8 July 2024) RZZZMELANRET)
Chung Anita Mei Yiu (appointed X% (R =F=MF+ANA N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
on 8 July 2024) BZA) TR ik TEA TEA TR
Sun Jing (appointed on REM-_Z-mELANR N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
8 July 2024) EZ(T) TEm ~am Naf TER TEm
Tang Po Lam Paulia HEH 1212 2 171 17 171
William Keith Jacobsen (resigned ~ EEE(R-F==F 4/6 12 0/1 0/1 171
on 31 August 2023) NA=Z+—HEHE)
Chan Chiu Hung, Alex gl 12/12 212 n 1n n
Chai Chung Wai (resigned on ERRE(R-T-NF 5/5 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0
30 August 2024) NAZTHEHE)
Wong Kwok Kuen (appointed on ~ TEI#(R=ZE-MFEANA N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
8 April 2024 and resigned on BZEITR-Z-MF+A TEA il NaA TEA TEA
24 October 2024) ZTMAEHE)
Li Chaobo (appointed on ZHR(RF-mERMANA N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
8 April 2024) BZAT) TER TR TR TER TER
Yang Wanning (appointedon ~ BHHE(R =T -MF N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
30 August 2024) NAZ+HEZT) T il TEA TEA TEA
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Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for
inspection by the Directors. Every Board member is entitled to have
access to materials and has unrestricted access to the advice and the
Company Secretary, and has the right to seek external professional
advice if so required.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’ liabilities have
been in force to protect the Directors and officers of the Group from
their risk exposure arising from the business of the Group.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors were responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023.

The Directors’ responsibilities for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements and the auditor’s responsibilities are set out in
the “Independent Auditor’s Report”.

INTERNAL AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk
management system and internal control system and reviewing their
effectiveness on an ongoing basis. Such risk management system
and internal control system are designed for managing instead of
eliminating the risks of failing to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. The Group has complied with principle
D.2 of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. Management is responsible
for the design, implementation and monitoring of such systems,
while the Board oversees management in performing its duties on an
ongoing basis. An independent review on the internal control and risk
management systems would be conducted on an annual basis. Main
features of the risk management and internal control systems are
described as follows:

Risk management system

The Group has adopted a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

o Identification: identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.
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o Evaluation: analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

o Management: consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the
residual risks.

Internal control system

The Board has overall responsibility for the internal controls of the
Company. The Board is committed to implementing an effective
and sound internal control system to safeguard the interest of the
shareholders and the Group’s assets. The implementation enables the
Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency
of operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations.

The internal control system includes safeguard of the interest of
shareholders and the Group’s assets. The Board has delegated
to management for the implementation of all relevant financial,
operational, compliance controls and risk management function
within a defined framework.

Internal audit

The Group does not have a formal internal audit function but retains
an independent professional risk management and internal control
consultant to conduct the risk management and internal control
review annually. The Board is of the view that in light of the scale
and complexity of the business of the Group, it would be more cost
effective to appoint an external professional consultant to perform
the Group's internal audit function in order to meet its needs. It will
continue to review on an annual basis the need for an internal audit
function.

According to the established plan, review of the risk management
and internal control systems is conducted annually and the results are
reported to the Board via Audit Committee afterwards. This could
ensure the internal control system is effective.
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Discloseable and inside information

The Company has put in place a policy on handling and dissemination
of discloseable and inside information in a timely manner in such a
way so as not to place any person in a privileged dealing position
and to allow time for the market to price the listed securities of
the Company with the latest available information. Dissemination
of discloseable and inside information of the Company shall be
conducted by publishing the relevant information on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company according to the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

Effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems

The Board has conducted an annual review of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems for the year by considering written reports prepared by
the independent internal control consultant, covering the material
financial, operational and compliance controls. The independent
internal control consultant set out certain deficiencies for rectification
and improvement of the system effectiveness. The deficiencies were
noted and agreed by the Board. The Company will continue to review
and adopt necessary policies and procedures in order to improve the
system effectiveness. The Audit Committee has annually reviewed the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience, training and
budget of the accounting, financial reporting functions, as well as
ESG performance and reporting.

As disclosed in “Management Discussion and Analysis — Other
Significant Events” in this report, the Company has engaged an
independent internal control consultant to conduct an independent
review of the internal control procedures of the Company and
all major subsidiaries. Considerable progress has been made. The
Company will publish an announcement in relation to the key findings
of the internal control review, rectification recommendations and the
implementation of remedial actions in due course.
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CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Currently, the positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer have
been vacant but the Executive Director performs similar function as
Chief Executive Officer. Besides, the Board directly, and indirectly
through its committees, leads and provides direction to management
by laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation by
management. The Board monitors the Group’s operating and financial
performance and ensures that effective governance and corporate
social responsibility and policies and sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place. As such, the Board considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are comparable to those in the Code
Provision.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Every newly appointed Director will be given an induction training so as
to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the Group’s
business and his/her duties and responsibilities under the Listing Rules
and the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. The Group
continuously updates Directors on the latest developments regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements, to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. Circulars or guidance notes are issued to
Directors and senior management where appropriate, to ensure
awareness of best corporate governance practices.

The Company also provides regular updates on the business
development of the Group. The Directors are regularly briefed
on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable statutory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep
of good corporate governance practices. In addition, the Company
has been encouraging the Directors to enroll in professional
development courses and seminars relating to the Listing Rules,
Companies Ordinance and corporate governance practices organized
by professional bodies chambers in Hong Kong. All directors are
requested to provide the Company with their respective training
records pursuant to the Code.

All Directors have participated in appropriate continuous professional
development and refresh their knowledge and skills during the year.
Such professional development was completed either by way of
attending briefings, conference, forum, courses and seminars and
self-reading which are relevant to the business or directors’ duties.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has delegated the Group's corporate governance functions
to Audit Committee. The principal functions include:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(0) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company engaged
an external legal adviser, Lawrence Chan & Co., to provide full range
of company secretarial services to the Company following Mr. Tsang
Hing Bun'’s resignation on 25 September 2023. Mr Chan Chun Kau,
the representative of Lawrence Chan & Co., was appointed as the
named Company Secretary on 25 September 2023 and resigned on
1 August 2024. Ms Ho Pui Ling Elaine ("Ms. Ho"), being a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow Associate Member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, was appointed as the named Company
Secretary since 1 August 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has access
to the advice and services of the Company Secretary at all time in
accordance with Code Provision C.6.4 of Part 2 of the CG Code,
and Ms. Ho had taken no less than 15 hours of professional training
during the year pursuant to the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in April 2000. Up to the
latest practicable date prior to the publication of this annual report,
the Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Yang Wanning (Chairlady), Mr. Chan Chiu
Hung, Alex and Mr. Li Chaobo.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee, which are in
compliance with the Listing Rules, are posted on the Company’s
website. Under the terms of reference, the Audit Committee is
mainly responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor
and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of resignation or dismissal of such
auditor; overseeing the Group’s financial report, internal control and
risk management systems.

The Audit Committee held two meetings in 2023.

During the year, the Audit Committee met with senior management
to review the Group’s draft annual report and accounts, half-yearly
report, internal audit report, risk assessment report and circulars, and
provided advice and comments thereon to the Company’s Board of
Directors. The Audit Committee members met with external auditor
to discuss matters arising from the audit. The Audit Committee also
discussed with the external auditor the nature and scope of the audit
and reporting obligations before the audit commenced.

The Group’s 2023 interim report and 2022 annual report have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee, which was of the opinion that such
reports were prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements. For the 2022 annual report, the Audit
Committee met with the external auditor to discuss auditing, internal
control, statutory compliance and financial reporting matters before
recommending it to the Board for approval. The Audit Committee
also monitored the Company’s progress in implementing the code
provisions on corporate governance practices as required under the
Listing Rules.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Up to the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this annual
report, the Remuneration Committee comprises three Independent
Non-executive Directors and one Non-executive Director, namely Ms.
Yang Wanning (Chairlady), Ms. Tang Po Lam Paulia, Mr. Li Chaobo
and Ms. Chung Anita Mei Yiu.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted
on the Company’s website. The principal functions include:

- to recommend to the Board on the Company’s policies and
structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Group;

- to determine the remuneration packages of all Executive
Directors and senior management of the Group;

- to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to corporate goals and objectives
resolved by the Board from time to time.

The principal elements of executive remuneration package include
basic salary, discretionary bonus and share option. The emoluments
of Executive Directors are based on skill, knowledge and involvement
in the Company’s affairs of each Director and are determined by
reference to the Company’s performance and profitability, as well
as remuneration benchmark the industry and the prevailing market
conditions.

During the year, a meeting of the Remuneration Committee was
duly held for reviewing the remuneration policy and structure and
determination of the annual remuneration packages of the Executive
Directors and the senior executives and other related matters.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by band

for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

FHER

Remuneration band
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Up to the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this
annual report, the Nomination Committee of the Company was
established in March 2012 comprising the three Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li Chaobo (Chairman), Mr. Chan
Chiu Hung, Alex and Ms. Yang Wanning. The terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee are posted on the Company’s website.

The roles and functions the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition (in terms of gender, skills and
experience) of the Board, identifying individuals suitably qualified to
become Directors, selecting or making recommendations to the Board
on nominations, appointment or reappointment of Directors and
Board succession, and assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive directors.

During the year, a meeting of the Nomination Committee was duly
held for reviewing the structure, size and composition (in terms of
gender, skills and experience), and assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive directors of the board of directors.

Currently, the Board comprises seven members, of whom one is
Executive Director, two are Non-executive Directors and the remaining
four are Independence Non-executive Directors. The current Board
comprises individuals who are professionals with investment,
accounting, financial, general management and legal backgrounds.

The Board places emphasis on diversity (including gender diversity)
across all levels of the Group. For the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Company maintained an effective Board comprising members of
different genders, professional background and industry experience.
The Company’s board diversity policy was consistently implemented.
Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant data
can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
to be published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company on 25 August 2025. The Board considers that the
gender diversity in workforce is currently achieved.

The board diversity policy was annually reviewed by the Nomination
Committee and the Board respectively.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure, size and
composition of the Board periodically and make recommendation on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy.

When it is necessary to fill a casual vacancy or appoint an additional
director, the Nomination Committee identifies or selects candidates
pursuant to the skills, knowledge and experience required by
the Board. Based upon the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee, the Board deliberates and decides on the appointment.
In addition, every director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
or re-election at least once every three years and shall be eligible for
re-election at each annual general meeting. The Nomination
Committee shall review the overall contribution and service to the
Company, expertise and professional qualifications of the retiring
directors, who offered himself/herself for re-election at the annual
general meeting, to determine whether such director continues to
meet the criteria required by the Board.

SETTING UP OF INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATION
COMMITTEE

In October 2024, the Board set up an independent investigation
committee (the “IIC") to undertake the investigation on the matters
pertaining to the Allegations, the Transactions under Litigation, KK
Wecheck, Hopeful Top and Aurora (the “Subject Matters”). The IIC
was comprised of non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors who are independent from the Subject Matters
and have joined the Company after the financial year ended 31
December 2023, namely Ms. Chung Anita Mei Yiu, Ms. Sun Jing, Mr.
Li Chaobo and Ms. Yang Wanning, and was empowered to, among
others, retain independent third party professional institutions to assist
the review on the Subject Matter.

An independent forensic investigator was appointed by the IIC to
perform an investigation on the relevant matters and report its
findings to the IIC based on its investigation results. In July 2025, the
independent forensic investigator finalised and presented the final
version of the investigation report to IIC, and the IIC reviewed the
investigation report and provided its recommendations to the Board.
The Board concurred with the investigation report and the IIC’'s
recommendations for prompt implementation.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 5 August 2025.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION
MECHANISM

The Company has adopted the board independence evaluation
mechanism. The details are as follows:

Objective

Continuing improvement and development of the Board and its
committee processes and procedures through Board independence
evaluation provides a powerful and valuable feedback mechanism for
improving Board effectiveness, maximising strengths, and identifying
the areas that need improvement or further development.

The evaluation process also clarifies what actions of the Company
need to be taken to maintain and improve the Board performance,
for instance, addressing individual training and development needs of
each Director.

This mechanism is designed to ensure a strong independent
element on the Board, which allows the Board to effectively exercise
independent judgment to better safeguard Shareholders’ interests.

Mechanism

(a) Nomination Committee is established with clear terms
of reference to identify suitable candidates, including
independent non-executive Directors, for appointment as
Directors.

(b) Nomination policy is in place with details of the process and
criteria of identifying, selecting, recommending, cultivating
and integrating new directorship.

(€) For independent non-executive Directors (“INED(s)"):

(i) Every INED is required to confirm in writing to
the Company his/her independence upon his/her
appointment as Director with reference to such criteria
as stipulated in the nomination policy as well as the
Listing Rules;
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(ii) Each INED has to declare his/her past or present
financial or other interests in the Group’s business as
soon as practicable, or his/her connection with any of
the Company’s connected persons (as defined in the
Listing Rules), if any; and

(iii) Each INED is required to inform the Company as
soon as practicable if there is any change in his/
her own personal particulars that may affect his/her
independence.

The Nomination Committee will assess annually the
independence of all INEDs and to affirm if each of them still
satisfies the criteria of independence as set out in the Listing
Rules and is free from any relationships and circumstances
which are likely to affect, or could appear to affect, their
independent judgement. Every Nomination Committee
member should abstain from assessing his/her own
independence.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as
an INED at the general meeting, it will set out in the circular to
Shareholders the reasons it believes he/she should be elected
and the reasons it considers him/her to be independent.

A mechanism is in place for Directors to seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company’s expense.

Directors are encouraged to access and consult with the
Company’s senior management independently, if necessary.

The Board Independence Evaluation may take in the form
of a questionnaire to all Directors individually and may be
supplemented by individual interview with each Director,
if necessary, and/or in any other manners which the Board
considers fit and necessary.

The Board Independence Evaluation report will be presented
to the Board which will collectively discuss the results and the
action plan for improvement, if appropriate.
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The results of the Board Independence Evaluation or a
summary of the findings of the said evaluation will be
disclosed in the CG Report contained in the annual report of
the Company or on the Company’s website for accountability
and transparency purposes.

The aforesaid Board Independence Evaluation will be regarded
as an ongoing exercise of the Company while the Company
may seek assistance from external consultant if an external
evaluation on the same subject is needed.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and as at the date of this

report, the Board Independence Evaluation had been conducted by

way of completing a questionnaire by all Directors. The results of the

Board Independence Evaluation are summarised as follows:

The Board as a whole possessed the skills and range
of experience needed to adequately fulfill its fiduciary
responsibilities, more reliably hold management to account,
and better safeguard Shareholders’ interests.

Board meetings were conducted in a manner that allowed
open communication, meaningful participation (including
in-depth discussion and resolutions of issues).

All INEDs brought independent judgement to bear on the
Board'’s deliberations.

All INEDs have actively participated in all Board meetings and
Board Committees’ meetings; and raised governance and
ethical issues to the Board.
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DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the importance of having a
diverse Board, that increasing diversity at the Board level will support
the attainment of the Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable
development. Pursuant to the board diversity policy, the Company
seeks to achieve the Board diversity through the consideration of a
number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, length of service and any other factors that the Board
may consider relevant and applicable from time to time. All Directors
appointment will be based on applicable merits and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board. The Nomination Committee shall
review the Board Diversity Policy and make recommendations to
the Board on amendments to the Board diversity policy (if any) as
appropriate, which will include an assessment of the implementation
and effectiveness of the Board diversity policy on an annual basis
in accordance with code provision B.1 of the CG Code. The Board
Diversity Policy is available on the website of the Company for public
information.

The Board currently has five female directors. We achieved an
appropriate balance of gender diversity with reference to the
Shareholders’ expectation and international and local recommended
best practices. We will also ensure that there is gender diversity
when recruiting staff at mid to senior level and we are committed to
providing career development opportunities for female staff so that
we will have a pipeline of female senior management and potential
successors to our Board in near future.

WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY

In compliance with code provision D.2.3 of the CG Code, the Board
adopted a whistle-blowing policy. It provides employees and the
relevant third parties who deal with the Group (e.g. customers, and
suppliers) with guidance and reporting channels on reporting any
suspected improprieties in any matters related to the Group directly
addressed to the Audit Committee and designated person. An email
account (whistleblowing@allegroculture.com.hk) has been set up for
this purpose. All reported matters will be investigated independently
and, in the meantime, all information received from a whistle-blower
and its identity will be kept confidential.

The Board and the Audit Committee will regularly review the whistle-
blowing policy and mechanism to improve its effectiveness.
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ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

In compliance with the code provision D.2.4 of the CG Code, the
Board adopted an anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy. It outlines
guidelines and the minimum standards of conducts, all applicable laws
and regulations in relation to the anti-corruption and anti-bribery, the
responsibilities of employees to resist fraud, to help the Group defend
against corrupt practices and to report any reasonably suspected case
of fraud and corruption or any attempts thereof, to the management
or through an appropriate reporting channel. The Group would
not tolerate all forms of fraud and corruption among all employees
and those acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf of the
Group, and in its business dealing with third parties.

The Board and the Audit Committee will review the anti-fraud
and anti-corruption policy and mechanism periodically to ensure
its effectiveness and enforce the commitment of the Group to the
prevention, deterrence, detection and investigation of all forms of
fraud and corruption.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration provided
and paid to the Company’s former external auditors, BDO Ltd, was
approximately HK$590,000 and HK$0 for audit services and non-
audit services respectively. The non-audit services were rendered for
the provision of taxation and advisory services for risk management
and internal control.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration provided
and paid to the Company’s current external auditors, Confucius
International CPA Limited, was approximately HK$800,000 for audit
services.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare financial
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and in presenting the interim and
annual financial statements, and announcements to the shareholders
of the Company. In preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has selected suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgements
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. The
Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud
and other irregularities.

MANAGEMENT’S POSITION AND ASSESSMENT
ON THE DISCLAIMER OPINION

As disclosed in this report, the auditor of the Company Confucius
International CPA Limited, issued a disclaimer of opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 in relation to (i) the deconsolidation of subsidiary;
(i) the limitation of scope concerning interest in associate; (iii) the
limitation of scope concerning revenues, cost of sales and impairment
of trade receivables; (iv) the opening balances and corresponding
figures; and (v) the related party transactions.

The Company has discussed with auditors of the Company for actions
taken.

Firstly, regarding the deconsolidation of subsidiary, the auditor was
unable to access the books and records of KK Wecheck so that the
auditor was unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence to assess the
appropriateness of the accounting treatment and amounts adopted
by the Group to deconsolidate KK Weheck. To remedy this audit
modification, the management made considerable efforts to dispose
the relevant assets relating to KK Wecheck. Following the completion
of disposal of Smart Path (being the entity holding 51% shares of
KK Weheck) by December 2024, the Group is no longer holding any
interest in KK Wecheck and thus will not have any impact on the
Group's financial position as at 31 December 2024. Therefore, this
basis for modification (concerning deconsolidation) has been removed
in the year ended 31 December 2024.
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However, since the disposal was taken place during the year ended
31 December 2024, the respective gain or loss from the disposal is
still present for the year ended 31 December 2024. Having said that,
if there is no material change of the current facts and circumstances,
the auditor confirmed that this modification will be removed in the
year ending 31 December 2025.

Secondly, regarding the limitation of scope concerning the interest
in an associate, namely Aurora, the auditor was unable to obtain
the audited accounts to ascertain, among others, the Group’s
share of results, determine any impairment loss, and determine
any misclassification of such investment. To remedy this audit
modification, the management made considerable efforts to dispose
the relevant assets relating to the associate company. Following the
completion of disposal of the Group's entire interest in Aurora in May
2025, the Group is no longer holding any interest in Aurora and thus
will not have any impact on the Group’s financial position as at 31
December 2025. Therefore, the auditor confirmed that this basis for
modification (concerning interest in associate) will be removed in the
year ending 31 December 2025.

However, since the disposal was taken place during the year ending
31 December 2025, a modification concerning (i) the share results of
the associate for the period prior to the disposal, and (i) the respective
gain or loss from the disposal, will still be present for the year ending
31 December 2025. Having said that, if there is no material change of
the current facts and circumstances, the auditor confirmed that this
audit modification (regarding the share results and the gain or loss on
disposal) will be removed in the year ending 31 December 2026.

Thirdly, regarding the limitation of scope concerning revenue,
cost of sales and impairment of trade receivables, the auditor was
unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence to ascertain any material
misstatement. The respective amounts were all recognised during
the year ended 31 December 2023 and thus have no material impact
on the Group's financial position as at 31 December 2023. Further,
the Company has completed the disposal of its entire interest in
Hopeful Top in December 2024. Therefore, this basis for modification
(concerning revenue, cost of sales and impairment of trade
receivables) has been removed in the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Fourthly, regarding the opening balances and corresponding figures
mainly caused by the above three bases for modification. Having
considered that the actions taken by the management, if there is no
material change of the facts and circumstances, the auditor confirmed
that all of the above three bases of modification will be removed in
year ending 31 December 2026. However, the opening balances and
corresponding figures in year ending 31 December 2026 will indeed
be the financial statement as at 31 December 2025 (which is the
financial year that the Company completed disposal of Aurora) and
thus this modification (concerning the opening figures) will still be
expected in year ending 31 December 2026. Having said that, if there
is no material change of the facts and circumstances, the auditor
confirmed that this modification will be completely removed in the
year ending 31 December 2027.

Fifthly, regarding the related party transactions, the auditor was
unable to identify the relationship between the counterparties and
a former Director for certain related party transactions incurred in
year 2023. Following the cessation of such transaction, this basis for
modification (concerning related party transaction) has been removed
in the year ended 31 December 2024.

In light of the above, all underlying issues leading to the audit
modifications have been fully resolved, and the auditor concurred with
the management that, these matters will not have any continuing
effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ending 31 December 2027 and the subsequent years.

AUDIT COMMITTEE’S VIEW ON THE DISCLAIMER
OPINION

The Audit Committee had critically reviewed the facts and
circumstances leading to the disclaimer opinion, discussed with
the auditor and the management of the Company regarding each
of the bases for disclaimer opinion, and taken into account the
Board’s response, actions taken and measures implemented to
resolve the disclaimer opinion. Based on the actions taken and the
measures implemented by the management to address each of the
bases of disclaimer opinion, the Audit Committee agreed with the
management position as detailed above, and concurred with the
view of the management that the bases for disclaimer have been fully
addressed and resolved.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ Communication Policy in
March 2012 reflecting mostly the current practices of the Company
for communication with its shareholders. This policy will be reviewed
annually to ensure its effectiveness and compliance with the prevailing
regulatory and other requirements.

Information will be communicated to shareholders through:

- continuous disclosure to the Stock Exchange of all material
information;

- periodic disclosure through the annual and interim reports;
- notices of meetings and explanatory material;

- the annual general meetings and other general meetings; and

the Company’s website at www.allegroculture.com.hk

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, use annual general meetings or other
general meetings to communicate with shareholders and encourage
their participation. Most of the Board members including the
Executive Director attended the annual general meeting held in 2022
to answer questions and collect views of shareholders, if any. The
chairmen of the Audit and Nomination Committees and the external
auditor also attended the annual general meeting to answer questions
of shareholders.

Having considered the multiple channels of communication and
engagement in place, the Board is satisfied that the Shareholders’
Communication Policy has been properly in place and is effective.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

0]

Procedures for members to convene a special
general meeting ("SGM")

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition sent to
the Company'’s registered office in Bermuda and its principal
place of business in Hong Kong, for the attention of the
Company Secretary, to require a SGM to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the shareholders concerned themselves may
do so in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of
the Companies Act, but any meeting so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from the date of
deposit of the requisition.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the general
meeting, signed by the shareholders concerned and may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one
or more of those shareholders.

If the requisition is in order, the Company Secretary will ask
the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice
in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the
registered members. On the contrary, if the requisition is
invalid, the shareholders concerned will be advised of this
outcome and accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as
requested.

The notice period to be given to all the registered members
for consideration of the proposal raised by the shareholders
concerned at SGM varies according to the nature of the
proposal, as follows:

- at least twenty-one clear days’ and not less than ten
clear business days’ notice in writing if the proposal
constitutes a special resolution of the Company,
which cannot be amended other than a mere clerical
amendment to correct a patent error; and
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(i)

(iii)

(iv)

- at least fourteen clear days’ and not less than ten
clear business days’ notice in writing if the proposal
constitutes an ordinary resolution of the Company.

Procedures for a member to propose a person for
election as a director

As regards the procedures for proposing a person for election
as a Director, please refer to the procedures made available
under the Corporate Governance section of the Company’s
website at www.allegroculture.com.hk.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing to the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong or by e-mail to
info@allegroculture.com.hk for the attention of the Company
Secretary.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at a
general meeting

Shareholders holding (i) not less than one-twentieth of the
total voting rights of all shareholders having the right to vote
at the general meeting of the Company; or (ii) not less than
100 shareholders, can submit a written request stating the
resolution intended to be moved at the AGM; or a statement
of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter
referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at a particular general meeting.

The written request/statements must be signed by the
shareholders concern and deposited at the Company’s
registered office in Bermuda and its principal place of business
in Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary of
the Company, not less than six weeks before the AGM in the
case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not
less than one week before the general meeting in the case of
any other requisition.
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If the written request is in order, the Company Secretary will ask
the Board (i) to include the resolution in the agenda for the
AGM,; or (i) to circulate the statement for the general meeting,
provided that the shareholders concerned have deposited a
sum of money reasonably determined by the Board sufficient
to meet the Company’s expenses in serving the notice of
the resolution and/or circulating the statement submitted by
the shareholders concerned in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered members. On the contrary,
if the requisition is invalid or the shareholders concerned have
failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the Company’s
expenses for the said purposes, the shareholders concerned
will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the proposed
resolution will not be included in the agenda for the AGM; or
the statement will not be circulated for the general meeting.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

According to the resolutions at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 2 June 2022 and the authorisation granted in the
resolutions regarding the amendments to the Company’s Bye-laws
and the adoption to an amended and restated the Company’s Bye-
laws in order to update and bring the bye-laws in line with the latest
legal and regulatory requirements. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 12 April 2022.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company is committed to sharing the results with Shareholders
while striking a balance of continuous development of its business.
Given the current financial condition, the possible financial resources
needed for business development, the Company does not have a
concrete dividend policy. It will be disclosed in later annual report
when such condition exists.
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B ZEBARE

SAN-CHIVA

Confucius International

REBEBR TGN FEHAAAIRSS

CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ALLEGRO CULTURE LIMITED
(formerly known as Kingkey Intelligence Culture Holdings Limited)
(incorporated in Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Allegro Culture Limited (formerly known as Kingkey Intelligence
Culture Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) set out on pages 83 to 207, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.
Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been able
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all
other respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BBEHAETEUE1815 AR AE15121501-08%
Rooms 1501-08, 15th Floor, Tai Yau Building,

181 Johnston Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

EE Tel: (852) 3103 6980

fHH Fax: (852) 3104 0170

BT Email: info@pccpa.hk
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

1.

Deconsolidation of subsidiary

As described in note 34A to the consolidated financial
statements, on 21 February 2024, 23 February 2024, 18
March 2024 and 18 April 2024, the Company announced
that it had become aware in recent months that the Group
was unable to obtain the books and records and relevant
supporting documents (such as bank statements and vouchers,
collectively the “Books and Records”) from its Hong Kong-
based subsidiary, KK Wecheck Medical Technology Limited
("KK Wecheck”). As a subsidiary of the Group, all books,
records, and operations of KK Wecheck were, at all material
times, maintained and controlled by the Group’s former
Director.

The Company had formally requested KK Wecheck to provide
necessary assistance in preparing and auditing the Group’s
management accounts. Notwithstanding the Company’s
repeated requests, KK Wecheck failed to respond or provide
the Books and Records to the Company.

In light of the above, the Company has engaged legal counsel
to file writ of summons with the High Court of Hong Kong
against the former Director of the Group, for, among other
things, (1) breaches of fiduciary duties and/or knowing receipt
of benefits from such breaches; (2) procurement of payments
to entities without consent and/or authorization; (3) failure
to maintain adequate books, accounts and records resulting
the Group unable to locate certain assets, documents, records
and accounting evidence, thereby causing hindrance and/or
inability to complete compilation of financial information and
the audit process; and (4) damages, equitable compensation
and such further and/or other reliefs as the Court thinks fit.
On the other hand, the Group has engaged an independent
forensic investigator to investigate and prepare a forensic
investigation (the “Investigation Report”) to consider the
effect of the relevant events. Based on the findings in the
Investigation Report and after careful consideration, the Board
was of the view that the Company no longer has: (a) control
over the KK Wecheck; (b) exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the KK Wecheck; or (c) the
ability to use its power over the KK Wecheck to affect the
amount of the Company’s returns.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

1.

Deconsolidation of subsidiary (Continued)

Due to the situation described above, the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) considered that the Group was
unable to exercise its rights as the shareholder either to
control the assets and operations of the KK Wecheck or to
exercise the decision-making rights over the KK Wecheck. As
such, the Directors further considered that it is inappropriate
to consolidate the financial results of the KK Wecheck into
the Group. The Directors have resolved to deconsolidate the
KK Wecheck with effect from 1 July 2023, the date when the
Directors considered that it had effectively lost control of the
KK Wecheck. In addition, the Directors were of the view that
the recoverability of the amounts due from the KK Wecheck
were remote and do not expect to be able to recover the
outstanding balances in the foreseeable future. The resulting
loss arising from the deconsolidation of the KK Wecheck of
approximately HK$3,777,000 and impairment loss on amounts
due from the KK Wecheck of approximately HK$3,585,000
have been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

1.

Deconsolidation of subsidiary (Continued)

Under HKFRS Accounting Standards 10 “Consolidated
Financial Statements”, the carrying amounts of the assets
and liabilities of the KK Wecheck should be derecognised
from the consolidated financial statements of the Group at
the date when control over the KK Wecheck was lost. Since
we were unable to gain access to the Books and Records and
management personnel of the KK Wecheck, we were unable
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to assess the
appropriateness of the accounting treatment and amounts
adopted by the Group of not treating the KK Wecheck
as subsidiary of the Group on 1 July 2023. We were also
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence and
explanation to satisfy ourselves as to the date when the Group
lost control over the KK Wecheck. There were no alternative
audit procedures that we could perform to satisfy ourselves as
to whether the resulting loss arising from the deconsolidation
of the KK Wecheck of approximately HK$3,777,000 recorded
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss are free from
material misstatement. Any adjustment that would be required
may have a consequential significant effect on the net liabilities
of the Group and loss and cash flows of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023, and the related disclosures
thereof in the consolidated financial statements.

During the audit, due to the absence of complete accounting
books and records of the KK Wecheck being provided to us,
we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to satisfy ourselves about the occurrence, completeness,
accuracy, cut-off, classification and presentation and related
disclosure of the results and any related party transactions
of the KK Wecheck for the period from 1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023 which had been included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
and which have been summarised and disclosed in note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

1.

Deconsolidation of subsidiary (Continued)

Any adjustments found to be necessary in respect of the
abovementioned matters might have significant consequential
significant effects on the net liabilities of the Group as at 31
December 2023 and the loss and cash flows of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023 and the related disclosure
thereof in the consolidated financial statements.

In addition, due to circumstances described above, we have
not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
and explanations as to whether the contingent liabilities and
commitments committed by the Group were properly recorded
and accounted for and in compliance with the requirements of
applicable HKFRS Accounting Standard, including Hong Kong
Accounting Standard 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets”. There were no alternative audit
procedures that we could perform to satisfy ourselves as to
whether the contingent liabilities and commitments were free
from material misstatements. Any adjustment that would be
required may have a consequential significant effect on the
net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and loss
and cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023, and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated
financial statements.

Limitation of scope concerning interest in associate

During the year, the Group acquired 45% interest in an
associate, namely Aurora Medical Technology (HK) Corp.
Limited (“Aurora”) for approximately HK$16.04 million.
Although the investment agreement granted the Group
the right to appoint directors to Aurora’s board, the Group
failed to exercise this right during the reporting period.
Consequently, there is insufficient evidence to demonstrate
that the Group exercises significant influence over Aurora,
calling into question the appropriateness of classifying Aurora
as an associate under HKAS 28.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

2,

Limitation of scope concerning interest in associate
(Continued)

As explained in Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements and based on the findings in the Investigation
Report, the existing directors were unable to obtain the
audited financial statements and books and records of Aurora
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Notwithstanding the
above classification issue, the former Director of the Group
recorded a share of loss of approximately HK$2.1 million from
Aurora.

During the audit, we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to:

(i) ascertain the Group’s share of the associate’s results;

(ii) determine whether any impairment loss was required
in respect of the investment as at 31 December 2023;
and

(iii) determine whether any misclassification of this
investment as at 31 December 2023.

Any adjustment to this amount could have a material impact
on the Group’s net asset position as at 31 December 2023 and
the net loss from ordinary activities attributable to shareholders
for the year then ended.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

3.

Scope of limitation concerning revenues, cost of
sales and impairment of trade receivables

During the year ended 31 December 2023, accounting records
of a wholly-owned subsidiary, namely Kingkey E-Commerce
Limited, recorded transactions whereby approximately
HK$2,791,000 was recorded as products purchases, which
were subsequently sold to an undisclosed counterparty for
approximately HK$2,900,000, which was explained in Note 5
and Note 6. The expenditure of HK$2,791,000 was recognised
as direct operating costs for the year, while the proceeds
of HK$2,900,000 were recorded in E-commerce segment
revenue and trade receivables. As at 31 December 2023, the
trade receivables remain unsettled, and a full impairment loss
provision has been recognised.

During the audit, we did not obtain any documentary
evidence (such as contracts, delivery notes, invoices, and board
resolutions) to confirm the Group’s internal assessment of the
trade supplier’s background and capabilities. Additionally, we
did not receive direct confirmation from the trade supplier
regarding the amounts paid to them for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

3.

Scope of limitation concerning revenues, cost of
sales and impairment of trade receivables (Continued)

Conversely, due to incomplete records, we did not obtain
documentary evidence (such as contracts, delivery notes, and
invoices) to confirm the occurrence of the sales transactions.
We were unable to obtain:

(i) sufficient evidence and explanations in respect of these
two transactions to achieve our audit objectives;

(ii) the background and financial capacity of the
undisclosed counterparty;

(iii) sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy us as to
the recoverability of the related accounts receivable;
and

(iv) sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy us as to
the authenticity and validity of these two transactions.

We were also unable to perform interviews with the trade
supplier and the customer to ascertain the amount, purpose
and nature of the payment made to the trade supplier and
the corresponding receivables. Therefore, we are unable to
conclude whether the amounts included in the Group's trade
receivables as of 31 December 2023, are free from material
misstatement, or whether the recognition of any impairment
losses provisions for the year ended 31 December 2023, was
necessary. If any adjustments should be required in respect of
the above matters, they would have a material impact on the
Group's net liabilities as of 31 December 2023, the loss for the
year, cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2023, and
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

3.

Scope of limitation concerning revenues, cost of
sales and impairment of trade receivables (Continued)

In 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, namely
Hopeful Top Limited, have received a deposit USD74,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$576,000) from a Hong
Kong-based customer (“Company A”), and the amount was
recognised as Provision of IP development design service
segment revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023,
which as explained in Note 5.

During the audit process, we obtained a direct confirmation
from Company A to confirm the balance of above amounts as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022. However, due to incomplete
records, we were unable to obtain other relevant supporting
documentation, such as contracts, work progress reports, or
any other records validating the transactions and relationships.
Additionally, we were also unable to conduct interviews
with Company A to ascertain the amounts and nature of the
deposits paid by Company A.

Consequently, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence or satisfactory management explanation to
assess the background of Company A and the validity of the
revenue recognised for the year ended 31 December 2023.
There are no alternative audit procedures that we could
perform to satisfy ourselves as to the completeness of these
revenue. If any adjustments should be required for the above
matters, there could have a material impact on the Group's
net assets as of 31 December 2023, the loss for the year, the
cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2023, and the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

3.

Scope of limitation concerning revenues, cost of
sales and impairment of trade receivables (Continued)

In September 2022, Hopeful Top Limited entered into a design
service agreement (“Design Service Agreement”) with a service
provider (“Company B”). In October 2022, the Company
made prepayments amounting to USD880,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$6,864,000) to Company B in accordance
with the Design Service Agreement. Subsequently In November
2023, the Company received a deliverable acknowledgment
upon completion of the Design Service Agreement. The
amount was recognised as direct operating costs for the year
ended 31 December 2023, which as explained in Note 5.

During the audit process, we obtained a direct confirmation
from Company B regarding the balance of the above amounts
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. However, due to
incomplete records, we were unable to obtain other relevant
supporting documentation, such as work progress reports
or any other records validating the transactions and related
relationships. We were also unable to conduct interviews
with Company B to ascertain the amounts and nature of the
prepayments received by Company B.

Accordingly, we are unable to determine whether the service
costs included in the Group's direct operating costs were free
from material misstatement for the year ended 31 December
2023. If any adjustments should be required for the above
matters, it could have a material impact on the Group’s net
assets as of 31 December 2023, the loss and cash flows for
the year ended 31 December 2023, and the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

4.

Opening balances and corresponding figures

During the course of the audit, due to the limitations described
in Point (1)-(3) above, we were not provided with the
complete accounting books and records of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiary, limitation of scope concerning interest in associate
and scope of limitation concerning revenue, cost of sales and
impairment of trade receivables for the purpose of our audit.

Therefore, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to enable us to assess the possible effects of
the disclaimed matters relating to those matters, including
(i) the incomplete accounting books and records of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiary; (i) limitation of scope concerning
interest in associate; and (iii) limitation concerning revenue,
cost of sales and impairment of trade receivables. Any
adjustments to the opening balances as at 1 January
2023 found to be necessary may affect the balance of
accumulated losses as at 1 January 2023 and the results and
related disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023. The comparative figures shown in the consolidated
financial statements may not be comparable with the figures
for the current year.

Related party transactions

Having considered the above matters, significant scope
limitations were identified during the audit, including but not
limited to:

1. Inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to ascertain the nature, terms, and economic substance
of related party transactions;

2. Insufficient documentation and transparency regarding
the identification of related parties and the valuation of
transactions with such parties; and

3. Lack of reliable confirmations or explanations
from management and third parties regarding the
completeness and accuracy of related party disclosures.
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5. Related party transactions (Continued)

Consequently, we could not conclude whether all related party
relationships, transactions, and balances were appropriately
identified, measured, and disclosed in compliance with HKFRS
Accounting Standard or applicable local accounting standards.
The significance of these limitations precluded the auditor
from forming an opinion on whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, including
misstatements arising from fraud or error in relation to related
party transactions.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standard (“HKFRSs") issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2 B S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and to issue an auditor’s report. We
report solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibilities towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. However, because of the matter
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report,
we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

OTHER MATTERS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 were audited by the previous auditor of
the Group who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements
on 30 March 2023.

Confucius International CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fung Kar Heng Samantha
Practising Certificate Number: P08253

Hong Kong, 6 August 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GAEeBEaRkHMOEE KRR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F =+ -A=+—HIFEF

2023 2022
—EBEC-=HF T F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Likzs FHER FHTT
Revenue & 5 36,332 54,154
Direct operating costs BRI (15,991) (23,096)
Gross profit EF 20,341 31,058
Other income Hapdg A 7 1,933 2,195
Selling and distribution costs THE R KA (10,575) (10,317)
Administrative expenses THER (34,840) (30,171)
Impairment on trade and other B 5 K E At EUCRIE LA K
receivables and loan receivables, FEWE R ZRE - HIBRAEE]
net of reversal (6,162) (30)
Impairment on intangible assets EEERE (442) -
Net loss arising on deconsolidation REFUEGZRE ARMB AR
of subsidiary E1EFEE 34A (3,777) -
Unrealised loss on revaluation of BRATEBESAERZZ
financial assets at fair value through ~ BATSEE 2 A &I E1E
profit or loss (527) -
Fair value loss on contingent JEW S ARB 2 A FEEERE
consideration receivables 38 - (867)
Finance costs MsEA 8 (67) (540)
Share of result of an associate JEE— B2 A RIEE (2,122) -
Loss before income tax RRETSBLATE 18 (36,238) (8,672)
Income tax FriS %t 12 - -
Loss for the year KREEEE (36,238) (8,672)




Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
ReEEkEMEERE R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = HA=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—EBEC-=HF T F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Likzs FET FET
Other comprehensive (expense)/  H#2HE (%), W
income
Item that will not be reclassified to BTN EH ST Em A -
profit or loss:
Fair value (loss)/gain on equity ERATEEFARMEARE 2
instruments at fair value through BATEZ A FEE(ER),
other comprehensive income Wz (48,830) 27,752
Other comprehensive (expense)/  AFEEHMZ2E(BIR) K -
income for the year, net of tax HBRFLE (48,830) 27,752
Total comprehensive (expense)/ AEEREFEX) WEEE
income for the year (85,068) 19,080
Loss for the year attributable to: UTATEEERFEESS
Equity shareholders of the Company  ZNA BJ#E25ILER (35,934) (8,850)
Non-controlling interests SRR (304) 178
(36,238) (8,672)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ LTATEEZEBIX),
income attributable to: WERAEEE -
Equity shareholders of the Company  ZANA RIS AL R (84,764) 18,902
Non-controlling interests FEIE R i (304) 178
(85,068) 19,080
Loss per share BREE
- Basic and diluted —EHARANEE 14 (HK7.90 (HK1.98
centsiEl) cents/& 1)




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR R

As at 31 December 2023
R-F=Z=F1+=-HA=1+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-HF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Likzs FHER FHTT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHEE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Intangible assets mEE 15 520 962
Property, plant and equipment M - R N 16 2,944 395
Right-of-use assets FREREE 17 2,342 1,797
Investment in an associate REERF 2 IRE 35 13,922 -
Equity instruments at fair value through 1ZAFEET A K2 AU
other comprehensive income ZBRAT A 20 59,625 107,616
Financial asset at fair value through BATEEFABRZVEERE
profit or loss 19 5,574 3,620
Loan receivables FEUE R 21 - 776
Deposits and prepayments e RIBER® 24 - 9,362
84,927 124,528
Current assets REEE
Inventories BB 22 - 188
Trade receivables B G EINGIA 23 1,878 5,627
Other receivables, deposits and EAEUGRIA « e RTERRK
prepayments 24 6,673 8,102
Loan receivables JEWE TR 21 739 1,166
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEEER 26 30,081 69,917
39,371 85,000
Current liabilities mEEE
Contract liabilities AHaE 25 884 1,512
Trade and other payables g5 NEMERFIE 27 6,760 9,980
Current portion of lease liabilities HEaFE 2 BIEE, 28 1,050 1,313
Provision for taxation IR S - 62
8,694 12,867
Net current assets REBEESRE 30,677 72,133
Total assets less current liabilities #EERRSHAME 115,604 196,661




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR R

As at 31 December 2023
R-F=Z=F1+=H=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-HF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B eE FHET THETT
Non-current liabilities
Non-current portion of lease liabilities A& & &2 3FEIHAZE D 28 1,299 533
1,299 533
Net assets 114,305 196,128
EQUITY
Share capital 30 91,107 89,323
Reserves 23,198 106,360
Equity attributable to shareholders RA AR B
of the Company 114,305 195,683
Non-controlling interests 34 - 445
Total equity 114,305 196,128
On behalf of the directors REEF

Yiu Sze Wai
kB
Director

EFE

Chung Anita Mei Yiu
EXE

Director

EFE



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F =+ -A=+—HIFEF

Attrbutable to equty shareholders of the Company

KLAERRERR
Employee Investment Non-
Share Share  compensation  revaluation Merger ~ Contrbuted ~ Accumulated controling
capital premium Tesere Tesene felerse surplus [osses Tota nterests~ Total equity
B8 7

e TiriE BEGE EiRE i #ARg ZifEg At FiRER Eag

HK$'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HK§ 000 HK$'000

Tin 1 Tin Tin Tin T T Tin Tin Tin
(note30))  (ote32a)  (ote32b)  (ote32c)  (note32d)  (note 32fe)
() ) sae) () (EBaG) (KB

Balance at 1 January 2022 AoETE-R-AvER 8933 182,310 2955 52,550 (#B.897) 95,402 (181,882) 176,781 27 177,048

Loss for the year KEERE - - - - - - (8850) (8,850) 78 8672
Other comprehensive income Ah2EhE
Change in fair vaue on equity nstuments R AT &R A EH2EYEL

atfainvalue through other comprehensive T2 7 AFEREE)

income - - - 20,75 - - - 2752 - 2075

Total comprehensive income FEEAARRER
for the year - - - 175 - - (8,850) 18,902 178 19,080

Balance at 31 December 2022 HZB-ZEtZR=T-RZE4 89323 162310 2975 80,302 (B897) 95,402 (190,732 195,683 45 19,128




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FREERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = HA=+—HIFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KATRRRREL
Employee ~ Investment Non-
Share Share  compensation  revaluation Merger  Contributed ~ Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve Teserve Teverse surplus losses Total interests  Total equity
L] b
Jies bitii BERE EfiER A0EE EIY:] 2ithE at FERES ExiE
HK§'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HKS'000
TR Tin T TR Tn Tin T TR Tn Tin
(note30)  (note32a))  (note32(b)  (note32c)  (note32(d)  (note32(e)
(K30 (WEn)  (hasab)  (ME3d0)  (WEsad)  (Esoe)
Balance at 1 January 2023 NE-=E-f-HER 89313 162,310 2975 80302 (#3897) 95,402 (190732) 195,683 U5 196,128
Share options exercised RE 1784 21% (1,190) - - - 3390 3,390
Share st expenses gL - U] - - - - 0] - “
Shre options lapsed BRNERE - (1785) - - 1785 - -
Transactions with equity shareholders EEHRE /2% 1784 PR (299) - - 1785 3386 3386
Loss for the year KEERE - - - (3594 (35.934) (304) (36,39)
Other comprehensive expense Hf2ERYL
Change i far value on equity instruments AT B AEH2ENE?
atfairvale through other comprehensiie R T2 AFERED)
income - (48,830) - - (48,830) (48,830)
Total comprehensive expense KEERTRSAE
for the year - (48.830) - (35.934) (84,764) (304) (85,068)
Disposal of a subsidiary HEKELA - - - - - (141) (141)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R-B-ZETZA=t-Regs 91,107 165,102 - 34n (#3897) 95,402 (204,881) 114305 114,305




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = - H=F—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-=F - F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt e FET FHT
Cash flows from operating activities KEEECRERE
Loss before income tax BRPTISTLATEE (36,238) (8,672)
Adjustments for: FEE
Depreciation of property, plant and M BELRBIIE
equipment 16 455 205
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEECITE 17 1,519 1,850
Impairment on trade and other E 5 N HAth FEUGRIA LA K FE U
receivables and loan receivables, B ZAE - MR
net of reversal 6,162 30
Impairment on intangible assets mZEEZRE 15 442 -
Exchange adjustment on financial BRATVEESAER T
assets at fair value through BERE AR
profit of loss 19 -
Gain on early termination of lease REHIEEE 2 e (126) -
Fair value loss on contingent FER S ARE 2 A EEEE
consideration receivables 38 - 867
Gain on disposals of property, plant HEWE -« BE k&=
and equipment 7 (70) -
Net loss arising on deconsolidation of ~ ZREEUHLRE ARKEBARZ
subsidiary R 34A 3,777 -
Interest expenses MERX 8 67 540
Interest income FLEUA 7 (381) (1,009)
Share of result of an associate e i /NG 2,122 -
Unrealised loss on revaluation of EHRATFEBEFAEGZ
financial assets at fair value MBS EE 2 AREREE
through profit or loss 527 -
Operating loss before working capital ~ Z@ &S B BAT 2 KL EE
changes (21,725) (6,189)
Decrease in inventories FERL 188 409
Decrease/(increase) in trade and B S RAMBWFIE - Re
other receivables, deposits and AR FER 5B (3E00)
prepayments 5,697 (1,377)
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities & #BECHL), LN (552) 546
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other & 5 RHMENFTIE L),/
payables = n (3.260) 502
Cash used in operations CEEFFTARS (19,652) (6,109)
Income taxes paid EATFTEEL - (20)
Net cash used in operating activities AR TR I % H R (19,652) (6,129)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = HA=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-=F - F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt e FHET FHT
Cash flows from investing activities REXEHREHRE
Interest received EHLE 381 767
Investment in an associate R—HEE QR ZIRE 35 (16,044) -
Purchase of financial asset at fair value BB AF(EEFABEZ
through profit or loss MBEE (2,500) (3,620)
Deposits and prepayments for e RINETENH
investments - (9,362)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWME - BRERFE 2GS
plant and equipment FRIE 70 -
Repayment from third parties for loan = EBEIKER
receivables 2,000 8,000
Loan to third party BTE=ZFZER (2,000) -
Purchase of equity investments BEERATEESAEM
at fair value through other 2HEWE 2 R E
comprehensive income 20 (839) -
Purchases of intangible assets BEERPEE - (962)
Purchases of property, plant and BEME  WELRE
equipment (3.004) (480)
Net cash outflow on deconsolidation BN A A EMBARZES
of subsidiary Tk H 347 (132) -
Net cash used in investing activities KERBHTHRE L/ F5E (22,068) (5,657)
Cash flows from financing activities FEXB>HRLERE
Repayments of other borrowing BEEMEE - (4,318)
Interest paid on other borrowing ENEMEETE - (478)
Repayment to director BEES - (1,093)
Repayments of principal portion of lease EEHERE 2 AL 5%
liabilities 37 (1,435) (1,540)
Interest paid on lease liabilities EREERENS 37 (67) (62)
Proceeds from shares issued on exercise 7T AR 31T 2
of share options I 10 FTiS kI8 3,390 -
Share issue expenses paid BRRMNEITHX (4) -
Net cash from/(used in) financing BB S (T )2 F5E
activities 1,884 (7,491)
Net decrease in cash and cash HeRRLEEEARDFEE
equivalents (39,836) (19,277)
Cash and cash equivalents at R—A—AzRERELEE
1 January IHH 69,917 89,194
Cash and cash equivalents at RT+-B=+t—HzR&R
31 December BEEEER 30,081 69,917




GENERAL INFORMATION

Allegro Culture Limited (formerly known as Kingkey
Intelligence Culture Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
on 13 March 2000 and redomiciled to Bermuda by way of
de-registration in the Cayman Islands and continuation as an
exempted company under the laws of Bermuda, with limited
liability on 29 January 2003. The address of the Company’s
registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and its principal place of business
is Room 1506, 15/F, Wing On Centre, 111 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong. The Company'’s shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“SEHK").

The Company acts as an investment holding company and
provides corporate management services. Details of the
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 34
to the consolidated financial statements. The Company and
its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group”
hereafter.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 were approved for issue by the board of
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) on 6 August 2025.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements on pages 83 to
207 have been prepared in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards, which collective term includes
all applicable individual HKFRS Accounting Standards
("HKFRSs"”), Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated
financial statements also include the applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the SEHK.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = - H=F—HIFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = HA=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The material accounting policies that have been used
in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are summarised below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented
unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new or
amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, if any, are disclosed
in note 3.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under historical cost convention except for
certain financial instruments, which are stated at fair
values. The measurement bases are described in the
accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRSs 2
“Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRSs 16 “Leases”
("HKFRSs 16"), and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in
use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. Although these
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge
and judgement of current events and actions, actual
results may ultimately differ from those estimates.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements,
are disclosed in note 4.

Basis of deconsolidation

On 21 February 2024, 23 February 2024, 18 March
2024 and 18 April 2024, the Company announced
that, the Company became aware in recent months
that the Group was unable to obtain the books and
records and relevant supporting documents such
as bank statements and vouchers (the “Books and
Records”) from its Hong Kong based subsidiary, KK
Wecheck Medical Technology Limited (“KK Wecheck”).
As a subsidiary of the Group, all books, records, and
operations of KK Wecheck were, at all material times,
maintained and controlled by the Group's former
Director.

The Company had formally requested KK Wecheck to
provide necessary assistance in preparing and auditing
the Group’s management accounts. Notwithstanding
the Company’s repeated requests, KK Wecheck failed
to respond or provide the Books and Records to the
Company.

e MBRRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = HA=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Basis of deconsolidation (Continued)

In light of the above, the Company has engaged
legal counsel to file writ of summons with the High
Court of Hong Kong against the former Director of
the Group, for, among other things, (1) breaches of
fiduciary duties and/or knowing receipt of benefits
from such breaches; (2) procurement of payments
to entities without consent and/or authorization; (3)
failure to maintain adequate books, accounts and
records resulting the Group unable to locate certain
assets, documents, records and accounting evidence,
thereby causing hindrance and/or inability to complete
compilation of financial information and the audit
process; and (4) damages, equitable compensation and
such further and/or other reliefs as the Court thinks
fit. On the other hand, the Group has engaged an
independent forensic investigator to investigate and
prepare a forensic investigation (the “Investigation
Report”) to consider the effect of the relevant events.
Based on the findings in the Investigation Report and
after careful consideration, the Board was of the view
that the Company no longer has: (a) control over the
KK Wecheck; (b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the KK Wecheck; or (c) the
ability to use its power over the KK Wecheck to affect
the amount of the Company’s returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Basis of deconsolidation (Continued)

Due to the situation described above, the directors
of the Company (the “Directors”) considered that
the Group was unable to exercise its rights as the
shareholder either to control the assets and operations
of the KK Wecheck or to exercise the decision-making
rights over the KK Wecheck. As such, the Directors
further considered that it is inappropriate to consolidate
the financial results of the KK Wecheck into the Group.
The Directors have resolved to deconsolidate the KK
Wecheck with effect from 1 July 2023, the date when
the Directors considered that it had effectively lost
control of the KK Wecheck. In addition, the Directors
were of the view that the recoverability of the amounts
due from the KK Wecheck were remote and do not
expect to be able to recover the outstanding balances
in the foreseeable future.

Financial impact on deconsolidation

The deconsolidation had resulted in a net loss arising
on deconsolidation of subsidiaries of approximately
HK$3,777,000 and impairment loss on amounts due
from the KK Wecheck of approximately HK$3,585,000
have been recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31December 2023, as the Board was of the
view that the carrying values of the amounts due from
the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries were not recoverable
in the foreseeable future.

e MBRRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = - H=F—HIFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and balances
between group companies together with unrealised
profits are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in
which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the effective dates of acquisition or up to
the effective dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with those used by other members of
the Group.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's
interest and non-controlling interest are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by
which non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2

2.3

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and
(ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are
accounted for in the same manner as would be required if
the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: power over the investee, exposure, or rights,
to variable returns from the investee, and the ability to
use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is
reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate
that there may be a change in any of these elements of
control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment loss.
The results of the subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable at the reporting date. All dividends whether
received out of the investee’s pre or post-acquisition
profits are recognised in the Company’s profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the
equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate. When the
Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group's net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment
in an associate, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

24

Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRSs 9, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value
is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest
in the associate is included in the determination of the
gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate on the same basis as would be
required if that associate had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit
or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/
partial disposal of the relevant associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$"), which is also the
functional currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the
consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions are
translated into the functional currency of the individual
entity using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. At the reporting date, monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the
reporting date retranslation of monetary assets and
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. When a fair value gain or loss on
a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is also
recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value gain or
loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are
measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual
financial statements of foreign operations, originally
presented in a currency different from the Group’s
presentation currency, have been converted into HK$.
Assets and liabilities have been translated into HK$
at the closing rates at the reporting date. Income
and expenses have been converted into HK$ at the
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at
the average rates over the reporting period provided
that the exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly.
Any differences arising from this procedure have
been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in the exchange reserve in
equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at acquisition
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is
provided to write off their costs over their estimated
useful lives, using straight-line method, at the following
rates per annum:

Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment 20%
Computer equipment and system 33%
Motor vehicles 20%

The assets’ depreciation method and estimated useful
lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
reporting period.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is
determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other costs, such as repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

Goodwiill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the
excess of the aggregate of consideration transferred,
the amount recognised for non-controlling interests
and the fair value of the Group’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities exceed the fair value of
consideration paid, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and the fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree, the
excess is recognised in profit or loss on the acquisition
date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units (“CGU") that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A
CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually, and whenever there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial
year, the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that financial
year. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less
than the carrying amount of the unit, impairment loss
is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill
allocated to the unit first, and then to other assets of
the unit on the pro-rata basis of the carrying amount to
each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill
is recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed in
subsequent periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Financial instruments

(a)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is
initially measured at fair value plus, for an item
not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable
to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable
without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised
cost are subsequently measured using effective
interest method. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

2.

BEASHBEREUE 2

2.8

IR

(a)

MBEE
MBEE(LEEREE N
2 8 5 FEYGRIRRR M) 1)
FRAFEEE - HEH
WIEE BIEEE N FEED
R(IEBEREATEED
BR1) - RIS INE W B TT
HEEREBEXDHERA - LES
REbE B0 2 8 5 RURIR
F R HERE

BV BEEZERERN
MR 5 A H (B A& B AGE
BEIMEZEEZ A
R BREBERR KRS
MBI EPIERETEHBEA
RNEECHHEEERR -

EH TR

EHTAZERFTEIURR
AEBMEREE CEHEN
REEZHRESRERR - K
SESBHEEKRTASEAM
fEErE8En

BHRR W AWEA KR
TREMFEZEEZRS
MEERINAZEANE
Al 3% % & B 1% 35 A AT
B o REBIEN AT BB
BEHERRAERMEIAR
2 o MBHA - SMNEW K
B3 1B A OB (B 19 10 48 a5 B
Ao RIEHER Z E sk
EENBmER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

FVTPL: These include financial assets held
for trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition at FVTPL, or financial
assets mandatorily required to be measured
at fair value. Financial assets are classified
as held for trading if they are acquired for
the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the
near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments. Financial assets
with cash flows that are not solely payments
of principal and interest are classified and
measured at FVTPL, irrespective of the business
model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt
instruments to be classified at amortised cost
or at fair value through other comprehensive
income ("FVOCI"), debt instruments may be
designated at FVTPL on initial recognition if
doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial assets (Continued)
Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment
that is not held for trading, the Group could
irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in the investment’s fair value in other
comprehensive income. This election is made
on an investment-by-investment basis. Equity
investment at FVOCI is measured at fair value.
Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss
unless the dividend income clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of the investments.
Other net gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income and are not
reclassified to profit or loss. All other equity
instruments are classified as FVTPL, whereby
changes in fair value, dividends and interest
income are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit loss (“ECL") on trade receivables
and financial assets measured at amortised cost.
ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases: (1) 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that
result from possible default events within the
12-months after the reporting date; and (2)
lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from
all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. The maximum
period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

The Group measures loss allowances for
trade receivables using HKFRSs 9 “Financial
Instruments” (“HKFRSs 9”) simplified approach
and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs.
The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are
based on 12-month ECLs. However, when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
since origination, the allowance will be based
on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information
analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = HA=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

(o)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower is
unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is held);
or (2) the financial asset is more than 90 days
past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial
assets is calculated based on amortised cost (i.e.
the gross carrying amount less loss allowance)
of the financial asset. For non credit-impaired
financial assets, interest income is calculated
based on the gross carrying amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the
liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities at
amortised costs are initially measured at fair
value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
trade and other payables, other borrowing,
amounts due to a director and lease liabilities
are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method. The related
interest expense is recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy for borrowing cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

(9]

(d)

(e)

(f)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the amortisation process.

Effective interest method

This is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income or interest expense
over the relevant period. Effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts or payments through the expected
life of the financial asset or liability, or where
appropriate, a shorter period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRSs 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = HA=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

2.9

Financial instruments (Continued)

(f) Derecognition (Continued)

Where the Group issues its own equity
instruments to a creditor to settle a financial
liability in whole or in part as a result of
renegotiating the terms of that liability, the
equity instruments issued are the consideration
paid and are recognised initially and measured
at their fair value on the date the financial
liability or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair
value of the equity instruments issued cannot
be reliably measured, the equity instruments
are measured to reflect the fair value of the
financial liability extinguished. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial
liability or part thereof extinguished and the
consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss
for the year.

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and
subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost
is calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must
incur to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
in hand and demand deposits, and short-term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are payable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash in hand and at banks, including term deposits,
and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognise at cost. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over
their estimated useful lives and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful lives are reviewed at least at each financial
year end. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
that are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = HA=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHHEHE®)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Lease 212 #HE

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRSs
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the

Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is
located or restoring the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = HA=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHHEHE®)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Lease (Continued) 212 HE#E)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRSs 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if

the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Lease (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHHEHE®)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Lease (Continued) 212 HE#E)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13

2.14

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control
of the Group. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is
recognised.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital
is determined using the nominal value of shares that
have been issued.

Any transaction costs associated with the issue of
shares are deducted from share premium (net of any
related income tax benefit) to the extent they are
incremental costs directly attributable to the equity
transaction.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHHEHE®)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Revenue recognition 215 WaRER

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
any sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
service may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods or service is transferred over
time if the Group's performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

° creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods or service.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHHEHE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Revenue recognition (Continued) 215 WEERE)

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amounts receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception.
Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to
the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For
contracts where the period between the payment and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for
the effects of a significant financing component, using
the practical expedient in HKFRSs 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” (“HKFRSs 15").

(i) Provision of advertising services

Advertising income is recognised over time as
the Group has determined that the customers
simultaneously receive and consume the
benefits of the Group’s performance. Invoices
are issued according to contractual terms and
are usually payable within 0 to 120 days.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Sales of medical and health products

Revenue from sale of medical and health
products is recognised upon the goods
delivered, which is the point in time when
customer has ability to direct the use and obtain
the control of the goods and the goods have
been accepted by customer.

E-commerce

Revenue from e-commerce (mainly in sales
of household and personal care products) is
recognised upon the goods delivered, which
is the point in time when customer has ability
to direct the use and obtain the control of the
goods and the goods have been accepted by
customer.

Provision of IP development design service
income

IP development design service income is
recognised upon over time as the Group has
determined that the customers simultaneously
receive and consume the benefits of the
Group's performance. Invoices are issued
according to contractual terms and are usually
payable within 7 days.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on
the principal outstanding at the applicable
interest rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.16

2.17

Contract liabilities

Contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other
than goodwill)

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets are subject to impairment testing.

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life
are not subject to amortisation and are tested for
impairment annually. All other assets are tested for
impairment whenever there are indications that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value,
reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal and
value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessment of time value of money and the risk
specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent from those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash generating unit (“"CGU")).
As a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at CGU level.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17

2.18

Impairment of non-financial assets (other
than goodwill) (Continued)

Impairment losses are charged pro rata to the assets in
the CGU, except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value less cost
of disposal, or value-in-use, if determinable.

An impairment loss on assets other than goodwill is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable
amount and only to the extent that the asset’s carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation, if no impairment loss has been
recognised.

Employee benefits

(i) Retirement benefit schemes

The Group participates in a Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the laws of Hong
Kong) for qualifying employees of the Group
in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group
in funds under the control of independent
trustees. The Group contributes at the lower of
HK$1,500 or 5% of relevant monthly payroll
costs to the MPF Scheme, which contribution
is matched by employees. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF Scheme vest fully and
immediately with the employees. Accordingly,
there were no forfeited contributions available
for the Group to reduce its existing level of
contributions to the MPF Scheme.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

Share-based employee compensation

The Group operates two equity-settled share-
based compensation plans, which were share
option scheme and share award scheme to
recognise and motivate the contribution from
its staff and directors.

For share options granted by the Group, the
share-based compensation is recognised as
an expense in the Group's statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income
with a corresponding credit to the employee
compensation reserve.

All employee services received in exchange for
the grant of any share-based compensation are
measured at their fair values. The fair value is
measured at the grant date using applicable
option-pricing models, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have
to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to options, the total
estimated fair value of the share options is
spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the options will
vest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Share-based employee compensation
(Continued)

For share award scheme, when the trustee
purchases the Company’s shares from the
open market, the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs,
is presented as share award scheme reserve
and deducted from total equity. No gain
or loss is recognised on the transactions
of the Company’s own shares. When the
trustee transfers the Company’s shares to the
grantees upon vesting, the related costs of
the granted shares vested are transferred to
share award scheme reserve. Accordingly, the
related expense of the granted shares vested
is transferred from employee compensation
reserve. The difference arising from such
transfer is debited or credited to retained
earnings. At the end of the reporting period,
the Group revises its estimates of the number of
shares that are expected to ultimately vest. The
impact of the revision of the estimates, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding
adjustment to employee compensation reserve.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an
expense for bonuses where it has a contractual
obligation or where there is a past practice that
has created a constructive obligation.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the reporting date. Non-
accumulating compensated absences such
as sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = - H=F—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHHEHE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Government grant 2.19 BUFHEL

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets (including property, plant and
equipment) are recognised as deferred income in the
statement of financial position and transferred to profit
or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful
lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable and are recognised as other income, rather
than reducing the related expense.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market
rate of interest is treated as a government grant,
measured as the difference between proceeds received
and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing
market interest rates.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Borrowing costs

2.21

Borrowing costs incurred for the acquisition,
construction or production of any qualifying asset are
capitalised during the period of time that is required to
complete and prepare the asset for its intended use.
A qualifying asset is an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended
use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed when
incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale are being undertaken.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
complete.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHHEHE®)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Taxation (Continued) 2.21 FHIE#E)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwvill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHHEHE®)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Taxation (Continued) 2.21 FHIE#E)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = - H=F—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHHEHE®)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Segment reporting 222 HEFHE

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the Directors for
their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group's business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information
reported to the executive directors are determined
following the Group’s major product and service lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable and
operating segments:

- Advertising — providing advertisement services
on different publications, magazines and other
advertising media;

- Sales of medical and health products — selling
the various type of medical and health product
(including reagent) for health checks;

- E-Commerce — selling internationally imported
household and personal care products to
E-commerce platform; and

- IP development design service income —
providing IP coding optimisation and refinement
services according to individual project
requirement.

Each of these operating segments is managed
separately as each of product and service lines requires
different resources as well as marketing approaches. All
inter-segment transfer are carried-out at arm’s length
prices.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHHEHE®)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Segment reporting (Continued) 222 HBHEE)

The measurement policies the Group uses for
reporting segment results under HKFRSs 8 “Operating
Segments” ("HKFRSs 8”) are the same as those used
in its consolidated financial statements prepared under
HKFRSs, except that:

o corporate expense

o expenses related to share-based payments
o finance costs

° income tax

are not included in arriving at the operating results of
the operating segments.

Segment assets include all assets but corporate assets
which are not directly attributable to the business
activities of any operating segment.

Segment liabilities exclude corporate liabilities which
are not directly attributable to the business activities
of any operating segment and are not allocated to
a segment. These include deferred tax liabilities and
liabilities incurred for financing rather than operating
purposes.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to
reportable segments.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Related parties

(@

A person or a close member of that person’s

family is related to the Group if that person:

(iii)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the
Company's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions apply:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHHEHE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Related parties (Continued) 223 FB@EAL(E
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the by EENEANTEMMGNS
following conditions apply: (Continued) - EAREEFHBE:
(%)
(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit (v) ERERANEE M
plan for the benefit of the employees REBBBEE
of the Group or an entity related to the BB RAFTRL 2 B
Group. s ENETEl -
(vii  The entity is controlled or jointly vy EBEBX@FAEATLT
controlled by a person identified in (a). PRI Sk EE S 12 o
(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has iy @OFTREALTHE
significant influence over the entity RBUEBEAZELR
or is a member of key management ERIZEEEER
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of RIZFZEEBREEA
the entity). 8o
(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group (i) ZEBIEMEBESE
of which it is a part, provides key ZAERIAK B M A&
management personnel services to the DFN/NCI SN E
Group or to the Company's parent. HEZEREAER
% o
Close members of the family of a person are those ZAANTZRIERTRAERKE G
family members who may be expected to influence, or BHEBRHLZBATHIES
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the 27 KRR B BIE -
entity and include:
) that person’s children and spouse or domestic (i) ZBANT 2 FrEEEE
partner; EfHE
(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic (ii) ZaANTZEENEEHE
partner; and ZFE R
(i) dependents of that person or that person’s (i) mBATHZBALTZEE

spouse or domestic partner. FEEHFEIZEA -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs

3.1

New or amended HKFRSs which are effective
during the year

During the year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following amended HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA, which are relevant to and effective for the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
annual period beginning on 1 January 2023:

HKFRSs 17 (including Insurance Contracts
the October 2020

and February 2022

Amendments to

HKFRSs 17)

Amendments to Definition of Accounting

HKAS 8 Estimates
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets
HKAS 12 and Liabilities arising from a

Single Transaction

Amendments to International Tax Reform - Pillar

HKAS 12 Two Model Rules
Amendments to

HKAS 1 and HKFRSs

Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Except as described below, the application of these
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current or prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

3.2

New or amended HKFRSs which are issued
but not yet effective

The following new or amended HKFRSs have been
issued but are not yet effective, and have not been
adopted early by the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 7
and HKAS 7

Amendments to HK Int 5

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 21

Amendments to HKFRS 7
and HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 18

Amendments to HKFRS 19

Amendments to HKFRS10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards -
Volume 11

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback'

Supplier Finance Arrangements'

Amendments in relation to
Amendments to HKAS 1'

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current (the "2020
Amendments”)"-¢

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2020 Amendments")"®

Lack of Exchangeability?

Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments®

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements*

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures*

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture®

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity®

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 73

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs

(Continued)

3.2

New or amended HKFRSs which are issued
but not yet effective (Continued)

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027.

No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption.

As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and
2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align
the corresponding wording with no change in
conclusion.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the

application of the above amendments to HKFRSs will

have no material impact on the consolidated financial

statements in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
requires management to make judgement, estimates and
assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

(i Estimated impairment of trade receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate
impairment of trade receivables. The provision rates
are based on the past collection history as groupings
of various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The
provision matrix is based on the Group's historical
default rates taking into consideration forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered. In addition,
trade receivables with significant balances and credit
impaired are assessed for impairment individually.

4,

BARE T at R H &
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Estimated impairment of loan receivables

The Group reviews its portfolios to assess impairment
at the end of each reporting period. In determining
the amount of impairment that should be recorded
in profit or loss, the Group makes judgements as to
whether there is any observable data indicating that
there is @ measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows from a portfolio before the decrease can
be identified with an individual in that portfolio. This
evidence may include observable data indicating that
there has been an adverse change in the payment
status of the debtors, or both current and forecast
general economic conditions. Management uses
estimates based on historical loss experience for assets
with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence
of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when
scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology
and assumptions used for estimating both the amount
and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly
to reduce any differences between loss estimates and
actual loss experience.

Depreciation

The Group depreciates property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets using straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives, starting from the date on
which the assets are available from use. The estimated
useful lives reflect the directors’ best estimate of
the periods that the Group intends to derive future
economic benefits from the use of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
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(i)

(iii)
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(iv)

Current taxation and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong.
Significant judgement is required in determining the
amount of the provision of taxation and the timing
of the related tax. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
Where the final outcome of the tax matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

5. REVENUE

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of

advertising services, sale of medical and health products,

e-commence business and Provision of IP development design

service income.

4,

RS R A =)

(iv) ENHABRERIELER IR
REBEABHNBBAFR - REE
PR & 8 LB R 2 B R
AEHEBERAE - HEEKBRESD
BABHUEERARAZRS R
FHE o WRATFERERICE
ZEBTRA - FRERSFEFEL
AR EHREZEHEME -

iy 28

AEBZTEXBRAREESRS - HE
BRELREER - ETRHEBAREHRP
FAEEERAETARTS WA o

2023 2022
—EZ=HF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers R BB ISIRELERIFE 1557 HE A

within the scope of HKFRSs 15: KEEPERZ M
Provision of advertising services RHESRS 32,483 33,143
Sale of medical and health products HEERERREER 373 13,475
E-commerce business B REEER 2,900 7,536
Provision of IP development design service 2{tIPFIZE R IR 576 -
36,332 54,154
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REVENUE (Continued)

In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by primary

geographical market, major products and service lines and

timing of revenue recognition.

e M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F =+ -A=+—HIFEF

5. WH#)

RTR RWERTEMETS  T2EM
Ko ARG 8 A K M s T AR A R 9 9% o

Sales of medical and IP development design
Advertising health products E-commerce service income Total
HERBRREER E78#% IPEERHREBRA GH
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZSIZE | ZECCF | ZBIZE | CZCCF | CBIZE | C5CCF | CBIZE | CRCCF | CBIZE | Z5CC
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR T TER TiEn TR TR TR TiEn TR T
Primary geographical ~ TEHET
market
Hong Kong E5 248 | 318 M| 13475 2900 - 576 S| 3| 6618
Mainland China hEI - - - - - 75% - - - 75%
32483 33183 n 13475 2,900 7536 576 - 36,332 54,154
Majorproductsand ~ FEERRRHEHE
service lines
Provision of advertisng ~ JE LR E SR
services 32483 3143 - - - - - - 32483 3143
Sele of medical and heatth  HEEBRREER
products - - 3n 13475 - - - - n 13475
Sdeofhosehddand  HEFRREAERE
personal care products m - - - - 2,900 7,53 - - 2,900 7,53
Provision of P development 2 (EIPFIEFR5F RS
design service - - - - - - 576 - 576 -
32483 33,143 313 13475 2,900 7536 576 - 36332 54,154
Timing of revenue WEEIRS
recognition
At point in time RE-REH - - n 13475 2,900 75% - - 31 21,011
Transferred over time T-REhEz 32,483 3,143 - - - - 576 - 33,059 3,143
32483 33,143 33 13475 2,900 7536 576 - 36332 54,154
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REVENUE (continued)

The following table provides information about trade
receivables and contract liabilities from contracts with

EHERHE)

THIEMESEURBERKARS ALY
AHBEER

customers:
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBxT FETT
Trade receivables (Note 23) B S IE (E23) 1,878 5,627
Contract liabilities (Note 25) aHamEFEE25) 884 1,512

Contract liabilities mainly relate to the advance consideration
received from customers. HK$1,512,000 of the contract
liabilities as of 31 December 2022 was recognised as revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2023 from as performance
obligations were satisfied due to the completion of services.

The Group has applied the practical expedient to its sales
contracts for advertising services, sales of medical and health
products and the E-commerce business and therefore the
above information does not include information about
revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies
the remaining performance obligations under the contracts
for advertising services, the E-commerce business and sale of
household and personal care products that had an original
expected duration of one year or less. No other consideration is
included in these sales contracts.

EHEBEFEHBKREFENRESRRS -
HRFB TR MBITRANEE R
F+ZA=T—RAZE&KEIE,512,000%
TEERABE S _—F+ A =+—
AIEFE 2 W -

AEBECEAANTRENEZNEESR
B HEBERREERARETERE
BRHEESYD Rt EAEMT FAEER
SERTRERAFRRS—FHATZE
EhRE - ETABEGAREERARE
AEEERNANERBENETRAREE
BzWEmER - HEEBEERNEES
EZFHERNT -
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors has identified the Group has four (2022:
three) reportable and operating segments as described in note
2.22. These operating segments are monitored and strategic
decisions are made on the basis of adjusted segment operating
results.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

e M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F =+ -A=+—HIFEF

6. HEWEH
WA 222500 - MOTEFERTALE
EM(—T-—%: S)ENSRREES
oo RBEEHHTIER - TEEHE

7B KA AR EEHRESIERTE ©

BE-Z_=F+-A=+—HLEE

Provision of  Sales of medical Provision of IP
advertising and health development
services products E-commerce design service Total
HEBER BipRE
RUEERE REER BT Rt hH &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn TEn Thn TR Thn
Segment revenue g 6 32483 m 2,900 576 36,332
Segment results A (595) (619) (2,004) (6,859) (10,077)
Reconciation: i -
Unallocated corporate income AOELEUA 1,035
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBGEER (21129
Finance costs HHER (67)
Loss before income tax RETEHAER (36,238)
Segment assets 2HEE 6,919 - 30,163 - 37,082
Reconcilation: i
Intangible assets BVAE 520
Property, plant and equipment EN T 2,938
Right-of-use assets frpEdE 1,809
Investment in an associate R-FERERARE 13922
Equity instruments at FVOC| BATEEF A2 ENG L
RAIA 59,625
Financial asset at FVTPL EATEESNER HBEE 3267
Loan receivables EUES 739
Other receivables, deposits AHENEE - RER
and prepayments EIES 748
Cash and cash equivalents ReLReZEER 3,648
Total assets gE 124,298
Segment liabiltes HHER 3327 - - - 330
Reconciliation: %
Lease liabilties HERE 1,802
Other payables EtEMTR 4,864
Totalliabilities 25 9993
Other segment information AbABER
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH , 1211 - - - 1211
Impairment on trade and other receivables  £5 R £t ENEERERER
and loan receivables, net of reversal HE TRED 1,690 - 2,868 1) 4,556
Interest income FEHA ) - (1) - (16)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

6. DHERE)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—E-—E+-A=+—AIEE
Provision of ~ Sales of medical Provision of IP
advertising and health development
services products E-commerce design service Total
HERER RAPRE ‘
REESRTS REER ETER Het % GHI
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn T TEn Th Tt
Segment revenue AHhE 3,143 13475 7,536 - 54,154
Segment results A 556 363 (944) - (29
Reconcilation: 8k -
Unallocated corporate income RABEEHA 1,115
Unallocated corporate expenses FARLEER (9,222)
Finance costs HBER (540)
Loss before income tax RAETREE (8672)
Segment assets THEE 10,636 6,105 5429 - 22,170
Reconcilation: 8% -
Intangible assets BlEE 92
Property, plant and equipment n% - BERRE 386
Right-of-use assets fRERE 305
Investment in an associate R-ERERACRE -
Equity instruments at FVOC| ROFEEFAL2EREL
RAIA 107,616
Finandial asset at FVTPL BOVEE ARG HRAE 3620
Loan receivables BlE 1942
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments £ fEIETE - B4R
B 8318
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRESERE 63,709
Total assets BEE 209,528
Segment liabilities AHEE 6,103 3,509 - - 9612
Reconciliation: HE:
Lease liabilities HERE 148
Other payables AthERTE 3,640
Totalliabilties 25 13,400
Other segment information AthARER
Depreciation and amortisation TERES . 1,251 . - - 1,251
Impairment on trade and other receivables 25 R i EE RERER
and loan receivables, net of reversal WE - MREE (170) 15 30 - (125

Interest income

HEMA
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The Group's revenue from external customers and its non-
current assets other than financial instruments are divided into

the following geographical areas.

e M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F =+ -A=+—HIFEF

TEER (=)
AEERAINREE 2 25 AR EIERE
BE(TEENBIL) SN AN THE -

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets
REMREFE 2 W= kRBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=F T F —EC-=F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET FHET
Hong Kong (domicile) BB (FBPEM) 36,332 46,618 5,806 3,154
Mainland China AR A - 7,536 - -
36,332 54,154 5,806 3,154

There is no inter-segment revenue earned by the segments in
both years.

Sales by geographical markets are analysed based on the
location of customers and the geographical location of non-
current assets is based on the physical location of the assets or
the location of the operation to which they are allocated.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as
follows:

H
=
A
Xt
>

© % EF D BB RN D B UL

BB mISE N 2 HENIRBEP AL
MIERDEEZHEMNEENEEERM
S ED B EEN LB M AN -

FEETEEFHNER
R FEER AR B AR KR 10% A L1
BEPWENT

2023 2022

—EC=HF —EF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FBT

Customer A BEPA N/ATER* 6,063
* The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of * HEREY ETRASBEATERK

the total revenue of the Group for the respective year.

No single customer contributed 10% or more of the Group’s
revenue in 2023.

#10% LA L ©

VEBBEFN - E_=FERAEELK
m10% A | °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

=z =FfT A=+ —HIFFE
7. OTHER INCOME 7. HtlA
2023 2022
—EB-=F —E- -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Interest income FBUA 381 1,009
Gain on disposals of property, plantand  HEWE - BE M & E 2 WS
equipment 70 _
Exchange gain R - 50
Government grant (Note) TR AL (P 3E) - 595
Sales of e-cigarette BFEHESE 316 -
Sundry income FETRUA 651 541
Waive of loan MRER 515 -
1,933 2,195
Note:  For the year ended 31 December 2022, included in profit or PizE E&i_i T+ ZRA=+—HBLF

loss amounted to approximately HK$595,000 of government
grants obtained from Employment Support Scheme (“ESS")
under the Anti-epidemic Fund launched by the Hong Kong
SAR Government supporting the payroll of the Group’s
employees. Under the ESS, the Group had to commit to spend
these grants on payroll expenses, and not reduce employee
head count below prescribed levels for a specified period of
time. The Group does not have unfulfilled obligations relating
to this program.

CET AR ) 3k 18 8 BOAT HE AL 4
5%0m%ﬁﬂ§§%%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%
HEHBEREES TR S ([R5
X DES  ARINAEEEES
& o RBREE - AEBERES
ZEMHMAMAETERY - BRIETHIM
THALEIABEERREKTE - A&
B EG BT EIN M AREITEE ©

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. HHKEA

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FT

Interest charges on other borrowing with  HftifEEZFaXE - EFEEE
repayment on demand clause RESCER AR - 478
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 67 62
67 540
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

9. BRFIEHAEE

2023 2022
—E=HF —E- -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Loss before income tax is arrived at after ~ BRFTEFRATESIEE R (GTA)
charging/(crediting): TFEIE
Auditor's remuneration (Note) ZERREN S (B ) 1,390 550
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BB KRB ITE(MEE16)
equipment (Note 16) 455 205
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEITE(M:E17)
(Note 17) 1,519 1,850
Employee benefit expense (including EERMNFAZ(BEZEME)
directors’ emoluments) (Note 11) (fzE11) 26,721 29,917
Exchange loss/(gain), net PE B8 (e ) 558 211 (50)
Gain on disposals of property, plant and HEME - BB R&H =
equipment (70) -
Impairment on trade and other receivables & 5 & E b FEUGRIE LA K B E 51
and loan receivables, net of reversal ZRME - kR 6,162 30
Cost of inventories recognised in direct RN EELEXNANTFERA
operating costs 3,133 16,735

Note: During the year, no auditor’'s remuneration for other service PisE

was paid (2022: nil).

FAAE Z R £ 7 S S E RS 2
e (ZF=——F &) -
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS

(a)

Directors’ emoluments

The aggregate amounts of the emoluments paid or

payable to the Directors are as follows:

10. EEMERER

(a)

ESME

EEEME

ENENESZHMEEEWT

Salaries,  Retirement
allowances benefit
Share-based  and benefits scheme
Fee payment inkind contributions Total
2 1914 BINEF
He I URRE BENER St &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr TiEx TiEn TET TEx
2023 —EC=E
Executive directors HITEZ
Ms. Yiu Sze Wai (Note (iif) B B4+ (W) 148 - - - 148
Mr. Chen Jiajun (Note (iv) PR (& 5 A (BT (v)) 120 - - - 120
Mr. Tsang Hing Bun (Note (v)) ~ Z2EE &4 (FiV) 400 - - - 400
Non-executive directors FHITES
Mr. Yiu Yu Cheung (Note (vi))  SKFH0%E A (FiFsE(vi) 420 - - - 420
Mr. Ma Fei (Note (vii)) SR (PEvii)) 49 - - - 49
Mr. Ng Wai Hung (Note (vii) RS (PR (vil)) 49 - - - 49
Mr. Shiu Shu Ming (Note (viil) ~ AR8A 5t 4 (B (vii) 80 - - - 80
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTES

directors
Mr. William Keith Jacobsen ERE&E ()

(Note (ix)) 80 - - - 80
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung, Alex BRa 120 - - - 120
Ms. Tang Po Lam Paulia (Note (i) Bb&34 1 (F(i) 120 - - - 120
Mr. Chai Chung Wai (Note (x)) BB B4 () 32 - - - 32

1,618 - - - 1,618
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

10. EEMERSREEEMNES &

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEMeE)
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
Share-based  and benefits scheme
Fee payment inkind  contributions Total
Fe 2R RIRGER
e BINE ENER BE- [ At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AL AL AL TEL
2022 —ECCE
Executive director HITES
Mr. Tsang Hing Bun EEELE 600 - - - 600
Non-executive director FHITES
Mr. Yiu Yu Cheung hFALE 630 - 815 - 1,445
Independent non-executive ~ BYFHTES
directors
Mr. William Keith Jacobsen ERELE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung, Alex BRIt L 120 - - - 120
Dr. Leung Ka Kit (Note (i)) 2B (BIEHG)) 10 - - - 10
Ms. Tang Po Lam Paulia (Note (i) BS&3 & £ (F (i) 110 - - - 110
1,590 - 815 - 2,405
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10. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

0

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

Resigned on 1 February 2022.

Appointed on 1 February 2022.

Appointed on 4 October 2023.

Appointed on 1 September 2023 and resigned on 20

May 2024.

Resigned on 25 September 2023.

Resigned on 22 September 2023.

Appointed on 24 September 2023 and resigned on 8
July 2024.

Appointed on 6 January 2023 and resigned on 24

September 2023.

Resigned on 1 September 2023.

Appointed on 24 September 2023 and resigned on
30 August 2024.

10. EEMERSREEEMNES &

(a)

EEME#)

BT -

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

R-B--F_-F—HBEH{E-

RZEZZF-_R—HEZE-

RIBZ=F+ANBPEZRE -

RZBE_=FNLA—HEZT -
YHR-_ZE-_WNFEFRA=-+HBE
fFo

RZEZ=FhLA=-+HAH
fFo

RZEZ=FhA=-+=AHH
fFo

RIZZZ=FNAZ+UBEESR
£ IR =T -mEL/N\BE
fFo

RIZTZ=F— A BEZF -
YR-ZE-—=FALA=-+MNAE
£

RZZEZ=FNA—HEHL -
RIZZZ=FNAZ+UBEESR

£ IR=ZZE_MFENA=+H
BHE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The executive director’s emoluments shown above
were mainly for his services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The non-executive director’'s emoluments
shown above were mainly for his services as director of
the Company or its subsidiaries. The independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services as directors of the Company.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
none of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration and there were no emoluments paid by
the Group to the Directors as an inducement to join, or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of
office.

Five highest paid individuals

In 2023, none of the Directors’ emoluments were
among the five highest-paid individuals. In 2022, the
five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year include one Director whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented
above. Emoluments paid or payable to the five (2022:

e M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F =+ -A=+—HIFEF

10. EEMERSREEEMNES &

(a)

(b)

EEME#)

NERMRATESTHEERE/K
BREEARBRAEEEHEL
2RI - A EFRIFRTTEEME
TRERREAARALENBER
BIESFEH IR - A EFRBL
FRTEEHE IR EARETR
ARBEEELZ IR -

REBEE-Z-_=Fp-_ZT_-—
+ZA=+—HLFE WEES
WESRAEREEMME - MAE
BN ESAME TES  EAR
SIEEMAREE SR IMALEE
e 2 SR X Skt AR (E -

AfuGEEHFMAL

R-ZZE=-=F BT ER
fiESHMALZI  c R-ZT=—
£ AEBREEZ ALK SEHH
ATBE—REE G
X2z AP RER - AEED
N ENRM (=T =% : 4T

remaining four) individuals during the year are as AT ZEHMnT -
follows:

2023 2022
—EC-=HE —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FiBT
Salaries, allowances and other benefits & ~ jZ28E R HAh@F| 9,146 13,100
Discretionary bonuses EIBIEAT 2,691 1,500
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3RKAE |5t E] 2k 36 15
11,873 14,615




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = HA=+—HIFE

10. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND SENIOR 10.

MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b)

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

AfUBSHMALE)
e FToIEE :

EEMERSREERME @)

Number of individuals

AB
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
Emolument bands B & E
Nil-HK$1,000,000 =2 1,000,000/87C 2 -
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001/ L2 1,500,000/ 7T 2 -
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,0017&7C 2,000,000/ 7T - 2
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000 2,500,001,87T23,000,00078 7T - 1
HK$3,000,001-HK$3,500,000 3,000,008 7% 3,500,000 7T - -
HK$7,500,001-HK$8,000,000 7,500,001/ T 28,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$8,000,001-HK$8,500,000 8,000,001,87TZ8,500,00078 7T 1 -
5 4
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, RBE_T_=FR_FT_C
no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the TZA=T—HLFE  FEEL

five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join

or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss

of office.

BEXNMEe FTRAUSRSFHMAL
ERR I REFMAREBE KN IA

REER 7 N X HIER

BB -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

e M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F =+ -A=+—HIFEF

1. EEEIHAX(BRESEHE)

2023 2022

—EC-=F —E-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FBxT FETT

Directors’ fees =Yk 1,618 1,590
Wages, salaries and other benefits T& - #FeREMmER 24,674 27,860
Retirement benefit scheme contributions — :R{RIEFET 217 429 467
26,721 29,917

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax under the two-
tiered profits tax rate regime. Under the two-tiered profits tax
rate regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity would be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2 million would be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime would continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Hong Kong Profits tax has not been provided for the current
year and prior year as the Group did not derive any assessable
profit in Hong Kong.

12. FrB%

AEBEAREFNSHMAHBAET BN
o REBEFNESHMAS  AEREEER
E2ABBTITENBZ8.25% KM - M
HiB2 B &8 T 2 M 2 16.5% B R
B PMEETNEHMANERZ SEER
M AR — TR 16.5 % BN LIR o

BN AN EE W EITRE B BN ERT G
A MAEAAFERBEFEEBED
MEH -
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e R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = HA=+—HIFE

12. INCOME TAX (Continued) 12. FRE®#)
Reconciliation between income tax and accounting loss at Fre MBI @A 58 2 2 BEYR
applicable tax rates is as follows: s
2023 2022
—E-=F -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Loss before income tax MRATSHATEIE (36,238) (8,672)
Notional tax calculated at the rates HEVIE - LZBERB A AR 2 E
applicable to the loss in the tax BEBAHETE
jurisdictions concerned (5,979) (1,431)
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue BARTMA 2 B2 (15) (119)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TAMBRAS 2 M2 2,141 30
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTIEBBE BB E 3,503 1,520
Tax effect of share of results of FE(E— & R R EE ISR E
an associate 350 -
Income tax FrgH - -
13. DIVIDENDS 13. BRE
The Directors do not recommend the payment of dividend for EETRBRNBEE_T_=FR=-F
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. ZZFFTZA=T—HIEFEZRE °
14. LOSS PER SHARE 14. BREE
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share attributable RARERRREG 2 BRERNREEE
to equity shareholders of the Company is based on the BIRBA TSR E -
following data:
2023 2022
—E-=F .- —
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER FHTT
Loss for the year attributable to equity RREIERIR BN 2 R FEEE
shareholders of the Company (35,934) (8,850)




14.

15.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LOSS PER SHARE (Continued)

e M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = - H=F—HIFE

14. BREE®)

Number of shares

RHEE
2023 2022
—EB-=F —EF
‘000 ‘000
T T
Weighted average number of ordinary ARG E GREREE 2 Z AN
shares for the purpose of basic loss ETFHE
per share 454,899 446,614

The calculation of basic loss per share was based on the
loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
approximately HK$35,934,000 (2022: HK$8,850,000) and the
denominators used were the same as those detailed above for
both basic and diluted loss per share.

In 2023 and 2022, diluted loss per share attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company was the same as basic loss per
share as the impact of the exercise of share options was anti-
dilutive.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The intangible assets with carrying amount HK$520,000
represent the licence plates which enable the vehicle to travel
and hang licence plates in both Mainland China and Hong
Kong. The licences are renewable every year at minimal cost
and they are considered as having an indefinite useful life
because they are expected to generate economic benefit to
the Group indefinitely. The licences will not be amortised until
their useful lives are determined to be finite, instead they will
be tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.

15.

BRERNBBDERANRGERBERE
1t E5 18 49 35,934,000 L (— T = — 4
8,850,000/ 0) 5T E - FifE Mz H & & £
MEREARREEEEMEAERER -

RIB_=ZFR_FT__F BHRTER
iR RS2 AR REN,
EBREEEEREREANEERR -

BVEE

AR EI{E /520,000 TR E L & E 3 SU R
BEWMRTEAEFEERMITR P EE
fE o BRI ARER AT FEEL KRR
HAERERAFY  REASEBHERD
RAREELRLENGS - RIFEEERE
BEREREY - TRRREBEHE - EER
BERRABRBRE A LR ER#E
TTRERE
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e B ISR RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = HA=+—HIFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y% - HERRZ®E

Computer
Furniture Offic  equipment Motor
and fixtures  equipment  and system vehicles Total
SR
GRREE  BOERB RE& RE fit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT AT AT AT AT
At 1 January 2022 RZZ--F-f-R
Cost AR 1,446 1,265 23,086 1,966 27,763
Accumulated depreciation 2ifinE (1,446) (1,261) (23,068) (1,868) (27,643)
Net book amount FEFE - 4 18 9% 120
Year ended 31 December 2022 E-ECCEt-AST-BILEE
Opening net book amount ERESE - 4 18 9% 120
Additions AE - - - 480 480
Depreciation e - ) 9 (192) (205)
Closing net book amount FREEFE - - 9 386 395
At 31 December 2022 and R-E-—E+-A=+-BR
1 January 2023 ~F--F-Hf-H
Cost A 1,446 1,265 23,086 2,446 28243
Accumulated depreciation Z2iiE (1,446) (1,265) (23,077) (2,060) (27,848)
Net book amount RE¥E - - 9 386 395
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-Z-=F+-A=t-AItEE
Opening net book amount EREFE - - 9 38 395
Additions AE - - 4 3,000 3,004
Disposal of cost HERK - - - (580) (580)
Disposal of accumulated depreciation MEZFHE - - - 580 580
Written-off of cost A (1,429) (1,245) (22,654) (1,386) (26,713)
Written-off of accumulated depreciation ~ #i#2EHHTE 1428 1,245 22,654 1,386 26,713
Depreciation ik - - (8) (447) (455)
Closing net book amount FREMFE - - 5 2,939 2,944
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=F+ZA=1-H
Cost B 18 20 436 3480 3954
Accumulated depreciation 2iHTE (18) (20) (431) (541) (1,010)
Net book amount FEFE - - 5 2,939 2,944
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e M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F =+ -A=+—HIFEF

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. FHEEE
Leased Office
properties equipment Total
HEME WAERE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2022 RZZE-—_F—H—H
Cost (DN 12,098 626 12,724
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (8,670) (415) (9,085)
Net book amount EREFE 3,428 211 3,639
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE-Z-—F
TZA=ZT—HIEEFE
Opening net book amount FYRESE 3,428 211 3,639
Effect of lease modification HEEhTE - 8 8
Depreciation e (1,698) (152) (1,850)
Closing net book amount FEREEFE 1,730 67 1,797
At 31 December 2022 and E/‘_giii‘l‘
1 January 2023 RZF-=fF—
Cost (DN 12,098 634 12,732
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (10,368) (567) (10,935)
Net book amount REFEE 1,730 67 1,797
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE—_T_-_=F
FTZA=FT—RHIEFE
Opening net book amount FYIER®mFE 1,730 67 1,797
Addition NE 1,888 583 2,471
Disposal mE (407) - (407)
Depreciation e (1,402) (117) (1,519)
Closing net book amount FAREEEFE 1,809 533 2,342
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+=RA=1+—H
Cost (DN 1,887 1,217 3,104
Accumulated depreciation ZEtE (78) (684) (762)
Net book amount EREFE 1,809 533 2,342
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE—

17.

Eo=Ff A=+ —HIUFE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

17. FRAEEE®)

2023 2022

—EC-=F -

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Expense relating to short-term leases ERAEAHEENRX 458 -
Total cash outflow for leases HEReRLAE 1,502 1,602

For both years, the Group leased various offices premises
and office equipment for its operations. Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of one to two years (2022: one
to four years), but may have extension options as described
below. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

The Group has an extension option for a leased property. This is
used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing
the assets used in the Group’s operations. The extension
option held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the
respective lessor.

The Group assesses at lease commencement date whether
it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension option. In
addition, the Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain
to exercise an extension option, upon the occurrence of either
a significant event or a significant change in circumstances
that is within the control of the lessee. In 2023 and 2022, no
such triggering event happened.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set
out in notes 28 and 39(d).

RMFEAR - AEERESERLYE R
NREANEE - HEARUEEHR—
EMF(ZT_=F: —ENF)FZ 8
AR ER (N TIICA) - HERK
R EREERE - BB IEGRR R
Rt - RETHEB RGN AHMEREL
RER  AKEEAGRZERLEES
[ AT SR IR 1T 2 HAFA] o

AEEREHEMRNTHREZRE - 1))
AREEAEEZEMAEETMNSE
BEAMERAL  HENTHEZRER
AN E M IEARRR AT ©

AEBPAERBARTHRETAERT
TR AR IR o LoD - EEEEREMH
SEFARBAATEHOBR T HBEERE
B AEESEHITEREAERREITE
EEHEEE R =FR=-FT ==
FooEEEREEG -

ERMEEREZHERRO T ZFBERN
BtEr28 K fiFE39(d) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F =+ -A=+—HIFEF

GOODWILL 18. BWE
2023 2022
—EC-=HF T
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FAETT
Gross carrying amount HBEREE
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BEk+=ZA=+—H 14,119 14,119
Accumulated impairment loss it REEBE
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BEkt+=-—A=+—H 14,119 14,119

Net carrying amount
At 1 January and 31 December

BRERE
R—A—AE+=-—A=+—H
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e M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = HA=+—HIFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTPL 19. BRATEEFABRZUMEEE
2023 2022

—E-=F —=E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAETT
Club membership with debenture B e5EF5 3,267 3,620
Investment in fund HEES 2,307 -
5,574 3,620
Movement in financial assets at FVTPL is as below: FEEFABZZUBEEZESHNT
2023 2022
—E-=E —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
At 1 January Rn—H—H 3,620 -
Addition iz 2,500 3,620

Net fair value changes taken to profit BRRZ AT EEZEFHE

or loss (527) -
Exchange adjustment HE 5, B (19) -
At 31 December wn+=ZA=+—H 5,574 3,620

The club membership with debenture is measured at fair value

which has been determined with reference to the publicly

available price information.

o

el

BRLeBESFNRBEARAFERE
HEE A FEER
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EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVOCI

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = - H=F—HIFE

BAVEEFAEMZEARE

RATER
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Hong Kong HAE
— Listed equity securities — FTIRAFE S 59,625 107,616

Movement in equity instruments at FVOCl is as below:

BAVEAEFARMEEREZRATA

T

2023 2022
—E-=F —E - F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FBT
At 1 January n—HA—H 107,616 77,546
Addition i 839 2,318

Net fair value changes taken to other Hip2mEWS 2 A EEEEFHE
comprehensive income (48,830) 27,752
At 31 December R+Z—A=+—H 59,625 107,616

Listed equity securities with carrying amount of approximately
HK$59,625,000 (2022: HK$107,616,000) are measured at
fair value which has been determined directly by reference to
published price and quotations in active market (2022: same).

The additions during the year ended 31 December 2022 was
the second and third tranche consideration shares received
from the purchaser in respect of the dispose of the entire
interest in Fullmoon Global Limited.

The relevant investment objective company is under common
shareholder and Director of the Company.

These investments are not held for trading, instead, they are
held for long-term strategic purposes. The Directors have
elected to designate these investments in equity instruments
as at FVOCI as they believe that recognising short-term
fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit or loss
would not be consistent with the Group's strategy of holding
these investments for long-term purposes and realising their
performance potential in the long run.

BR 1 {8 4959,625,000/8 T (ZF = — 4 :
107,616,000/ 7T ) 2 E AR AR B HIL A F
BETE2  AFEECEELEERMS
Z2AFABEREBREETC(ZE=__F : §
@) o

HE_Z_—_F+_A=1+—HILtFE
Z ¥ A E 7 5t & R Fullmoon Global
LimitedZ 2 ZBAXIEFTIEM B —HE R E =4
RERG -

HERERNDFR/ARFHERAKRRELE
=

HEREWIFFIEES - Rz HEFEER
HREEN BEFCERBETUERAT
AREBBR AV EEFARMEEKS
TDARERS  NEZABBULFRER
FEECEHNDEARERENLEFRE
ERHENINREZREARTEN 2K
BEANHRTT
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e MBRRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = HA=+—HIFE

21. LOAN RECEIVABLES 21. EWRER
2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-=

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET T

Loan receivables W E R 2,594 2,503

Less: Provision for impairment B ORERE (1,855) (561)

Loan receivables — net JEWE R — F5E 739 1,942
Analysed into: DA

Non-current JERED - 776

Current Mk 739 1,166

739 1,942

Ageing analysis of loan receivables, net of provision as at
31 December 2023 and 2022, based on past due date, is as

ZEHBEE S  RZZEZ=Fk=FT=—
FH-AZ+—BZRKERGNBRES)

follows: ZERE DTN
2023 2022
—E-=E —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET T
Not past due AiBER 739 1,942

Included in the carrying amount of loans receivables as at
31 December 2023 is provision of impairment losses of
HK$1,855,000 (2022: HK$561,000). Details of impairment
assessment are set out in note 39(a).

R-Z-_=F+-A=+—8 " BKRER
Z BREERIE R E BB EE1,855,000/8 7T
—FT 4 :561,000/87T) c MEEZ
FIFEAKIFEIN) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F =+ -A=+—HIFEF

21. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. BWER®)
Loan receivables comprise: ERERBIE
Effective
Due date interest rate Gross carrying amount
FH#A BRA= BEREE
2023 2022
—E-=H T
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
HK$1,000,000 fixed-rate loan 6 May 2020 and 12% 1,594 1,503
receivable subsequently extended
to 6 November 2023
1,000,000/ 7T B FEME R “E-TFRANBRER
MHE—ZT - =—F+—#
<A
HK$1,000,000 fixed-rate loan 28 November 2019 and 10% 1,000 1,000
receivable subsequently extended
to 7 January 2024
1,000,000/ 778 B EH & K —E-hFE+—AZ+N\R
REEERRE - - F
—HtH
2,594 2,503

The loan receivables were unsecured.

I 55 e B RS SR AT o
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e M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Bz —

22,

23.

Eo=Ff A=+ —HIUFE

INVENTORIES 22. FE
2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FBT
Trading stocks 5 m - 188
TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. EZRWRE
2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FiBT
Trade receivables =) e e 6,507 5,712
Less: Provision for impairment R RE R (4,629) (85)
Trade receivables — net E 5 e ERIE — 558 1,878 5,627

Movement in the provision for impairment loss on trade
receivables is as follows:

B 5 YRR ER R EEEHINT -

2023 2022

—E-=F -

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHTT

At 1 January n—H—H 85 183
Impairment loss recognised during the year F A MERRIERE 4,629 85
Impairment loss reversed during the year S RE BRIREEE (85) (183)
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 4,629 85

The Group recognised provision for impairment of trade
receivables based on the accounting policy stated in note 2.8(b)
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

 E_E =K _FT-_—_F+_-H
T HIFE  KEBIREKTE2.80)FT
B et R ERE 5 EWEIE 2 B E B

ﬁo



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of provision as at 31

23.

e M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = - H=F—HIFE

)AL EREE )
R-ZEBE-_=F+_A=+—B2EZ5EK

December 2023, based on invoice dates, is as follows: FIE(H B B B REEABERER T
™~

2023 2022

—EB-=F T

HK$'000 HK$'000

FBT FiET

0-30 days 0Z30% 1,338 3,614

31-60 days 31260k 533 174

61-90 days EX[IFN 7 1,194

91-120 days 91E 120K - 627

121-150 days 1212150k - 15

Over 150 days B3R 150K - 3

Total trade receivables B S B GIRBE 1,878 5,627
The Group allows a credit period from 0 to 120 days (2022: 3 $Elf\/\?’ﬁ§)50i12095(_%5::

to 120 days) to its customers. 3E120K)Z1ZEH
As at 1 January 2022, trade receivables from contracts with RZTZEZZF—H—H BFEHNESE

customers amounted to HK$3,383,000.

The Directors consider that the fair values of trade receivables
are not materially different from their carrying amounts
because these amounts have short maturity periods on their
inception.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide the
ECL prescribed by HKFRSs 9. A provision of approximately
HK$4,629,000 (2022: HK$85,000) was made against the gross
amounts of trade receivables as at 31 December 2023. Further
details on the Group's credit policy and credit risk arising from
trade receivables are set out in note 39(a).

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not hold any
collateral as security or other credit enhancements over the
impaired trade receivables.

U kI8 43,383,000/ 7T °

EER5 AREEcBARRESRE
HERER  REZEREFBEZAFEE
HEEEETESEAER -

NEERBABEENIREE BB REE
RIZ9SEFTRE 2 TEEAE BB 1B - EA_E
—ZHF+-A=+t—H BREHEKIT
%@%’E{’Eﬂj%1%,%’94,629,0005%7%(:%::
1 85,00087T) - BEAAEBEEEEERR
BORWHEEEZEERR 2 E—FF
IEERFFIFE39() ©

%:s_:iﬁ_$::¢+:ﬂz+*

C AEEVWESEREE S EWRKIER
Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%iﬁ@mﬁﬁfﬁmZﬁ
TEﬁuu °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = HA=+—HIFE

24. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 24.

HttEWAE - #ERANK

PREPAYMENTS
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
Other receivables H At fEYGRIR 5,473 346
Deposits b7 1,293 9,451
Prepayments SCENEN 293 7,729
7,059 17,526
Less: Provision for impairment B ORBERE (386) (62)
6,673 17,464
Less: Non-current portion B 3EmENER S - (9,362)
Current portion mEhE s 6,673 8,102

Included in the carrying amount of other receivables and
deposits as at 31 December 2023 is accumulated provision
for impairment of HK$386,000 (2022: HK$62,000). Details of
impairment assessment for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in note 39(a).

R-ZT-=F+-"A=+—8  Hihelk
FERZeZEAEPRERFDRERE
386,000 T( =& = =4 : 62,000/7T) °
HE-_Z-_=F+"A=+—BLEER
B 2 B R MIEE39() ©
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CONTRACT LIABILITIES 25. EHEE

2023 2022
—EB-=F =S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Contract liabilities arising from: K TNEHEEZSAEE -

Provision of advertising services RIEEERS 884 859
Sale of medical and health products HEBE MREER - 653
884 1,512

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities are as follows:

Provision of advertising services

The Group may take certain deposit on acceptance of the
order, with the remainder of the consideration payable at
the earlier of provision of services. The deposit remains as a
contract liability until such time as the work completed to date
outweighs it.

Sale of medical and health products

When the customer entered into contracts with the Group and
placed non-refundable deposit, this will give rise to contract
liabilities until goods were delivered to and accepted by
customer.

FEANABER 2 —RNREFNT :

RUEESR%
AEETNERTERRDNETERZR
& MEBEMEMEHRRBR S -
ZeDRAMAR BEEESDTEMIIE
BiEe s BREHERL -

HEBRRREER
ERPEAKEIIUANL N AARE
MReR  BELANAEEEZHEMR
NEFPARE,EY -
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CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

25. 8 EE#®)

Movements in contract liabilities EHNEERH
2023 2022
—EBEC=HF T HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FBT
Balance at 1 January R—RA— Bz 1,512 966
Revenue recognised that was included in ~ FHIst AG PN EE 2 B ERRE
contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year (1,512) (966)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result FEWEFIBHIEEHA B EIEN
of proceeds received in advance from
customers 884 1,512
Balance at 31 December RN+ A=+—Hz&% 884 1,512

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances and cash comprise of cash and cash equivalents.

The cash balances at banks bore interest at floating rates

based on daily bank deposit rates.

26 ReRBE€EEEH
BIRHEBESOERSRBSSMEER -

FEMEETE -

RITRESEHRIIRES HRITHFHRMNER
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27. B RHMENKIE

2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-=

HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FAETT
Trade payables 2 S REMNHRIEA - 1,862
Accruals JERTFISZ 5,741 5,474
Other payables HAbFEFRIA 1,019 2,644
6,760 9,980

Included in trade and other payables are trade payables with
the following ageing analysis, based on invoice dates, as of the
end of reporting period:

HEREHKR  EHREMENRERE
BHREMNFE  EREEZAHZRED
T

2023 2022

—EBC=HF —E-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET BT

Within 1 month 1M&E AR - 35
1 to 3 months 1&231@ A - 204
Over 3 months but within 6 months 3EA H1E6E AR - 1,623
- 1,862

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the average credit
period on purchase of goods was 30 days.

BE_ZT-__Ft+-A=1T—HLEFE"
BEEMTPHEEHR/30A8
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28. LEASE LIABILITIES

28. HHE&AE

2023 2022

—E-=F —=E-=
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FAETT
Current mEh 1,050 1,313
Non-current IERE 1,299 533
2,349 1,846

Future lease payments are due as follows:

RIRMEER

Future lease

REEERAT

payments Interest Present value
RREENE FE BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET TAT
As at 31 December 2023: RZEZ=F+-A=1+—Q:
Not later than one year —FR 1,150 100 1,050
Later than one year but not later than —% LA_E{B /N8 F Hif
two years 1,355 56 1,299
2,505 156 2,349
As at 31 December 2022: RZE-—F+-A=1+—QH:
Not later than one year —FR 1,339 26 1,313
Later than one year but not later than — LA 1B TN iE M & 2R
two years 535 2 533
1,874 28 1,846

In 2023, interest on the lease liabilities is calculated using the
incremental borrowing rate were ranged between 2.00% to
6.01% (2022: 2.00% to 5.00%) per annum.

RZBE-_=F HEBGBZNENFERE
EREFRE2.00%E6.01%(ZE ==

£ 1 2.00%%E5.00%):1E o
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DEFERRED TAX 29. RIEHIE
Deferred taxation is calculated on temporary differences EEFBIBRBEBEEUAREEERAT
under liability method using the rates of taxation BERBIOIHELZEREZEANE - AEEG
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates. TR IE B 18 /5 99,434,0008 T (T = =
The Group had estimated tax losses of HK$99,434,000 £ :70,206,000/87T) + A BhAR R E R A
(2022: HK$70,206,000) to carry forward against future FIVEH A58 o fh MR TE B AT B AR 8 &
taxable profits. No deferred tax has been recognised in the BRAVBER RRERT N - Bt
consolidated financial statements as it is not probable that BN E T HRRERELERIE - RIBR
future taxable profit will be available against which these IBBERN - NEBZFBHBEEHEL
unused tax losses can be utilised. All tax losses of the Group ERIEA -
have no expiry dates under the current tax legislation.
SHARE CAPITAL 30. BRA
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
Number Number
of shares of shares
RBEE ahr 24E
‘000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000
T8 FHERT Fh& FHT
Authorised: JRTE ¢
Ordinary shares of HK$0.20 each &R E{E0.208 T2 &
|IR 5,000,000 1,000,000 5,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE :
At the beginning of year F47 446,614 89,323 446,614 89,323
Shares issued upon exercise of EATE R AR 31T 2
share options Bz 8,920 1,784 - -
At the end of year FR 455,534 91,107 446,614 89,323
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31.

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION
Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was
adopted by the Company pursuant to its resolution passed
on 29 December 2015 and expires on 28 December 2025.
The purpose of this scheme is to reward participants who
have contributed to the Group and to encourage participants
to work towards enhancing the value of the Group and its
shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as
a whole. The Directors may, at its discretion, offer to directors,
employees of any member of the Group, any advisors and
service providers of any member of the Group, options to
subscribe for the shares in the Company at a price not less
than the highest of: (i) closing price of the shares of the
Company on the SEHK on the date of offer of the option; (ii)
average of the closing prices of the shares on the SEHK for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of the grant
of the options; and (iii) nominal value of a share.

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of
the grant of an option irrespective of numbers of share options
granted. The options vest on the condition that the grantee
is a director or employee of any member of the Group or any
advisor and service provider of any member of the Group from
the date of options grant to the commencement date of the
exercisable period of the options.

The options are exercisable at any time during the period to
be determined and notified by the Directors to the grantee at
the time of making an offer in respect of any particular option
which shall not expire later than ten years from the date of
grant.

The share-based employee compensation is to be settled by
the issue of the Company’s ordinary shares. The Group has
no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the
options other than in the Company’s ordinary shares.

31.

Rtz EEEE
RS
RARIRBERZZE—AF+ZA=+NH
iR RFRRIR N BT 8 ([ BBARAEST
2]) BREAEBR-_Z-_AF+=A
ZHNBEE - I EZ BN AREY
REBELEBZ28E  UERHE2H
ERARARERT BB R NIES
REEREBRHZEE EZARBEAAN
SETEMRKERRIZES B8 - UEAK
EBEIBK B QR 2 E R EER R RG U E
AR LEREARERATRD - REE
B MER T =FF 2HmmE  \AARIR
MREHBERES B EE Bz /M
B (WRORBEERLEREZ BT AR
R BEBBB L2 FHWME - Ri)
PRHEE -

AR AR AR 2 BN - XA 1E
TZEBAREB(THEL ZBRE 2B
Z5) - BREZ BB IR RARARER
BRERMEERETEHRARZA/LE
ZHIE - BRAKEIAKEARIZES
HEE - AAKEIAIKE QR ZRERE &
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SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION 31.

(Continued)
Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Details of the share options granted under the Share Option

Scheme are as follows:

e M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F =+ -A=+—HIFEF
ROtz EEREE

BRETE(E)
RIEBRAERT R LB BT

Number of

options Exercise price

Date of grant granted Validity period per share
ERHE

RHBH REBE BXB BRITEE

HK$

BT

22 January 2021 22,300,000 22 January 2021 to 21 January 2023 0.38

—E-—F—AF=+=H

The following table shows the movements in the outstanding

—E-—F—A-+-HE-ZT_=F
—A=+—H

TRETREBIRMES B a0 RITE

options granted under the Share Option Scheme: BERENZEER
Number of share options
RREHE
Outstanding Outstanding  Exercisable
at Granted Exercised Lapsed at at
1 January during during during  31December 31 December
2023 the year the year the year 2023 2023
RIBZ=F RIB-=f
R-BZ=F = tZA
i: =t-H =t-A
Grantees ERA HATE ERRH ER1THE EREN HATE Cbihiid
Directors S 8,920,000 - (8,920,000 - - -
Employees 8 13,380,000 - - (13,380,000) - -
22,300,000 - (8920,000)  (13,380,000) - -
Weighted average exercise & T 1377 {F(E

price HKS0.38%7  N/ATER HKS0.38%7m HKS0.38%Ex  NAFER  NATER
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31.

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION 31. BUR#® X ZEEHEE®)
(Continued)
Share Option Scheme (Continued) BRESTE (2)
Number of share options
HIREHE
Outstanding Outstanding Exercisable
at Granted at at
1 January during 31 December 31 December
2022 the year 2022 2022
i S : S A —
i +=A +=A
—HA—H =+—H =+—H
Grantees EEA AT FRE W ARTTEE AT
Directors % 8,920,000 - 8,920,000 8,920,000
Employees EE 13,380,000 - 13,380,000 13,380,000
22,300,000 - 22,300,000 22,300,000
Weighted average exercise price I HITRE HK$0.38%87T  NAMTEMA HK$0.38ET HK$0.38#ETT

No new share options were granted during the year ended 31
December 2023.

22,300,000 share options were granted under the Share
Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2021.
The closing price of the shares of the Company quoted
on the SEHK on 22 January 2021, being the business date
immediately before the date on which the options were
granted, was HK$0.38.

8,920,000 share options were exercised and the remaining of
13,380,000 share options were lapsed during the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

In respect of the share options exercised during the year ended
31 December 2023, the weighted average share price at the
date of exercise was HK$0.42.

RBE_E-_=F+-_A=+—HIFE
NI DR AE -

BE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—RHILFE -
EAR R B AR A R 814% (122,300,000 8 I
o BRBMRAMATRARNGINR T =—
—AZ+ZA(EERLERER BTN E
¥ H)WKMER.38HET

REBEE-_E-_=F+-_A=+—HILF
£ ' 8,920,000 iR EE EIT(E « MR T
13,380,000 BB EE KM( T = —F -
) -

REE_ZE-_=F+-_A=1+—HILFE
BITEEREMS - 17168 B a9 I F 5
A% (B A0.427 7T °
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SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION
(Continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The fair value of share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme on 22 January 2021, measured at the date of grant,
was approximately HK$2,975,000. The following significant
assumptions were used to derive the fair values, using the
Binomial Option Pricing Model.

31.

e M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F =+ -A=+—HIFEF

DRz EERE

IBIRRETEI(E)

N_ZTE-——F—RB=—+=—08  RiEERE
FEREZERENATEBERELEBEH
HE) A#)2,975,00058 7T © AFEETIA
“HEAETERL  WRAUTEAR

BB -

22 January 2021

g —F

—A=+=H

Share price at the date of grant R B A2 IR (B HK$0.38/8 7T
Exercise price 118 HK$0.38% 7T
Expected life SELEPERVET 2 years£E
Expected volatility TE AR IR 73.1%
Dividend yield iR Ex 0.00%
Risk free interest rate A 2 0.18%

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility,
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could materiality
affect the fair value estimate.

At 31 December 2022, the options outstanding had an
exercise price of HK$0.38 and a remaining contractual life of
21 days.

At 31 December 2023, no share options were outstanding
under the Share Option Scheme (2022: The Company had
22,300,000 share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme, which represented 4.99% of the Company’s shares
in issue at that date. All these options were exercisable at 31
December 2022).

AR IR Ty R BRI - Rt
REBGR - THHANBRRNEDS
HAFEEGTEREARS -

R-ZBE-—F+-A=+—0 " EKRTE
BB T A0.38B T R M A4
FHA218 -

RZE-_=F+-_A=+—8 " REE
REE - BMEBREORTE(ZE
TZF:ARABEEREGEES
22,300,00017 M AT ERIBEAR B - 6
NAINE BB ETRMNA4.99% - RZF
—ZHE+ZA=+—8 FAXSERE
HAITfE) o
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SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION
(Continued)

Share Award Scheme

The share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) was
adopted by the Company on 28 December 2022 and expires
on 27 December 2032, subject to any early termination as may
be determined by the board pursuant to the term of the Share
Award Scheme. The purposes of the Share Award Scheme
are to recognise the contributions of participants and give
incentives to them in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group and to attract
suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

Subject to the absolute discretion of the board, the awarded
shares (where the board has determined such number
pursuant to the terms of the Share Award Scheme) shall be
acquired by the trustee from the open market by utilising
the Company’s resources provided to the trustee. Under the
direction of the Company, the trustee may use the payment
received from the Company to purchase further shares as
reserve for future grants of awarded shares to the selected
employee(s) in accordance with the Share Award Scheme. The
trustee shall hold the Shares until such Shares are vested and
transferred to the relevant selected employees in accordance
to the terms of the Share Award Scheme.

The trustee shall vest any awarded shares and related income
held by the trustee under the trust to the selected employee
on the vesting date determined at the discretion of the board,
provided that the selected employee remains an employee
of the Group at all times after the reference date up to the
relevant vesting date.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no
award shares are awarded and caused to pay the trustee the
trust fund for purchase nor subscription of Shares. In order to
reduce administrative cost and improve the cashflow position
of the Company, the Board has resolved to terminate the
Scheme with effect from 9 August 2024. Further details are
set out in the announcement dated 9 August 2024.

31.
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RESERVES 32. f#f&
Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are REBREBEREAFE 2 B EHNF7E88
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on BrReR=E2ER - ARFRFELEZD
pages 87 to 88. Movements in the Company’s reserves are as T
follows:
Company
NG
Employee  Investment
Share compensation  revaluation ~ Contributed ~Accumulated
premium reserve reserve surplus losses Total
RiVEE [EESRERE REEGRE HABS S | fit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL FEx ThEr TEL FEL
At 1 January 2022 WZE-ZZF—F—H 162,310 2975 52,550 113,321 (259,830) 71,326
Loss for the year AEFEE - - - - (7.272) (7272)
Changein fairvalue on equity ~ RAFEEFAEM2E
instruments at FVOC| e BATEZ AT
BEEY - - 21,752 - - 21,752
Total comprehensive income TEERENRES
for the year - - 21,752 - (7,272) 20,480
At 31 December 2022 and i S
1 January 2023 =t+—ARZZ==fF
—A—-H 162,310 2,975 80,302 113,321 (267,102) 91,806
Share options exercised BT E 2,79 (1,190) - - - 1,606
Share issue expenses DOESIEST @ - - - - @
Share options lapsed RN - (1,785) - - 1,785 -
Transactions with equity EEZRE LIRS
shareholders 2,792 (2,975) - - 1,785 1,602
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - (23,008) (23,008)
Change infairvalue onequity ~ HATEEFAZMZE
instruments at FVOC| WaZBATA AT
BEZ - - (48,842) - - (48,842)
Total comprehensive expense  RNEE2ERLEE
for the year - - (48,842) - (23,008) (71,850)
At 31 December 2023 AZBZ=F4ZA
=t-H 165,102 - 31,460 113,321 (288,325) 21,558
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32. RESERVES (continued)

The Company’s reserves available for distribution comprise its
contributed surplus and accumulated losses.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is
governed by Section 40 of Bermuda Companies Act
1981 (as amended).

Employee compensation reserve

It is used to recognise the grant date fair value
of unlapsed options issued to employees but not
exercised.

Investment revaluation reserve

It represents the cumulative gains and losses arising on
the revaluation of investments in equity instruments
designated as at FVOCI, net of cumulative gain/loss
transferred to accumulated losses upon disposal.

Merger reserve

Merger reserve of the Group arose as a result of
the Group’s reorganisation in 2000 and represents
the difference between the nominal amount of the
share capital issued by the Company and the nominal
amount of the issued share capital of Recruit (BVI)
Limited.

Contribution surplus

Contributed surplus of the Group arose as a result of
the reduction in share capital in accordance with the
Group's capital reorganisation in 2003.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), contributed surplus account of the
Company is available for distribution. However, the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(@ it is, or would after the payment be, unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and
its issued share capital and share premium
accounts.

32.
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HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF 33. ERATZHBMRRAER
FINANCIAL POSITION
2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
Mo FHET T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHESHE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RIB AR ZRE 4,988 7,552
Investment in an associate RS R RHIRE 35 13,922 -
Right-of-use assets EREEE o 1,809 238
Equity instruments at FVOCI BATEEGT AR MR
ZIAT A . 58,774 107,616
Financial asset at FVTPL BRATFEEF A B VBE
= 3,267 3,620
Loan receivables U E K - 776
82,760 119,802
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries R NGIE e . 31,438 12,020
Other receivables, deposits and HADFEWGRIA « e RIER K
prepayments 748 2,127
Loan receivables FERE R 739 1,166
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFLEEIER 3,648 62,919
36,573 78,232
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables HM AT 4,865 3,039
Amounts due to subsidiaries RSB IB A A Z0E - 13,785
Current portion of lease liabilities HEA GRS 875 81
5,740 16,905
Net current assets REBEEZEE 30,833 61,327
Total assets less current liabilities AEERGBER 113,593 181,129
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Non-current portion of lease liabilities FHE & {&IEEIHAZE D 928 -
Net assets EEFE 112,665 181,129
EQUITY =
Share capital [N 30 91,107 89,323
Reserves 1 32 21,558 91,806
Total equity R 112,665 181,129
On behalf of the directors REXES

Yiu Sze Wai
BEE
Difector

Chung Anita Mei Yiu
EXE

Director
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34.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

34. FEMBATAFE

Place/country of Issued and fully
incorporation/ paid share
Date of incorporation/ establishment and type  Class of capital/ Percentage of issued Principal activities and
Name of company establishment of legal entity shares  registered capital  capital held by the Company  place of operations
AL/ R BE B&R
it/ 1%/ BFREERE BRRRRE/ ARRFRERT
AR HIAH £l REEH iR eyt TERHRAEHY
223 202
ZEDZE | CE-CF
Indirect Indirect
B 53
Kingkey E-Commerce Limited 5 May 2008 Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary HK$2,000 100% 100%  E-commerce business
(Formerly known as company Hong Kong
Sagacious Education Limited)
REEHERAG(NEARY —E3/\ERALA R BRAA Lk 200047 STHRER BE
HEERAR)
Central Publisher Limited 26 September 1997 Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary HK$1,000 100% 100%  Publishing and investment
company trading, Hong Kong
SRR ERAT “WNERAZTRE B BRAA EER 1,000/ 7C ERRREES - B
Recruit Information Technology 7 November 2003 Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary HK$1,000 100% 100%  Provision of website
Limited company development and
information technology
services, Hong Kong
TERREEARAA ZERCET-AtR BROARLE EEk 1,000/ 72 REBEERRERNR
- &%
Recruit & Company Limited 13 April 2006 Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Provision of advertising
company service, Hong Kong
Reauit & CompanyLimted ~ “EEAFEA+=A &% BRAH ek AT REESRE B4
Media Services Limited 30 April 1999 Hong Kong, limited lizbiity ~ Ordinary ~ HK$52,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of advertising
company services, Hong Kong
Media Services Limited “MNEBAZTE  BE ARAA EER 5200000037 RURSRE B8
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

The Directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the
particulars of all subsidiaries would be of excessive length and
therefore the above list contains only the particulars of the
subsidiaries which materially affect the results or assets of the
Group.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have non-controlling interests

As at 31 December 2022, non-controlling interests (“NCI”) of
the Group represented 49% equity interests in KK Wecheck
Medical Technology Limited (“KK Wecheck”) held by a non-
controlling shareholder.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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34.
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 34. FEMEBARFEF®

(Continued)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that BEEERESRZIZEMBLARFE
have non-controlling interests (Continued) (&)
Summarised financial information in relation to the NCI of KK EBREXRE 2R R 2 B 15 E R
Wecheck is presented below: (N
2022
—E-F
HK$'000
FiET
For the year ended 31 December BE+-A=+—BHLEFE
Revenue Wz 13,268
Profit for the year RE A 364
Total comprehensive income FHEWEERE 364
Profit allocated to NCI A PCE IR A i 2 0k 178
Cash flows generated from operating activities ~ &&EKHFHERE 1,001
Net cash inflows REMAFE 1,001
As at 31 December R+=—A=+—8
Current assets MENVE EE 6,105
Current liabilities RBBEE (5,197)
Net assets BESFE 908

Accumulated non-controlling interests REF TR ER 445




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34A. DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARY

On 21 February 2024, 23 February 2024, 18 March 2024 and
18 April 2024, the Company announced that it had become
aware in recent months that the Group was unable to obtain
the books and records and relevant supporting documents
(such as bank statements and vouchers, collectively the
“Books and Records”) from its Hong Kong-based subsidiary,
KK Wecheck. As a subsidiary of the Group, all books, records,
and operations of KK Wecheck were, at all material times,
maintained and controlled by the Group’s former Director.

The Company had formally requested KK Wecheck to provide
necessary assistance in preparing and auditing the Group's
management accounts. Notwithstanding the Company’s
repeated requests, KK Wecheck failed to respond or provide
the Books and Records to the Company.

In light of the above, the Company has engaged legal counsel
to file writ of summons with the High Court of Hong Kong
against the former Director of the Group, for, among other
things, (1) breaches of fiduciary duties and/or knowing receipt
of benefits from such breaches; (2) procurement of payments
to entities without consent and/or authorization; (3) failure
to maintain adequate books, accounts and records resulting
the Group unable to locate certain assets, documents, records
and accounting evidence, thereby causing hindrance and/or
inability to complete compilation of financial information and
the audit process; and (4) damages, equitable compensation
and such further and/or other reliefs as the Court thinks fit.
On the other hand, the Group has engaged an independent
forensic investigator to investigate and prepare a forensic
investigation (the “Investigation Report”) to consider the
effect of the relevant events. Based on the findings in the
Investigation Report and after careful consideration, the Board
was of the view that the Company no longer has: (a) control
over the KK Wecheck; (b) exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the KK Wecheck; or (c) the
ability to use its power over the KK Wecheck to affect the
amount of the Company’s returns.
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34A.DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARY 34A.BUHEZSAERMEB AR (2

(Continued)

Due to the situation described above, the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) considered that the Group was
unable to exercise its rights as the shareholder either to
control the assets and operations of the KK Wecheck or to
exercise the decision-making rights over the KK Wecheck. As
such, the Directors further considered that it is inappropriate
to consolidate the financial results of the KK Wecheck into
the Group. The Directors have resolved to deconsolidate the
KK Wecheck with effect from 1 July 2023, the date when the
Directors considered that it had effectively lost control of the
KK Wecheck. In addition, the Directors were of the view that
the recoverability of the amounts due from the KK Wecheck
were remote and do not expect to be able to recover the
outstanding balances in the foreseeable future. The resulting
loss arising from the deconsolidation of the KK Wecheck of
approximately HK$3,777,000 and impairment loss on amounts
due from the KK Wecheck of approximately HK$3,585,000
have been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2023.

MR EMER  AARER(EE])RA
REBRBBEETFEEERARREFRERE
BEREZEMNEFNIITEHRERENR
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BEES - AEUERREREZRAEARM
EAEREIB#93,777,00078 7T & FE U B K
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34A.DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARY

(Continued)

Under HKFRS Accounting Standards 10 “Consolidated
Financial Statements”, the carrying amounts of the assets and
liabilities of the KK Wecheck should be derecognised from the
consolidated financial statements of the Group at the date
when control over the KK Wecheck was lost. Since the auditor
was unable to gain access to the Books and Records and
management personnel of the KK Wecheck, the auditor was
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to assess
the appropriateness of the accounting treatment and amounts
adopted by the Group of not treating the KK Wecheck as
subsidiary of the Group on 1 July 2023. The auditor was
also unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
and explanation to satisfy ourselves as to the date when the
Group lost control over the KK Wecheck. There were no
alternative audit procedures that the auditor could perform
to satisfy themselves as to whether the resulting loss arising
from the deconsolidation of the KK Wecheck of approximately
HK$3,777,000 recorded in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss are free from material misstatement. Any
adjustment that would be required may have a consequential
significant effect on the net liabilities of the Group and loss
and cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023, and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated
financial statements.

On 1 July 2023, the Group deconsolidated the entire equity
interest in KK Wecheck due to loss of control.
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34A.DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARY 34A.BUHEZSAERMEB AR (2

(Continued)
The net assets of KK Wecheck at the date of deconsolidated REXRERIUBSEA ARBENEEFE
were as follow: s
2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
FHET
Trade receivables H 5 e RIE 168
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HAbEUGRIA « e RIERHK 3,716
Cash and cash equivalents RekREeEFEIER 132
Contract liabilities aMaE (76)
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAM N FRIA (5)
Amount due to group companies AR ESEIVNGIE e (3,585)
Provision for taxation THIER (62)
288
Non-controlling interests FEPEAR I A (141)
147
Settlement of amounts due from deconsolidated a HEERWEUEERA ABR—RHIM B A RZRIE
subsidiary 3,630
Less: consideration o RE -
Loss on deconsolidated BUBARE ABRESTE 3,777
2023
—E-=
HK$'000
FET
Consideration RE -
Less: cash deconsolidated of A BUBERA ARZRS (132)
Net cash outflow arising on the deconsolidated BUBSRA ABREERMR SR FE (132)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

On 3 April 2023, the Company subscribed 45% of the issued
shares in Aurora Medical Technology (HK) Corp. Limited
("Aurora”), which is an investment holding company for
consideration of HK$16,044,000. Aurora and its subsidiaries
engaged in provision of medical and healthcare services.
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2023
—EC=F
HK$'000
FET

Cost of investment in an associate
Share of post-acquisition loss

R — B2 R R EE MR
FEIE MR IR B 1R

16,044
(2,122)

13,922

The Group failed to exercise their right to assign a director into
Aurora’s board during the reporting period. Consequently,
there is insufficient evidence to demonstrate that the Group
exercises significant influence over Aurora, calling into question
the appropriateness of classifying Aurora as an associate under
HKAS 28. The existing directors were unable to obtain the
audited financial statements and books and records of Aurora
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Notwithstanding the
above classification issue, the former Director of the Group
recorded a share of loss of approximately HK$2.1 million from
Aurora.

REBPREPBEATETEZEEZMA
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36.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which
are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated

on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Save as
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
details of other significant transactions between the Group

and other related parties during the year are disclosed as

follows:

(@) Related party transactions

36. BAEALIRE

ARBREMBAR(ANRARZEEAL)
ZRZENREMF AR B B MW ER
AMFERRE - Riza B RR MWD
BREIN  AEBEEEMEAEALNFER
BT EMEARSFBRENT

(a) BBEALRE

Nature of transactions REME
2023 2022
—E-=E —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M5 FHET FH&TT
Sale of medical and health HEBBERIREESR
products (i) - 100
Professional fees BEEH (i) (1,950) (1,279)
Advertising and marketing fees &5 R & E A (350) -
Notes: BIaE -

0]

(i)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Company sold certain medical and health products
to a related company, in which Mr. Tsang Hing Bun,
a former director of the Company, is a director and
has control over this company. The consideration
was determined by an arms-length negotiation with
reference to the market rate at the date when the
products were disposed.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
professional fees were paid to a related company,
in which Mr. Tsang Hing Bun, a former director of
the Company, is a director and has control over this
company, for providing company secretary services.

@ HE-Z-_—F+=-A=1+—H
IEFE  AQRm—HEEAR
(RARMESREEELENA
ZARERREBEGIE)HE
ETEERRBER - REDHE
S2EREEMAPZHELAT
EREEET

(ii) HE_Z_=fR-_FT__F
+ZA=Zt+—HIEEFE BNHFE
¥BRTHEAR(ARQEE
FREEBLENAZRARESRR
HEESE)  NRHAFRME
AR o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 36.

(b) Amounts due from/(to) related parties

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the
following balance with related parties:

e M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F =+ -A=+—HIFEF

BEALTRE#)
(b) FEWL(FE()BREA T20E

RBERR - AEERBFEALH
AN &R

2023 2022
—EC-=F B F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Included in trade receivables: FTAE S IEYGRIA
Kingkey Management Limited (Note) ~ REMEEEHR QA (FIFE) - 100
Included in accruals and other payables: 5t AFEEHF 2 M H A FEFFIE ¢
Kingkey Enterprise Hong Kong Limited REEEHEHR QA (FIFE)
(Note) (1,020) (2,014)

Note:  Amounts due from/(to) related parties are unsecured,
interest free and expected to be recovered/due to be
repaid within one year.

() Compensation of key management personnel

The key management personnel of the Group are the
Directors. The remuneration of the key management
personnel is determined by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance
of individuals and market trends. Details of the
remuneration paid to them are set out in note 10(a) to
the consolidated financial statements.

(9]

BifeE - U B BEATRIARE
R TR EEBER—FA
WE, B HEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = HA=+—HIFE

37. NOTES SUPPORTING STATEMENT OF CASH 37. BE&RERME
FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financial activities: BEXEBEECBEYER:
Amounts
Other Lease duetoa
borrowing liabilities director
HibfE% HESE REN-BESRE
(Note 28)
(F5E28)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THEL FAET
t 1 January 2022 R-E-—%—F—H 4,318 3,378 1,093
Changes from cash flows: Remes 28 :
Repayments of other borrowing BREMER (4,318) - -
Repayment to a director BE—2ESHT - - (1,093)
Repayments of principal portion of lease ~ EEHEAE Zziiiﬁli’
liabilities - (1,540) -
Interest paid BAFIE (478) (62) -
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BYER&REHBE (4,796) (1,602) (1,093)
Other changes: Hin &g
Effect of lease modification HEEuz2 - 8 -
Interest expenses (Note 8) F8H% (fzEs) 478 62 -
Total other changes HevBehes 478 70 -
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZZEZZF+ZA=+—Hk
—“E-=F—f-H - 1,846 -
Changes from cash flows: RERELED
Repayments of other borrowing BEREAMER - - -
Repayment to a director ER—RESEH - - -
Repayments of principal portion of lease T%“i%EfEFZ$%*I3
liabilities - (1,435) -
Interest paid ERFE - (67) -
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BYER & &S HE - (1,502) -
Other changes: Hih 2% -
New lease entered FHREARL - 2,471 -
Early termination of lease RELRILHEE - (533) -
Interest expenses (Note 8) F Bz (f3Es) - 67 -
Total other changes HevZepes - 2,005 -
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=F+-A=+—H - 2,349 -
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 38. ZERIBIo 2B EERMEE
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY BEHME

The following table shows the carrying amount of financial TRINLHBEERBECREE :

assets and liabilities:

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBxT FETT
Financial assets MKEE
At FVTPL: BEATEBER ABR :
— Investment in fund —REE2TE 2,307 -
— Club membership with debenture —(B&Ee B F5 3,267 3,620
5,574 3,620
At FVOC: BAFEBE AEMEE Y
— Equity instruments —RATA 59,625 107,616
At amortised costs: RSN
— Trade receivables — & Z WA 1,878 5,627
— Other receivables and deposits —HEhEUCGRIE R R 6,380 9,735
— Loan receivables —EUE K 739 1,942
- Cash and cash equivalents - MIREEMEIEAHR 30,081 69,917
39,078 87,221
Financial liabilities BMEaE
At amortised cost: REESEAAS
— Trade and other payables —EZRAMERFIE 6,760 9,980
— Lease liabilities —HEAE 2,349 1,846
9,109 11,826
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38. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
(Continued)

(a) Financial instruments not measured at fair
value

Financial instruments not measured at fair value include
trade receivables, other receivables and deposits, loan
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
payables and lease liabilities.

Due to their short-term nature, the carrying value of
these financial instruments approximates fair value.

(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with
standard terms and conditions and traded in active
liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted
market prices.

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value
hierarchy:

Level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets and liabilities;

Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3:  inputs for the asset or liability that are
not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).
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(b)
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38. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 38.

BERED 2MBEERMBE

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY BEEe
(Continued)
(b)  Financial instruments measured at fair value (b) BRATEEFEZMBIAE)
(Continued)
2023
—EBZ=F
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1E H2E 3B a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHER FET FHET
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATVEEAER
LB EE
— Investment in fund —RESZRE - 2,307 - 2,307
— Club membership with —BRNEEES
debenture - 3,267 - 3,267
5,574 5,574
Financial assets at FVOCI BRATFEEAEM
2EE 2 B
— Listed equity securities — TR 59,625 - - 59,625
2022
—E-F
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
o =yl B3E at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT FAT FAT FHTT
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEER AER
LB EE
— Club membership with —BEMEEESH
debenture - 3,620 - 3,620
Financial assets at FVOCI LR EERT AEAM,
2EWE 2 T
BE
— Listed equity securities — FHEARES 107,616 - - 107,616
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38. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
(Continued)

(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value
(Continued)
The following table presents the changes in level 3
instruments for the years ended 31 December 2023

| Statements

38. RERHEDHMKEERMKEE
BEEe

(b) BAFEEFEZHBIAE

TREYEE-_E_ZFR_FT
T F+-A=+t—HILFEFIE

and 2022. TE&EE -
Contingent
consideration
receivables
ERRARE
HK$’000
FHTT
Balance at 1 January 2022 R —F—A—Bz&H 3,185
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or FARNERTER 2N TEEE
loss during the year (867)
Non-cash settlement IREHEE (2,318)

Balance at 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and
31 December 2023

RZEZ=ZF+=-A=+—H"
—E-CHF-A-HR-ZT-_=F
+-RA=+—Hz#&H% -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
instrument risks: market risk (including foreign currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance
by closely monitoring the individual exposure.

The Group does not have written risk management policies
and guidelines. However, the board of directors meets
periodically to analyse and formulate strategies to manage
the Group's exposure to a variety of risks which resulted from
its operating and investing activities. Generally, the Group
employs conservative strategies regarding its risk management
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out as follows:

(@) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its
trade receivables, other receivables and deposits,
loan receivables and cash and cash equivalents. The
carrying amounts of trade receivables, other receivables
and deposits, loan receivables and cash and cash
equivalents represent the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

To manage this risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents, the Group only transacts with reputable
commercial banks which are all high-credit-quality
financial institutions. There has no recent history of
default in relation to these financial institutions.
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the customers as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customers operate. Trade
receivables are due within 0 to 120 days (2022: 3 to
120 days) from the date of billing. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers.

Trade receivables

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between the
Group's different customer bases.

39.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The following table provides information about the
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade

e M BERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F =+ -A=+—HIFEF

39. BIERERE#)
() EERKE)
B 5 EWERE ()

TREJANEEHE 5 RUFIR
EERRAZREREEBRZE

receivables: =
2023
—E-=F
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
BB EE HEREE EERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTET
Collective assessment SRS

Current BIER 45.32% 2,447 1,109
1-30 days 1230 45.32% 975 442
31-60 days 31£60XK 95.61% 151 144
61-90 days 61290K 100.00% 26 26
91-120 days 91E120K 100.00% 1 1
121-150 days 1212150K 100.00% 7 7
Over 150 days BB 150K 100.00% 2,900 2,900

6,507 4,629
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39.

Eo=Ff A=+ —HIUFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued)

39. BIERERE#)
(a) GEERRE)

Trade receivables (Continued) ESEWREE)
2022
TECF
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TR A E HARHEE EERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
Collective assessment SRR

Current BNEA 0.13% 2,688 4
1-30 days 1230k 1.72% 945 16
31-90 days 31E90K 1.72% 1,392 23
91-180 days 91£180K 1.72% 656 11
Over 180 days BB 180K 100.00% 31 31
5,712 85

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 3 years (2022: 3 years). These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group's view of economic conditions over the expected
lives of the receivables.

BEHERXENBEIF(ZF_—
F3F)2ERBEER - ZFHL
T LA S R AT U R R S SR
REBESR - BRMRRNARAEER
HIEM SR F A 2 BN
Z A ES -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Receivables that were neither past due nor credit
impaired related to a wide range of customers for
whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due related to a number
of independent customers that had a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management believed that impairment allowance was
immaterial in respect of these balances as there had
been no significant change in credit quality and the
balances were still considered fully recoverable.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of
trade receivables during the year is set out in note 23
above.

Other receivables and deposits (excluding
prepayments)

For other receivables and deposits, the management
makes periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The Group measures loss allowances for
other receivables and deposits at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs when they believes that there are
no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts
since initial recognition. The Group measures loss
allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs when
management believes there is significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition.
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39. BIERERE#)

(a)
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables and deposits (excluding
prepayments) (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for other
receivables and deposits ranged from 0.00%-71.50%
(2022: 0.00%-22.51%) on the gross carrying amount
of other receivables and deposits.

As at 31 December 2023, the gross carrying amount
of other receivables and deposits was HK$6,766,000
(2022: HK$9,797,000) and after deducting impairment
provision, the maximum exposure to loss was
HK$6,380,000 (2022: HK$9,735,000). The Group
made no write-off of other receivables and deposits
during both years.

Movement in the provision for impairment loss on
other receivables and deposits is as follows:

BRERERZ)
() EERKE)

HibEWFERES (FBERBM)
(&

R H A FERGRIE MRS R 48
REAEENEMERZRERIZS
KB 1B BB N T 0.00% £ 71.50%

RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—8"
HimERFEBERZS 2 BEREE
/6,766,000 L (= F = =
9,797,000 7T ) - BRI E B
% - = EERE K 46,380,000/ 7T
(ZZ = —% :9,735,000/87T) ° A&
5= B4 W AF O T A A8 L 4th P MUK
BERES -

HL 4 R OB R 2 R
EEBIT :

2023 2022

—E-=F -

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHEx FHET

At 1 January n—H—H 62 65
Impairment loss reversed FABBIREEE

during the year 3) (28)
Impairment loss recognised FNERRERE

during the year 327 25

At 31 December KW+=ZA=+—H 386 62




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Loans receivables

The Group has compared with the market ratings of
similar companies to determine the ECL rate for the
third parties in determining their credit risk.

Over the terms of the loans, the Group accounts for
its credit risk by appropriately providing for ECLs on
a timely basis. In calculating the expected loss rates,
the Group considers historical loss rates for each
category of loan, and adjusts for forward looking
macroeconomic data. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group provided for ECLs against credit-impaired loans
receivables based on lifetime ECLs (2022: 12-months
ECLs) when management believes there is significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. ECLs is
assessed to be 71.50% (2022: 22.51%) on the gross
carry amount of loans.

As at 31 December 2023, the gross carrying amount
of loans receivables was HK$2,594,000 (2022:
HK$2,503,000) and after deducting impairment
provision, the maximum exposure to loss was
HK$739,000 (2022: HK$1,942,000). The Group made
no write-off of loan receivables during the year (2022:
nil).
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39. BIERERE#)

(a)

EERRE)

W ER
$%@Etb$ﬁ*ﬁw’“ﬁ2?ﬁ%é¥
iﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁa%‘: °

REFHRA - AEBEFBNER
EHEERREEEREEEER

BARR o RETEEHBEERE - K
SEZESHEERCBAABEEX -
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BEEEBERRBVIZHALR
ffﬂ R FREEN - AREREEH

FEHEEBR(ZE_F : 12
ATEHEEEE) B EERENE
WEHRGHRTEHREEBIBEE - B
HEEEBTEAREREEREYZ
71.50%(—F =4 :22.51%) °

R-E-_=F+-"fA=+—H &
& 3%z # R (A 42,594,000 7%
TT(ZFE =4 : 2,503 0005%7_1) '
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 39. BIERERE#)

(a) Credit risk (Continued) () FEERKE)
Loans receivables (Continued) EBWER(E)
Movement in the provision for impairment loss on loan R ER 2 BEBEREZESHINT

receivables is as follows:

2023 2022
—E-=F -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
At 1 January n—H—H 561 430
Impairment loss recognised FARRREEE
during the year 1,294 211
Impairment loss reversed FARERERBE
during the year - (80)
At 31 December KW+=ZA=+—H 1,855 561
Maximum exposure to credit risk BaiEERR
At the end of the reporting period, no financial R EBBERE AEBRARQ
guarantees were issued by the Group and the AN B AT B TS AR o

Company.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange
rates.

The Group does not have material exposure to
currency risk as most of the Group’s transactions are
carried out in HK$, which is the functional currency of
the Company. The Group reviews its foreign currency
exposures on a regular basis and does not consider its
foreign currency risk to be significant.

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group's
sensitivity to the change in foreign currency exchange
rates is low.

The Company is not exposed to any significant foreign
currency risk.

Interest rate risk

The Group does not have material exposure to interest
rate risk, as the Group has no financial assets and
liabilities of material amounts with floating interest
rates except for deposits held in banks. Cash at bank
earns interest at floating rates based on the daily
bank deposit rates during the year. Any change in the
interest rate promulgated by banks from time to time is
not considered to have significant impact to the Group.
The Group adopts centralised treasury policies in cash
and financial management and focuses on reducing
the Group’s overall interest expense.

Management did not consider it necessary to use
interest rate swaps to hedge their exposure to interest
rate risk as the interest rate risk exposure is not
significant.
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(c)
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements, its compliance with lending covenants
and its relationships with its bankers to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and long term.

The Group had net current assets of HK$30,677,000
(2022: HK$72,133,000) and net assets of
HK$114,305,000 (2022: HK$196,128,000) as at
31 December 2023. In the opinion of Directors, the
Group's exposure to liquidity risk is limited.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at each of the reporting dates of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payment computed using contractual rates or, if
floating, based on current rates at the reporting date)
and the earliest date the Group may be required to

pay.

Specifically, for borrowing which contain a repayment
on demand clause which can be exercised at the
financial institution’s sole discretion, the analysis shows
the cash outflow based on the earliest period in which
the entity is required to pay, that is if the financial
institutions were to invoke the unconditional rights to
call the loan with immediate effect.

BRERERZ)
(d FBHELER

AEEZREAEREE LR E
SEF - AMFEREHZ RN
BE S RATZHE - ARRE
REFNZRLERURELES
RBEAHRHE A AT
DR AR RBE S
FK -

R-E-_=F+-_A=+—H K
SEBREEEFE30,677,000/8
JT(=Z = =4 : 72,133,000/ 7T )
N & EF1E114,305,0008 L (==
— % 196,128,000 7T) - £F
RE AEERBDESRABRAR -

TRAVNEAREFTENBEE
RERE B ZHBANINHER -
BTRIBRI AR IR SR E (B
RTORIRFEZ RS - &R
FERE - R BRIERSE A 2 BH]
MEREFEZFB ) RAEER] B
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 39. MKEBEE®)
Liquidity risk (Continued) d) ARBELERE)
Total Within More than More than
contractual three months three months  one year but
Carrying undiscounted oron but less than less than
amount cash flow demand one year five years
HWINAEE  R=EAR  EB=EA ER—-F
BEE BeRE HEER BR-%FR BREER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT AT TAT TET AT
As at 31 December 2023 R-E-=%+-A
=t-H
Non-derivatives: FHTETA:
Trade and other payables B REMERTE 6,760 6,760 6,760 - -
Lease liabilities HEaR 2,349 2,505 272 878 1,355
9,109 9,265 7,032 878 1,355
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-Z5+=8
=t-H
Non-derivatives: FTETR:
Trade and other payables B REMERTE 9,980 9,980 9,980 - -
Lease liabilities MHEBE 1,846 1874 oY) 1,117 535
11,826 11,854 10,202 1,117 535
Fair values (e) ADFEE

(e)

The Directors consider the fair values of the Group’s

current financial assets and liabilities are not materially

different from their carrying amounts because of the

immediate or short-term maturity of these financial

instruments. The fair values of non-current financial

assets and liabilities were not disclosed because

these are not materially different from their carrying

amounts.

EERR ARAKERDHBE
ElBEBRHSNERRBIE
WRERBTAZ AFEEERLR
HELHEERNER - ARIERBY
BEENMBEZAVFEERARE
BEYEBEAEZR AT ERESR
FARF{EE -
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HE—

40.

Eo=Ff A=+ —HIUFE

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES

The Group's objectives when managing capital are:

o To safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it continues to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

o To support the Group's stability and growth; and

o To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the
Group's risk management capability.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future
capital requirements of the Group and capital efficiency,
prevailing and projected profitability, projected operating cash
flows, projected capital expenditures and projected strategic
investment opportunities. The Group has not adopted any
formal dividend policy.

Management regards total equity as capital, for capital
management purpose. The amount of capital as at 31
December 2023 amounted to approximately HK$114,305,000
(2022: HK$196,128,000), which management considers as
optimal having considered the projected capital expenditures
and the projected strategic investment opportunities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

1.

Subsequent to the reporting period but before the issue
of this financial report, the Company entered into the
sale and purchase agreements with an independent
third party to dispose (i) all the issued shares of Beyond
Noble Holdings Limited (“Beyond Noble”), which is
the legal and beneficial owner of 51% of the issued
shares of KK Wecheck, for the consideration of
HK$19,000; and (ii) all the issued shares of Smart Path
Enterprises Limited (“Smart Path”), which is the legal
and beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital
of Hopeful Top, for the consideration of HK$1. The
transaction was completed by December 2024. Upon
completion, the Group ceased to hold any interest in
Beyond Noble, KK Wecheck, Smart Path, and Hopeful
Top.

The disposal of Beyond Noble and Smart Path
have both completed on 30 December 2024. After
completions, the Company ceased to have any interest
in the Beyond Noble Group Companies and the
Smart Path Group Companies. The segment of sales
of medical and health products and IP development
design service were terminated.

During the year, the Group have acquired 45% interest
in an associate, namely Aurora Medical Technology
(HK) Corp. Limited (“Aurora”) for approximately
HK$16,000,000.

The Company disposed of its entire interests in
an investment of an associate company for the
consideration of HK$9,950,000. The transaction
was completed in May 2025. Upon completion, the
Company ceased to hold any interest in Aurora. The
Company have recorded loss on disposal of an associate
approximately HK$6,000,000.

41. 3;|E

1.
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41.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

3.

Litigation
HCA 281/2024

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries
commenced an action against a former Director and
his controlled company for damages and equitable
compensation arising out of, among others, the
said Director’s breach of fiduciary duties and/or
knowing receipt of benefits from such breaches.
The former Director and his controlled company had
filed a defence and counterclaim. The Company had
subsequently filed a reply and defence to counterclaim.
As pleadings have now closed, the case shall proceed
to the case management stage for further directions.
No hearing date has been fixed for the proceedings.

DCCJ 1940/2024

A former Director commenced an action against the
Company for alleged defamatory statements contained
in the Company’s announcements published in
compliance of the Listing Rules of Hong Kong. The
Company had filed a defence in response to contest
the former Director’s alleged defamatory claim. No
hearing date has been fixed for the proceedings.

For the above two litigation cases, concerning still in
the preliminary stage. The Board of the Group is of the
view that there is a credible legal basis to resolve the
claims.
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41. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

3.

Litigation (Continued)

HCA 241/2024

The Company commenced an action against another
company concerning a dispute arising out of a
subscription agreement. In the amended statement of
claim, the Company sought (i) a declaration that the
said subscription agreement was null and void and
of no legal effect, (ii) rescission of the subscription
agreement, and (iii) return of the consideration paid
for the subscription of shares in the defendant. The
defendant had filed a defence.

Upon the completion of the agreement of sales and
purchase for the shares in dispute, the Company has
disposed of the shares in dispute. Consequently, parties
signed a consent summons to discontinue the action
which the court had approved.

HCMP 1474/2024

The Company commenced taxation proceedings
against its former solicitors in relation to the invoices
for service rendered. The former solicitors have
provided further itemized breakdown regarding the
invoices and the Company is reviewing the same.

All of the relevant former solicitors fee has been
recognized in the financial statement.

On 30 September 2024, the Company disposed on
open market a total of 11,574,000 Kingkey Financial
Shares at an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$9.5 million (exclusive of transaction costs). The
average selling price (exclusive of transaction costs)
for the Disposal of each Kingkey Financial Share is
approximately HK$0.82. Immediately after the Disposal,
the Company ceased to hold any Kingkey Financial
Share.
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Financial Summary

MBEREE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = HA=+—HIFE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published
audited consolidated financial statements and restated in accordance
with HKFRSs 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued

Operations”, is set out below:

Financial year ended 31 December

BET-A=1T—HLHMEFE

AEEBEREAMRFEREZFEREERABZH
20T - o E B B 2 RERG A MIBHmE -
YWEREEFEEVHHRELENESRTAEFELZIHE
MBEENCRILEEEEIED

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-NEF —ECEF —E-—F —E-—F —EC-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FHT FHAT FET
RESULTS £
Revenue from REFELEEK
continuing Al &
operations 53,193 20,051 34,893 54,154 36,332
Revenue from KEERLEEE
discontinued ES ol
operations 4,036 - - - -
57,229 20,051 34,893 54,154 36,332
Attributable to: AT AL -
Equity shareholders of XA BIHERS AL ER
the company (33,777) (22,562) (7,109) (8,850) (35,934)
Non-controlling interests FE#ZAERE RS (2,526) 203 64 178 (304)
Loss of the year AEEEE (36,303) (22,359) (7,045) (8,672) (36,238)




Financial Summary
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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As at 31 December
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HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAT FAT FAT FET
ASSETS AND EEHEE
LIABILITIES
Total assets mEE 196,705 160,731 196,363 209,528 124,298
Total liabilities BaE (23,351) (23,623) (19,315) (13,400) (9,993)
Total equity =B 173,354 137,108 177,048 196,128 114,305




Corporate Information
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Director

Ms. Yiu Sze Wai (appointed on 4 October 2023)

Mr. Chen Jiajun (Chairman) (appointed on 1 September 2023 and
resigned on 20 May 2024)

Mr. Tsang Hing Bun (resigned on 25 September 2023)

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Chung Anita Mei Yiu (appointed on 8 July 2024)

Ms. Sun Jing (appointed on 8 July 2024)

Mr. Ng Wai Hung (appointed on 24 September 2023 and
resigned on 8 July 2024)

Mr. Ma Fei (appointed on 24 September 2023 and
resigned on 8 July 2024)

Mr. Yiu Yu Cheung (resigned on 22 September 2023)

Mr. Shiu Shu Ming (appointed on 6 January 2023 and
resigned on 24 September 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Tang Po Lam Paulia

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung, Alex

Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen (appointed on 8 April 2024 and
resigned on 25 October 2024)

Mr. Li Chaobo (appointed on 8 April 2024)

Ms. Yang Wanning (appointed on 30 August 2024)

Mr. Chai Chung Wai (appointed on 24 September 2023 and
resigned on 30 August 2024)

Mr. William Keith Jacobsen (resigned on 1 September 2023)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ho Pui Ling Elaine (appointed on 1 August 2024)

Mr. Chan Chun Kau (appointed on 25 September 2023 and
resigned on 1 August 2024)

Mr. Tsang Hing Bun (resigned on 25 September 2023)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Yiu Sze Wai

Ms. Ho Pui Ling Elaine (appointed on 1 August 2024)

Mr. Chan Chun Kau (appointed on 25 September 2023 and
resigned on 1 August 2024)

Mr. Tsang Hing Bun (resigned on 25 September 2023)
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Yang Wanning (Chairlady)
(appointed on 30 August 2024)

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung, Alex

Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen (appointed on 8 April 2024 and
resigned on 25 October 2024)

Mr. Li Chaobo (appointed on 8 April 2024)

Mr. Chai Chung Wai (resigned on 30 August 2024)

Mr. Yiu Yu Cheung (resigned on 22 September 2023)

Mr. William Keith Jacobsen (resigned on 1 September 2023)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Ms. Yang Wanning (Chairladly)
(appointed on 30 August 2024)
Ms. Chung Anita Mei Yiu (appointed on 8 July 2024)
Ms. Tang Po Lam Paulia
Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen (appointed on 8 April 2024 and
resigned on 25 October 2024)
Mr. Li Chaobo (appointed on 8 April 2024)
Mr. Ng Wai Hung (resigned on 8 July 2024)
Mr. Chai Chung Wai (resigned on 30 August 2024)
Mr. Yiu Yu Cheung (resigned on 22 September 2023)
Mr. William Keith Jacobsen (resigned on 1 September 2023)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Li Chao Bo (Chairman) (appointed on 8 April 2024)

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung, Alex

Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen (appointed on 8 April 2024 and
resigned on 25 October 2024)

Ms. Yang Wanning (appointed on 30 August 2024)

Mr. Chen Jiajun (Chairman) (resigned on 20 May 2024)

Mr. Chai Chung Wai (resigned on 30 August 2024)

Mr. Yiu Yu Cheung (resigned on 22 September 2023)

Mr. William Keith Jacobsen (resigned on 1 September 2023)

WEBSITE

www.allegroculture.com.hk

AUDITOR

Confucius International CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with
the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

Room 1501-8, Tai Yau Building

181 Johnston Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
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LEGAL ADVISER

CLKW Lawyers LLP

1901A, 1902 & 1902A, 19/F
New World Tower 1

16—18 Queen’s Road Central
Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKER

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
33/F, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road
Central, Hong Kong

SHARE REGISTRARS AND TRANSFER OFFICES

Principal registrar

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th Floor North, Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton, HM 12

Bermuda

Hong Kong branch registrar

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

Registered office

Clarendon House
2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Room 1506, 15/F, Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
550
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MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th Floor North, Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton, HM 12

Bermuda
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Clarendon House
2 Church Street
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ALLEGRO CULTURE LIMITED

EEXILBRAE]

Room 1506, 15th Floor, Wing On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong
ERETHEPI1HKL T L1588 1506F



	封面
	目錄
	董事會致辭
	管理層討論與分析
	董事及高級管理層履歷
	董事會報告
	企業管治報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	財務摘要
	公司資料
	封底

